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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Good morning. My

          3  name is Lew Fidler, I am the Chairman of the Youth

          4  Services Committee of the City Council. Today's

          5  hearing is regarding legislation that would mandate

          6  the use of wooden bats or eliminate the use of

          7  aluminum bats in high school competitive athletics

          8  in the City of New York.

          9                 I want to introduce the members of

         10  the Council that are here. Seated to my immediate

         11  right is Councilman Jimmy Oddo of Staten Island, the

         12  lead sponsor of this legislation.

         13                 Farther up to the right, we have

         14  Council Member Melissa Mark-Viverito, and

         15  Councilwoman Sara Gonzalez.

         16                 I want to introduce today's gavel.

         17  This is a wooden bat that was used in a minor league

         18  baseball game for the Binghamton Mets. Baseball

         19  played the way it's supposed to be, with a wooden

         20  bat. That is, however, not what this hearing is

         21  about. Not my view that baseball ought to be played

         22  as it was invented.

         23                 Councilman Oddo has used an

         24  expression I'm sure you'll hear again later today

         25  that aluminum bats are baseball bats on steroids.
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          2  This hearing is about protecting young people.

          3  Protecting kids who play competitive athletics in

          4  the City of New York. That's what this hearing is

          5  about.

          6                 There is no question in my mind that

          7  the ball travels faster and farther when it is hit

          8  with an aluminum bat.

          9                 You're going to hear science on this

         10  subject that is going to dispute that, and quite

         11  frankly, in our view, that science is both fuzzy and

         12  flawed. It is intrinsically logical that when a ball

         13  is flung faster, and a bat is swung harder, that the

         14  ball goes faster and farther.

         15                 I don't need a degree in physics to

         16  know that.

         17                 I've played ball, as hard as that is

         18  to believe. Look at me today. My kids have both

         19  played ball. It is something that you just have to

         20  know if you see. The witness panel that is going to

         21  testify first from the PSAL made a comment to us

         22  last week that one of the reasons that they are not

         23  in favor of limiting aluminum bats is that there is

         24  more offense in a baseball game with aluminum bats

         25  that there are more hits and more runs, and you
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          2  can't have it both ways, folks. The reason there are

          3  more hits and more runs is because the ball is being

          4  hit faster and farther, and so you can't tell me

          5  that there is no difference between a ball being hit

          6  from an aluminum bat and a ball being hit with a

          7  wooden bat.

          8                 We're going to talk about BESR

          9  standards and whether or not that's a viable

         10  standard for distinguishing between wood and

         11  aluminum bats. But make no mistake, what we are

         12  doing today is limiting risk.

         13                 We're going to hear some very, very

         14  dramatic testimony from families of young people who

         15  have been injured by balls batted with aluminum

         16  bats.

         17                 We can never, ever eliminate all risk

         18  from a competitive athletics. But what we can do is

         19  limit unreasonable risks, unnecessary risks, and

         20  when we get to the level of young people in the City

         21  of New York who have reached an age and a physical

         22  maturity and a talent level where they can play for

         23  their high school baseball team, you know that the

         24  ball is going faster, and it's going to be thrown

         25  harder, the bat is being swung more quickly, the
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          2  ball is being struck with greater force to create an

          3  unreasonable risk.

          4                 Before we hear from our first panel

          5  of witnesses, I'm going to call upon Council Member

          6  Oddo, who is the prime sponsor of this bill, and I

          7  am proud to be a co-sponsor of, for a few opening

          8  remarks.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Emphasis on the

         10  word "few."

         11                 Let me just say for the record, this

         12  is the first time that Council Member Viverito has

         13  ever been to the right of me on anything.

         14                 Mr. Chairman, let me thank you for

         15  having this hearing, and let me thank you for being

         16  the co-lead sponsor on this bill.

         17                 At our hearing four years ago, a very

         18  memorable hearing, you were not supportive of the

         19  legislation with is broader than the bill today. The

         20  bill is more narrowly tailored and your support is

         21  telling. And I hope all of the colleagues on the

         22  Committee and in the Council realize that, and I

         23  think they will and respect it.

         24                 I ask you to bear with me my

         25  indulgence as I share with you things that I've been
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          2  working on a long time in putting together, and I'll

          3  try to do it as quickly as possible but it comes

          4  from the heart.

          5                 So, in his critically acclaimed

          6  biography of Babe Ruth entitled The Big Bam, author

          7  Lee Montvale writes about the Babe's own bad

          8  controversy of 1923 when the Babe's bat was ruled

          9  illegal.

         10                 It seems that retired Tigers'

         11  outfield "Oahu" Sam Crawford convinced the slumping

         12  Babe to try a new bat called "The Betsy Bingle,"

         13  which was constructed of four pieces of lumber glued

         14  together, instead of turned from one piece of wood.

         15                 The effect was supposed to make the

         16  bat stronger on all sides, and Montville writes that

         17  the hitter "no longer had to position the bat a

         18  certain way to take advantage of the strongest grain

         19  in the wood.

         20                 On August 11th, 1923, Dan Johnson,

         21  the American League President, declared the bat

         22  illegal. Eight days later the League offered an

         23  explanation for the ban. The problem with the bat

         24  was no the four pieces of wood but the glue. The

         25  glue increased the velocity of the ball off the bat.
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          2                 Today's bat controversy is not folksy

          3  as the old Ruth tale. In fact, it is rather bleak in

          4  comparison. Today's controversy has to do with bats

          5  being made of advanced technology. High tech arrow

          6  space allies, that I, Chairman Fidler, and many

          7  others, strongly maintain are unnecessarily putting

          8  players in harm's way and vulnerable to being hit by

          9  batted ball.

         10                 Today's controversy has to do with

         11  injuries, and on occasion, even death. We will be

         12  hearing from families of players who have been

         13  injured on baseball fields after being struck with

         14  balls off these metal bats.

         15                 In fact, we will hear from the family

         16  at Brandon Patch, an 18-year-old pitcher from

         17  Montana who on July 25th, 2003, while playing a game

         18  he loved was tragically struck and killed on a

         19  pitcher's mound by a ball off a metal bat.

         20                 And, oh, yes, this controversy has to

         21  do with money. Making high-tech alloy bats is now a

         22  nearly $200 million industry, maybe more.

         23                 I'm sure it seems odd to the

         24  uninitiated that in municipal government, this City

         25  Council might involve itself in, of all things, the
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          2  regulation of the type of bats our youngsters are

          3  using.

          4                 Perhaps even more ironic to some is

          5  that I, as the Republican leader, would offer a bill

          6  and push it so doggedly. That may speak volumes in

          7  and of itself.

          8                 When I first started researching this

          9  issue five years ago, the last thing on my mind was

         10  enacting legislation. I called in players, coaches,

         11  lead presidents and representatives of governed

         12  bodies, including the PSAL, to my office to resolve

         13  this in-house, if you will.

         14                 But it became clear almost

         15  immediately that folks would not quote/unquote

         16  unilaterally disarm. The deeper I researched it, the

         17  more I saw for various reasons these entities

         18  charged with the responsibility of policing this

         19  issue and protecting young people from Little League

         20  to the NCAA, were in my opinion, failing to do all

         21  they could to protect these players.

         22                 Whether their motivation is fear or

         23  loss of participation of youngsters playing baseball

         24  or monetary incentives as a result of relationships

         25  with bat manufacturers having grown too closely,
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          2  dare I say incestuous, or for some other reason that

          3  still escapes me today, their inaction has resulted

          4  in this issue falling in our laps.

          5                 And make no mistakes, our actions

          6  will benefit the kids in five boroughs, but well

          7  beyond.

          8                 New York City is the first Domino in

          9  this battle, and when we enact this legislation a

         10  tidal wave will go across this country with cities

         11  and states following our lead.

         12                 That is why some of you have been

         13  lobbied so hard. That is why the metal bat industry

         14  has called upon those at the top of the City clerk's

         15  lobbying list even in this fight.

         16                 The old saying "follow the money"

         17  rings true throughout this issue, and I am

         18  personally, I am personally appealing to you, my

         19  colleagues, not to allow corporate money to flout

         20  safety yet again.

         21                 The industry will testify that there

         22  is no data that shows increased injuries, thus no

         23  need for the bill. Frankly, the truth is that there

         24  is no one single government entity that has

         25  effectively, exhaustively and accurately accumulated
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          2  data.

          3                 That is not to say injuries have not

          4  happened, and that is not to say that the processes

          5  in place to count injuries are accurate, and that is

          6  not to say that the claims from an overseeing

          7  agency, such as Williamsport Lily, for instance,

          8  that wrongly equates a decrease in secondary

          9  insurance claims as a decrease in injuries, that is

         10  not to say these claims are accurate.

         11                 The metal bat industry will also say

         12  that restrictions have been put in place to make

         13  these bats play like wood and hit the ball no faster

         14  or farther than wooden bats. They will attempt to

         15  impress you with acronyms like BESR and will detail

         16  for you the testing that they allege serves to

         17  protect our youngsters.

         18                 The reality is that many believe this

         19  testing and protocol is flawed, is done in a realm

         20  that is manipulated, compromised and corrupted. The

         21  tests done are not apples to apples tests and simply

         22  do not compare metal bats and wooden bats of

         23  identical length, weight, center of gravity, moment

         24  of inertia.

         25                 Testing has been undertaken using
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          2  metal bats and wood bats that have identical equal

          3  properties and it shows balls come off these bats

          4  anywhere from five to ten miles per hour faster.

          5                 The vaunted BESR has been called

          6  quote/unquote dimension list, by Dr. Jim Sherwood,

          7  who frankly, has been all over the lot on this

          8  issue. The quote/unquote independent researcher from

          9  the University in Massachusetts, Lowell, who tested

         10  bats for the NCAA and the industry.

         11                 In fact, we will put into the record

         12  documents indicating how in a deposition Dr.

         13  Sherwood asserted that the BESR was adopted to

         14  benefit the aluminum bat manufacturers and had the

         15  political advantage of not identifying a mile per

         16  hour speed limit criteria.

         17                 We will place into the record various

         18  depositions, and exhibits, court exhibits, e-mails

         19  that elaborate on Dr. Sherwood's concerns about the

         20  validity and work of these protocols.

         21                 Moreover, because of litigation on

         22  this flawed testing, actual testing has been

         23  suspended and for awhile the industry was allowed to

         24  certify their own bats. We've heard this before on

         25  the City Council. It's called self-certification,
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          2  and we all know how horrendously that is played out

          3  now in the City.

          4                 This Council wants real testing,

          5  accurate testing, truly independent testing, testing

          6  done without the influence of the industry, with the

          7  protocol completely free from the influence

          8  indirectly or overtly by the industry where the

          9  standard of a wood bat that is 34 inches and 32

         10  ounces with a center of gravity of 10.2 or 10.6 is

         11  tested against a metal bat of identical property.

         12                 The industry's claims, very

         13  effectively presented by the likes of Mr. Ettinger

         14  and others, fly in the face of common sense, common

         15  experience, and every day knowledge of coaches,

         16  plays and people who have been around the game of

         17  baseball.

         18                 People with no dog in this fight,

         19  with no affiliation with the metal bat

         20  manufacturers, people who simply love and know the

         21  game. There is a rational basis for this bill and

         22  it's best articulated by those independent baseball

         23  folks who will tell you today about high-tech metal

         24  bats.

         25                 We will hear from the Department of
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          2  Education, and they may talk about cost and cost

          3  effectiveness. And that was certainly true in the

          4  1970s, and, in fact, was the original rationale from

          5  moving from wood to aluminum. But with today's metal

          6  bats being built for performance, the thinnest Alloy

          7  outershell plays will tell you that they're not

          8  terribly durable and with exorbitant prices of up to

          9  $300, I'm not sure if that argument rings true.

         10                 But for those of my colleagues who

         11  have concerns that prohibiting the use of metal bats

         12  will have some sort of fiscal ramifications for

         13  schools and fear that some baseball programs might

         14  not be able to absorb this alleged increase in cost,

         15  I have good news.

         16                 I have spoken with the New York

         17  Yankee Organization and explained this issue to them

         18  and have been given strong assurances that they will

         19  sit with Chairman Fidler, with Speaker Quinn and I

         20  and craft a public/private partnership to ensure

         21  everyone wanting to play baseball plays baseball in

         22  New York City.

         23                 I say as a lifelong Mets fan who

         24  still has a broken heart, I am particularly grateful

         25  to Lonn Trose (phonetic), the Chief Operating
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          2  Officer of the New York Yankees, for demonstrating

          3  yet again why they are a first class operation.

          4                 Thank you, Lonn.

          5                 And I would hope and expect that Mr.

          6  Wilpond, Jeff and Fred, are listening and they will

          7  offer the same assistance.

          8                 I know I'm going on long. Just a few

          9  more points.

         10                 For my colleagues who are not as well

         11  versed in this issue. Let me take a step back. What

         12  we're talking about is fractions of a second. We're

         13  talking about how quickly a young man can raise his

         14  glove to catch or stop a line drive from hitting

         15  them. Fractions of a second. They can be the

         16  difference between letting the glove up a knot, and

         17  that is the difference between serious injury and

         18  death, or coming back and playing this game the next

         19  day.

         20                 You're not talking about the need for

         21  a large increase in mile per hour of the balls off

         22  aluminum bats.

         23                 The United States Consumer Product

         24  Safety Commission, in an early draft report, didn't

         25  make it to the light of day, but an early draft

                                                            17

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  report that was confidential at the time that we

          3  would be putting into the record, talks about this

          4  kinetic energy theory.

          5                 Basically what it says is E still

          6  equals MC squared. And it says that "since the

          7  kinetic energy of the ball is proportional to the

          8  square of the ball's velocity, modest increases in

          9  velocity may result in dramatic increases in the

         10  severity of injury.

         11                 I ask you, my colleagues, go to the

         12  bat manufacturer's own websites. Don't listen to my

         13  language, listen to their own. Patton did connection

         14  technology acting like a hinge. "The connection

         15  provides the most efficient energy transfer from

         16  hand to barrel, resulting in maximum bat head whip."

         17                 How about CNT? Carbon Nanotube.

         18   "Enhance all composite design to allow for bigger

         19  sweets box and maximum performance."

         20                 How about this one, from our friends

         21  at Louisville Slugger. "ST Plus 20 Alloy. From

         22  Aerospace Industry to home plate. The powerful new

         23  ST 20, the latest in the ever evolving line of

         24  exclusive Alloys."

         25                 The industry will argue that
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          2  performance is solely about durability and

          3  forgiveness putting more balls in play. But my

          4  colleagues, do you believe that all of this

          5  technology doesn't add up to additional bat speed

          6  and thus faster ball speed back at the pitcher? Do

          7  you think this technology doesn't rob pitchers of

          8  those fractions of a second they need to protect

          9  themselves? Yes, there have been people injured off

         10  the bats of wooden bats. Yes, there is risk in all

         11  sports, but we should not accept an increased risk

         12  above that inherent in the sport.

         13                 Last week at a hearing held by the

         14  New Jersey State Assembly, I sat next to the parents

         15  of young Stephen Domelski, the 12-year-old boy from

         16  New Jersey who was hit in the chest by a ball off a

         17  metal bat while pitching in a game and remains

         18  fighting for his life today.

         19                 As Mr. Domelski testified at the

         20  witness table, Mrs. Domelski sat next to me shaking

         21  and on the verge of breaking down. It was a chilling

         22  moment for me. We have not had a young man die in

         23  New York City yet. But why is it that there always

         24  has to be a victim just before we act?

         25                 Why is it that we never take the
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          2  necessary steps to prevent a tragedy? Meagan's Law,

          3  Jenna's Law, Kendra's Law, Vishon's Law, Lewis's

          4  Law, Christopher's Law, I can go on all day. We have

          5  a victim, we enact legislation, name it in that

          6  victim's memory, and we think that we've done our

          7  jobs.

          8                 The industry asserts one thing,

          9  others dispute that and raise concerns. In this

         10  vacuum of truly independent and objective

         11  third-party analysis, in these muddied waters of

         12  reasonable doubt, this Council will choose to err on

         13  the side of young people playing the wonderful game

         14  of baseball and that means banning the use of metal

         15  bats until there is a definitive demonstration of

         16  their safety.

         17                 A half hour ago, when I started this

         18  opening statement, I mentioned "Oahu" Sam Crawford,

         19  the inventor of Betsy Bingle. Well, it turns out

         20  that he was trying to market and sell the bat. His

         21  asking price, $8. Normal going rate for a bat back

         22  then, $2. So, maybe things haven't changed all that

         23  much.

         24                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you,
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          2  Council Member Oddo. You know, your statement

          3  exhibited a great degree of passion, and I would

          4  suggest to my colleagues that not only is that

          5  passion well placed, but just think of kids during

          6  this testimony. This is in fact while there is

          7  extraordinary logic and reason behind this position,

          8  that there's a certain amount of passion that you

          9  need to bring to this, because it does revolve

         10  around the safety of our children, something that

         11  this Council has always been passionate about.

         12                 We have been joined by a number of

         13  our colleagues. On my left, Council Member Simcha

         14  Felder. And we had Council Member Dennis Gallagher,

         15  who was wandering around behind me. Council Member

         16  Miguel Martinez, and to my right, Council Member

         17  Alan Gerson.

         18                 Our first panel of witnesses are all

         19  from the Department of Education, from the Public

         20  School Athletic League. We have Marty Oestreicher,

         21  David Douglas and Eric Goldstein.

         22                 Gentlemen, as I ask you to testify, I

         23  will make the comment I make to every witness who

         24  comes before this Committee: Please don't read

         25  testimony verbatim. Just speak to us as the high
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          2  points and from your heart and mind.

          3                 Gentlemen.

          4                 MR. OESTREICHER: I will read a little

          5  bit and I will try to ad lib.

          6                 I just want to thank you, Chairperson

          7  Fidler, and the members of the Youth Service

          8  Committee for giving me the opportunity to talk to

          9  you regarding use of wooden aluminum bats.

         10                 I'm Marty Oestreicher. I'm Chief

         11  Executive for the Office of School Support Services,

         12  which oversees the PSAL.

         13                 I just want to say at the outset of

         14  the hearing, Council Member Oddo's strong passionate

         15  opening statement, that we feel that the PSAL second

         16  to none in our priorities, which is the safety of

         17  our kids. For those who don't know, the PSAL is

         18  committed to playing over 12,000 games and matches

         19  under the safest possible conditions. I have to say

         20  our safety record is second to none, and will bow

         21  down to no one on that particular issue.

         22                 I'm extremely proud of our record in

         23  this regard, and we believe we have procedures in

         24  place to protect our student athletes to the

         25  greatest extent possible.
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          2                 We have a vibrant league, the largest

          3  in the nation. Thirty-five thousand students from

          4  180 high schools, 2,400 teams competing in 44

          5  sports, that's boys and girls sports.

          6                 We play more games in major league

          7  baseball than the NFL, the NBA combined. And I think

          8  if you check our safety record, you'll see it's

          9  quite good.

         10                 However, we do share the sentiments

         11  of the bill's sponsors. Safety for us is number one.

         12  And our baseball league does use aluminum bats, and

         13  we've been using them for quite awhile. And at this

         14  point our safety record in baseball is amazingly

         15  low. We have very, very few baseball injuries of any

         16  kind or by bats. I hear what the Council Member

         17  said, why wait for the first incident to happen. But

         18  basically we have an excellent safety record. There

         19  has been very few baseball injuries, when you think

         20  about the number of kids who play and the very low

         21  number of injuries and low number of injuries from

         22  batted balls. Nothing close to what you described

         23  before.

         24                 We don't operate independently. We

         25  operate under rules of the National Federation of
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          2  the State High School Associations, and under the

          3  rules of the New York State Association, which is

          4  part of that.

          5                 And we do rely on them for their

          6  guidance on these type of issues. We work closely

          7  with them. We have sought their advice on the issue.

          8  And it is the federation's opinion that aluminum

          9  bats do not represent a significantly greater risk

         10  than wooden bats.

         11                 And in our research across the

         12  country, very, very few, with very few exceptions,

         13  aluminum bats are used by high schools and by

         14  colleges.

         15                 So, you know, the federation in the

         16  country, and in State federation, they tell us

         17  they've reviewed this very carefully. They have

         18  established a ball exit speed ratio, which you've

         19  questioned before, but based on their assurances and

         20  their studies, we have continued to use the aluminum

         21  bats.

         22                 The State High School, New York State

         23  Public High School Association conducted a survey in

         24  2004 and '05, and they also reported that the

         25  injuries, and they questioned coaches throughout the
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          2  State, were very insignificant. Too insignificant to

          3  push any sort of a policy change.

          4                 However, you know, it is true that

          5  aluminum bats provide better offense for players at

          6  the marginal levels and the good players because

          7  their ability to perhaps swing, get around the ball

          8  a little better, and get a better hit. But, again,

          9  based on what we have learned from the federations

         10  and so forth, the overall speeds are not at any

         11  level that present a greater danger than wooden

         12  bats.

         13                 Now, the Council Member said those

         14  studies are flawed, and influenced by other players,

         15  and he calls for an exhaustive study totally neutral

         16  and objective, and we will certainly welcome that

         17  kind of study, if there is any study or

         18  incontrovertible evidence that would point to a

         19  danger, a significant danger to our kids, we will be

         20  the first to work with the Council towards that.

         21                 But we are relying somewhat on the

         22  studies from the federations. We work with

         23  federations, the National Federation, as far as we

         24  know, these -- our organizations is dedicated to our

         25  kids and students and anyone else and concerned with
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          2  their safety as well. And based on their guidance,

          3  we have not moved to eliminate the wooden bat.

          4  They've told us over and over again that they do not

          5  believe this represents a significantly greater

          6  threat to our kids.

          7                 Once again, studies show otherwise,

          8  you know, we will take those studies very seriously

          9  and we will act accordingly.

         10                 We believe that, you know, we have a

         11  very vibrant baseball league. We have a lot of

         12  participation from a lot of kids, some of our kids

         13  go to college based on their abilities in baseball,

         14  and we believe that it provides the right

         15  competitive balance. They get a lot of kids playing.

         16  I'm not just talking about star kids, I'm talking

         17  about kids who want to play baseball and can play

         18  baseball.

         19                 And for that reason, we do oppose

         20  this bill.

         21                 But, again, I would just say, as you

         22  advised, I'm not reading from my testimony. I'm

         23  telling it as it is, based on what they tell me. We

         24  share your concerns regarding safety, and our

         25  concerns are second to none. Our record speaks for
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          2  that. It speaks for itself, in all our sports. But,

          3  you know, we welcome the evidence that you have and

          4  that you're willing to show, and we're open on it.

          5  But right now, based on the experts that we rely on,

          6  the federations we play under, we don't see any

          7  basis to ban aluminum bats.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you.

          9                 Do either of your co-panelists want

         10  to add to that?

         11                 MR. OESTREICHER: I don't think so,

         12  no.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: No? All right. I

         14  have a few questions. I'm sure Council Member Oddo

         15  and maybe some of the other members of the Committee

         16  do as well.

         17                 First of all, just a comment. You

         18  know, you said that there are no significant

         19  additional injuries, and I think you were referring

         20  to frequency of the injuries. And, of course, that

         21  is a topic that is open to debate. The statistical

         22  compiling of injuries in this particular area was

         23  less than perfect, and certainly nationwide

         24  measuring injuries from wooden bats, versus aluminum

         25  bats, is something that we discovered in our last
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          2  hearing, was not done terribly well.

          3                 When I refer to significant injuries,

          4  and Councilman Oddo refers to significant injuries,

          5  we're talking about the single injury. The

          6  tremendous injury that occurs to a single young

          7  person, which is we will hear today could be as bad

          8  as death, from incredibly increased speed of a ball

          9  traveling a short distance, and so that's what we're

         10  referring to when we talk about significant. At

         11  least that's what I'm referring to when we talk

         12  about significant.

         13                 I'd like to ask you, however, about

         14  the reasoning behind your supporting aluminum bats,

         15  acknowledging PSAL's concern for the safety of young

         16  people who play competitive athletics in New York

         17  City and acknowledging your excellent record in that

         18  regard. Because I would think that if there were a

         19  question, it would err on the side of safety, and

         20  that's certainly how I would look at it.

         21                 You mentioned that maybe the bat goes

         22  through the zone a little faster. Why is that?

         23                 MR. OESTREICHER: I can't explain to

         24  you the physics of it. Maybe it's a lighter feel for

         25  the batters, it allows them to get around on it.
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          2                 There are controls, as you know,

          3  which you question whether they're worth anything,

          4  but there are controls in terms of the relationship

          5  between the length of a bat an the weight of a bat,

          6  which keep it from being exceptionally light for any

          7  player swinging the bat and keeping the ultimate

          8  speed of the ball from being at a dangerous level.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: But, Marty, if

         10  the bat is moving through the zone more quickly,

         11  what you're saying is it is being swung harder; is

         12  that not correct? It's moving faster.

         13                 MR. OESTREICHER: I would say he's

         14  getting around on the ball, as we say in baseball.

         15  He's getting around on the ball.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: You know, let's

         17  not parse our words so carefully. In plain English,

         18  if he's getting around on the ball faster, swinging

         19  the bat faster; is that not the same thing?

         20                 MR. OESTREICHER: I would guess so,

         21  yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: All right. And,

         23  you know, obviously we're not controlling how

         24  quickly the pitcher is throwing the ball. At the

         25  high school level, some of these kids throw how many
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          2  miles an hour? Do we have -- can you give me some

          3  notion of that?

          4                 MR. OESTREICHER: I really don't know.

          5  There are some good pitchers who throw with some

          6  speed, but I can't tell you, we don't measure speed.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Some of our kids

          8  get drafted by major league baseball teams, they're

          9  that good, right?

         10                 MR. OESTREICHER: A few do.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Right. So, some

         12  of them are throwing at near professional speeds.

         13                 MR. OESTREICHER: Again, I don't know.

         14  I don't think we're talking about kids throwing at

         15  90 miles an hour.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: No. But I mean,

         17  how about 80?

         18                 MR. OESTREICHER: Don't know.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: All right. Well,

         20  I would submit to you, I can tell you that my son

         21  Harry went to one of the Met games and they have

         22  this radar gun, and Harry is a good athlete, but he

         23  doesn't play for his high school baseball team, and

         24  the radar gun clocked him at 63, all right? And, you

         25  know, even on his Little League Team, that didn't
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          2  make him the starting pitcher on the team.

          3                 So, I think that a competitive PSAL

          4  pitcher is throwing significantly over the 60 mile

          5  per hour range. So, obviously, you're saying you

          6  don't know. I think that's pretty clear.

          7                 The kids who have made their baseball

          8  team are throwing the ball in the eighties at the

          9  very, very least.

         10                 You're telling me that the back speed

         11  coming through the zone is faster. That's why you're

         12  in favor of using these bats. Is it then logical

         13  that if the ball is being thrown fast and if the bat

         14  is going through the zone faster, forgetting even

         15  for one moment the issue of whether or not an

         16  aluminum bat has a trampoline effect that a wooden

         17  bat does not have, forgetting that, isn't it logical

         18  that the ball is leaving the bat faster?

         19                 MR. OESTREICHER: Yes, the ball will

         20  leave the bat faster for many, many kids. It doesn't

         21  mean that that speed which is leaving represents any

         22  of the great danger.

         23                 It really presents an opportunity for

         24  many of the kids who might be on the marginal level

         25  who would not be able to get any hits with a wooden
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          2  bat, to get better chance of getting better hits,

          3  doesn't mean that the balls coming off there are at

          4  the blazing speed that presents a danger to live,

          5  because it just gives them the opportunity to get a

          6  little faster swing you would normally get with a

          7  wooden bat.

          8                 Most of our kids are not at the level

          9  where you are talking about major league level.

         10  We're talking about kids who just want to play

         11  baseball, marginal level, probably many cases not

         12  take it further. Some might develop and get into

         13  college because of their baseball scores. But we're

         14  not talking in the overall majority of kids hitting

         15  the ball at the type of speed.

         16                 Yes, they'll have a better chance to

         17  get a hit. The ball will be hit a little harder than

         18  they would the wooden bat. It doesn't necessarily

         19  mean that that ball is traveling at a speed that's

         20  going to kill somebody.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Marty, in all

         22  fairness, I think you made the case for the bill

         23  simply by telling us what we all know. What we all

         24  know and don't need to study to prove, which is the

         25  ball is coming off the bat faster. And the question
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          2  here, as Councilman Oddo said in his opening

          3  statement, is a matter of fractions of seconds could

          4  be the difference between a kid getting hit in the

          5  head with a line drive and being able to get his

          6  glove up to stop up that line drive from hitting

          7  that kid in the head.

          8                 It is fractions of seconds. It just

          9  takes one. It just takes one.

         10                 All right. I'm just going to ask you

         11  a couple of questions on a slightly different part

         12  of this topic because I think we're obviously not

         13  going to convince each other here that I'm right or

         14  you're right.

         15                 How many -- could you tell us what

         16  the cost for the higher PSAL per year for the

         17  acquisition of bats?

         18                 MR. OESTREICHER: For the acquisition,

         19  the numbers I had worked out is what it would take

         20  to replace the current aluminum bats with wooden

         21  bats, normal maple bats. And the one-time cost I

         22  believe would be about $250,000, $253,000. Totally

         23  clean out aluminum bats and put in the maple bats.

         24  And then it would be an ongoing replacement cost of

         25  about $67,000. Annual cost.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Can you just give

          3  us a little bit of the math on that?

          4                 MR. OESTREICHER: Well, we've got

          5  about 169 teams, right? A hundred and twenty varsity

          6  teams, 49 junior varsity teams. That's 169 teams.

          7                 If you had wooden bats for that team,

          8  you would need about 30 wooden bats for every team.

          9  Okay, the cost of the wooden bat we're using is

         10  about $50, okay? So, your annual replacement cost

         11  will be about $750 per team. The start-up cost would

         12  be at $1,500 per team. There's 169 teams, and

         13  there's where you would get your $253,000.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: And the cost of

         15  supplying those teams with aluminum bats is what per

         16  year? Was it about $40,000 when we last spoke?

         17                 MR. OESTREICHER: It's about $67,000.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: For providing

         19  them with aluminum bats.

         20                 MR. OESTREICHER: About using two a

         21  year per team.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: So, once we clean

         23  out the aluminum bats and replace them with wooden

         24  bats, that one-time cost, you're testifying that the

         25  cost of supplying them annually with wooden bats is
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          2  the same as the cost as applying them with annually

          3  with aluminum bats. That 67,000 figure, or did I

          4  misunderstand you?

          5                 MR. OESTREICHER: No, that's a

          6  one-time cost. Now, annually you are figuring that

          7  they have to replace about half, the wooden bats you

          8  would have to replace about half every year, because

          9  breakage and so forth. So, you have to replace about

         10  16 of those 30 bats.

         11                 But we netted out the cost of the

         12  aluminum bats that the school is already paying for.

         13  So the replacement bats, minus what the aluminum

         14  bats are already paying for --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I see you already

         16  factored that in.

         17                 How often do you replace the aluminum

         18  bats?

         19                 MR. OESTREICHER: We figure two bats

         20  per year per team obviously.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: And what is the

         22  cost of an aluminum bat average?

         23                 MR. OESTREICHER: About 175.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: So, it's at least

         25  triple the cost of one wooden bat.
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          2                 MR. OESTREICHER: Well, it's no

          3  question bat per bat, the aluminum bat is more

          4  expensive.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Not that I look

          6  cavalierly at any taxpayer's dollar, but in terms of

          7  the DOE budget or the PSAL budget, this is not a

          8  back breaker.

          9                 MR. OESTREICHER: I want to be clear

         10  right now, we have never, and you alluded to the

         11  fact maybe 30 years ago, and that decision was made

         12  to go to aluminum bats was done for budget issues.

         13  The budget factor is not the cost factor we're

         14  using. If we're using a demonstrated safety risk,

         15  I'm not going to say the heck with it because it's

         16  going to cost a couple hundred thousand dollars.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: So, just to be

         18  absolutely clear, that what you just said is, if

         19  there is a demonstrable difference in safety to

         20  young people, money wouldn't matter to you.

         21                 MR. OESTREICHER: I would not rule in

         22  favor of something that is more dangerous --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: You would not

         24  jeopardize the safety of our kids for a couple of

         25  hundred thousand dollars. That's what you just said.
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          2  We agree on that, right?

          3                 MR. OESTREICHER: Absolutely.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Okay.

          5                 MR. OESTREICHER: We certainly would

          6  expect, and the thing goes forward, some help with

          7  the Council on the funding of this, but even if it

          8  didn't come through, I would not rule in favor of

          9  the dangerous way of playing for the sake of saving

         10  some money. We never --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I'm glad we agree

         12  on that completely. And as I've said to you, and

         13  said to others from the very beginning, the one

         14  thing I'm not willing to do is create an unfunded

         15  mandate, and I believe that if the Council is

         16  willing to pass this legislation, if we see the

         17  danger to our young people that we will put our

         18  money or the taxpayer's money where our mouth is,

         19  and make sure that we are not in fact passing an

         20  unfunded mandate along to you.

         21                 MR. OESTREICHER: I understand that,

         22  and I appreciate that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: All right.

         24                 Councilman Oddo.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you.
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          2                 Marty, let me just begin by saying

          3  thank you. Separate and apart from this issue, our

          4  offices deal with you on a regular basis for

          5  constituent needs and you've been very responsive.

          6                 So, please don't take our passion for

          7  this issue to mean that we're not appreciative of

          8  all of the things that we've done. And you've done a

          9  very good job, and I know certainly by my office.

         10                 MR. OESTREICHER: Thank you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I want you to

         12  be, Marty, your agency, the PSAL, New York City, I

         13  want you to be a leader. I don't want you to be a

         14  follower. Following the National High School

         15  Federation, New York City deserves better than that.

         16  I won't bore the Committee but I'll make part of the

         17  record assertions about the less than stellar record

         18  of the National High School Federation. They went to

         19  the bat manufacturers in '93 and were given

         20  assurances that they were going to exceed certain

         21  limits and they did, and they don't have the

         22  greatest record, and frankly, I don't trust, and a

         23  lot of people who know this issue even better than I

         24  do, really aren't confident in the National High

         25  School Federation. They have a relationship with the
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          2  NCAA and with the bat manufacturers that is

          3  incestuous. It's good, it's mutually beneficial for

          4  all of them. They have a lot of money that's made

          5  for some private sector entities, they get free

          6  equipment, et cetera, and the thing, the economic

          7  engine that fuels all that money is the sale of

          8  metal bats.

          9                 Don't let New York City follow the

         10  National High School Federation. They will

         11  disappoint you. They will disappoint our kids, okay?

         12  That's one.

         13                 Two is, this notion of injury. You

         14  see, this is the trap, and I can't escape it. I've

         15  fought long and hard about how to escape it. They

         16  point to the fact that there are no statistics about

         17  injuries.

         18                 And, you know, the reality is, as I

         19  said in my opening statement, there is no

         20  exhaustive, effective, conclusive study done by

         21  government to show that. But that doesn't mean

         22  injuries don't happen.

         23                 You don't know how many close calls

         24  happen at a field in Staten Island or a field in the

         25  Bronx. You don't know.
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          2                 MR. OESTREICHER: Close calls, no. We

          3  don't know who is injured. If they're not injured,

          4  we don't know.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: To this day,

          6  from the NCAA on down, there was no exhaustive

          7  comprehensive and completely accurate measurement of

          8  injuries. That's the truth.

          9                 As far as this cost issue is

         10  concerned -- now, first of all, we're going to put

         11  into the record, Mr. Chairman, if you don't mind,

         12  you know, the good folks at Pro Bats, at D Bat, at

         13  old Hickory Bats and some other wood bat companies,

         14  we've contacted them and they are anxious to get

         15  into this market. And I think that they would sit

         16  down with the PSAL and the Department of Education

         17  and work with you to bring down costs.

         18                 The other thing is, I don't want the

         19  folks watching this and the folks in the audience to

         20  believe that you supply all the bats used in our

         21  high schools. Because that's just not the case; am I

         22  correct?

         23                 MR. OESTREICHER: The PSAL gives every

         24  school an allocation for OTPS, Other Than Personal

         25  Services, for which they buy bats and other sports
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          2  equipment.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Right. So, of

          4  all that money that you said that's given to the

          5  schools to buy sports equipment, included in that is

          6  bats. But when little Jonny Smith goes up to play

          7  Tottenville versus Canarsie, he might be swinging a

          8  $300 Scandium SC 900, to give my friends at Easton a

          9  plug, a Scandium bat that you didn't provide to him,

         10  that mommy and daddy provided.

         11                 There are communities, my community

         12  in Staten Island and Brooklyn and many other

         13  communities, where the parents are the ones buying

         14  the bats for the kids, because some parents are

         15  living through their kids, some parents, they

         16  absolutely love their kids, they want them their

         17  best, he's got eye black, he's got elbow guard, he's

         18  got the best thing that Mr. Ettinger's friends can

         19  devise. That's the reality, you are not the sole

         20  provider of metal bats for the bats being used on

         21  the fields of New York City. That's the truth.

         22                 So, this notion that there's this

         23  unfunded mandate, and if we don't find the money no

         24  one is going to have a bat, that's not true.

         25                 Parents all across the City are
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          2  buying metal bats.

          3                 MR. OESTREICHER: Yes, but you don't

          4  know that for a fact across the City, and I don't

          5  know for a fact that that's not being done. That's

          6  not the policy we have, and we don't know for a fact

          7  that's being done across the City, and, in fact,

          8  that's not the way you want to rely on the League,

          9  though, that says parents provide the bats.

         10                 It's the reality in many places in

         11  this City, and for those communities, and for those

         12  baseball programs that will have a tough time that

         13  parents can't afford to buy bats, we have on the

         14  record and we're negotiating, New York Yankees have

         15  offered to come up and step up to the plate and

         16  help.

         17                 We will create a public/private

         18  partnership, and our friends at major league

         19  baseball to jump on board as well. And we will

         20  ensure that nobody who wants to play baseball goes

         21  without playing baseball.

         22                 MR. OESTREICHER: And that's fine and

         23  that's appreciated. And as I said to the Chairman,

         24  he asked a specific question about what the costs

         25  would be. I didn't raise it. I didn't put it in our
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          2  testimony as our key factor. It was a question that

          3  was raised and I answered the question.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Absolutely. And

          5  I just want to elaborate on the answer so there's a

          6  fuller understanding of what the reality is on

          7  ballfields, high school ballfields across the City.

          8                 There's one other point, Mr.

          9  Chairman, and then I'll be done.

         10                 Now, a conversation last week, in

         11  talking about the bill, you raised this notion about

         12  New York kids being at some sort of disadvantage.

         13  Maybe some of the more skilled kids in New York

         14  won't have scholarship opportunities, because

         15  instead of batting a 350, a 450, a 550, they might

         16  bat 250 or 350, which in my mind underscores the

         17  argument about how aluminum bats, you know,

         18  whatever.

         19                 I have, and I will put into the

         20  record, a letter from the Wagner baseball coach on

         21  Staten Island who says we do look at stats, I'm

         22  talking about recruiting, we do look at stats, but

         23  we have to take into consideration what level of

         24  baseball the student athlete is playing at.

         25                 A student athlete with great stats in
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          2  a lower conference may not be as good as a student

          3  athlete with less stats in a higher conference. That

          4  would be the same if the student athlete was using

          5  an aluminum bat or a wooden bat.

          6                 And also in the record, that was

          7  Joseph Latario (phonetic), who was the head baseball

          8  coach of Wagner College, and we'll make that part of

          9  the record.

         10                 Also, I want made part of the record

         11  is Joel Swanson who is at Oak Grove Lutheran School,

         12  out in North Dakota, where they banned metal bats.

         13  He said:  "I currently run a scouting database for

         14  the State of North Dakota. I've been in contact with

         15  126 coaches from seven midwestern schools. 125 of

         16  them have stated how happy they are with the

         17  decision to switch the wood. They have stated that

         18  it helps them to recruit quality players, as a 400

         19  hitter will be considered a legit hitter.

         20                 There are no unforeseen factors that

         21  are provided by aluminium bats, such as flares off

         22  handles that will taint statistics. Kids coming out

         23  of North Dakota will be looked at more legitimately

         24  as hitters, as their averages won't be tainted by

         25  handle shots in the bat flairs."
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          2                 So, your concern that we are somehow

          3  going to put kids at a disadvantage, that they will

          4  not be eligible for scholarships because their stats

          5  are going to be lower, is untrue.

          6                 Here is some real life proof that it

          7  is untrue. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you,

          9  Council member. And on the subject of the record,

         10  your written testimony I believe you submitted will

         11  become part of the record. I also want to make

         12  official note of the fact that this Committee held a

         13  hearing four years ago, it was a great deal of

         14  information, testimony, science was submitted, and I

         15  want to officially note that all of that is going to

         16  be incorporated into this record as well. The record

         17  of that hearing is part of the record of this

         18  hearing.

         19                 We've also been joined by

         20  Councilwoman Darlene Mealy, and I believe Council

         21  Member Felder had some questions.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

         23  much, and thank you for holding this hearing.

         24                 I'm not a member of the Youth

         25  Committee any more, but came in because I felt very
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          2  strongly about this issue.

          3                 I want to harp on one thing you had

          4  in your testimony that you've been asked about, but

          5  I don't understand yet.

          6                 On page three, you talk about the

          7  study that was done, and it says they found there

          8  were insignificant numbers of serious injuries far

          9  below the level they would consider necessary for

         10  making such a sweeping rule change. They found there

         11  were insignificant number of serious injuries; can

         12  you explain what that means?

         13                 MR. OESTREICHER: You're talking about

         14  the federations?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Yes.

         16                 MR. OESTREICHER: We looked at the

         17  injuries, and I would assume the type of injuries

         18  and the number of injuries found that there was no

         19  basis to ban aluminum bats based on that data.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Yes, but

         21  that's not what I asked you. And I'm being

         22  respectful as well. We dealt with your offices and I

         23  have the highest regard, but that doesn't mean I

         24  can't give you aggravation.

         25                 I want to know, when it says that
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          2  they found there were insignificant number of

          3  serious injuries, is that in comparison with

          4  injuries with wooden bats?

          5                 MR. OESTREICHER: I don't know. This

          6  is the report that they gave us, that their finding

          7  was --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Well, I have

          9  to interrupt you because I find this somewhat hard

         10  to believe.

         11                 It's your testimony, not mine. Now,

         12  when I don't know what I'm talking about, that's

         13  okay, but you're putting this in writing. For you to

         14  say I'm not sure about what it means is a little

         15  bizarre.

         16                 MR. OESTREICHER: It just says that

         17  there is an insignificant number of injuries in

         18  baseball across the country, in high school baseball

         19  across the country, that would merit a change to the

         20  policy and require them to ban aluminum bats.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: No --

         22                 MR. OESTREICHER: We have our own

         23  statistics as well, but we rely, you know, if we're

         24  not seeing something then we'll look to the National

         25  Federations to see if there's any danger that
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          2  they've seen. They monitor thousands of baseball

          3  leagues, and thousands of teams, and thousands of

          4  federations across the country, and their report to

          5  us said that there were not significant number of

          6  injuries that would generate, would generate a need

          7  to overturn the use of aluminum bats.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Do you

          9  understand what you just said? No, I'm serous. Do

         10  you understand what you just said?

         11                 MR. OESTREICHER: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So, can you

         13  explain to me a simple question. I want to know,

         14  when it says there were insignificant numbers of

         15  serious injuries far below the level they would

         16  consider, what is that in comparison to?

         17                 MR. OESTREICHER: I don't know if it's

         18  in comparison to any other study.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Then why don't

         20  you delete it from your testimony?

         21                 MR. OESTREICHER: Because it's a small

         22  number of injuries.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Okay.

         24                 MR. OESTREICHER: There's a very

         25  slight number of baseball injuries. Very, very light
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          2  number of injuries.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I don't

          4  understand --

          5                 MR. OESTREICHER: To make a drastic

          6  change like this there has got to be some basis for

          7  it.

          8                 We know in our own league that the

          9  number of baseball injuries are very, very, very

         10  slight.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I still have a

         12  lot of respect for you, but I don't understand what

         13  you're talking about. If there's even an

         14  insignificant number of injuries, unless you could

         15  tell me that the injuries are just as much as wooden

         16  bats, then I understand it. But if there are

         17  insignificant number of injuries with metal bats in

         18  comparison to the wooden ones, then we should ditch

         19  them. It doesn't make sense otherwise.

         20                 MR. OESTREICHER: If I take a look and

         21  I tell you in 2003's, last year we had 30 injuries

         22  in baseball, one of them involve a line drive that

         23  hit a pitcher and the pitcher needed to cover the

         24  stiches, okay?

         25                 And the Council member would say we
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          2  were lucky that year. But that's a real statistic,

          3  that doesn't show baseball is a dangerous sport to

          4  play for PSAL, the way we're playing it, all right?

          5  Those are the stats we have, and this does not

          6  indicate that baseball is a dangerous sport.

          7                 We have like 2,400 kids playing

          8  baseball, we had 30 injuries in the whole season,

          9  one of them serious.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: You still

         11  didn't answer my question, and I'm going to leave it

         12  at that. I'm not going to give you the opportunity

         13  to say it again. But I will say it one more time. I

         14  want to know what the numbers are comparing metal

         15  bats to wood bats, not how many injuries separately.

         16  Because that's doing an analysis without taking

         17  everything in consideration.

         18                 But you know what? The other piece

         19  that you talked about in the testimony about the

         20  syndrome, I'll call it the CHS, Can't Hit Syndrome,

         21  unfortunately children will be terribly affected

         22  that if they don't get hits, you know, somehow

         23  they're not going to be able to survive high school.

         24                 I played baseball. I was terrible,

         25  and maybe I'm proof that it's a problem. But I don't
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          2  understand it. I mean, you play baseball. You either

          3  get a hit, you don't get a hit, and that's okay. We

          4  always tell the kids that it's a game. There's some

          5  sort of whole thing going on here to make sure that

          6  kids get hits.

          7                 You know, it's like telling my

          8  five-year-old that her pictures are beautiful when

          9  they're disgusting. I don't understand it. What is

         10  this all about? Trying to improve the statistics for

         11  kids to play baseball by putting them in an

         12  insignificant danger. I don't understand it.

         13                 And, finally, I'm sorry for taking

         14  the time. Lastly, your decision is being made in a

         15  vacuum, because the baseball that takes place

         16  throughout the City, most of it, I shouldn't say

         17  most of it, I should say a lot of it has nothing to

         18  do with the leagues or the games that are being

         19  administered by the Department of Education. So, the

         20  games that are not in a controlled environment, that

         21  go on in Gravesend Park and Borough Park, with a

         22  metal bat, or an aluminum bat, when there's no one

         23  to see what's going on, let me tell you, you don't

         24  have statistics like that, and unless the Department

         25  of Education is willing to come up to the plate and
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          2  say we will not have this in the schools, and

          3  thereby it will filter down so that when games are

          4  played, you know, without any formal or controlled

          5  environment, and there the injuries are great. That

          6  I can tell you. That's why I am here today, because

          7  we have had injuries with metal bats, and that

          8  doesn't mean we've never had ones with wood bats,

          9  but it's been much more in recent years.

         10                 So, I'm just saying to you that your

         11  decision even based on that study, if you believe

         12  that study, is not fair to just take it in a vacuum,

         13  because I think that your decisions affect not only

         14  what you do, because if you willed, God-willing,

         15  change to the wood bats only, then it's more than

         16  likely that will filter down to the games that are

         17  being played outside the school environment.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you,

         19  Councilman. I just want to tell you that when I play

         20  little league ball, I couldn't hit a lick either,

         21  and I kept on coming back for more anyway too, so

         22  you're not alone.

         23                 But on a much more serious note, Mr.

         24  Oestreicher, you know, the word "significant

         25  injury," if it's my kid, that's a significant
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          2  injury, you know? And every one of us who has a kid

          3  feels the exact same way. We don't want to be the

          4  one. If there's only one, we don't want to be the

          5  one.

          6                 So, I would ask you, you know,

          7  because you just touted some stats from 2003, what

          8  is the injury-reporting mechanism for PSAL? How are

          9  those statistics kept? How are they monitored? Who

         10  reports them? How confident are you that you hear

         11  about every injury in every game?

         12                 MR. OESTREICHER: We work with our

         13  insurance policy, we have an insurance company that

         14  has a policy for secondary insurance -- and it's

         15  primary insurance for kids who don't have other

         16  insurance.

         17                 But there are procedures there.

         18  Injuries are to be reported. So, if there's serious

         19  injury, I can't see it not being reported to our

         20  insurance company. We takes lots of claims. I mean,

         21  you take a look at our record, there are hundreds

         22  and hundreds of claims that are made in lots of

         23  other sports, in all our sports. It's a significant

         24  number. It's not a very significant number in

         25  baseball.
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          2                 You're making the assertion that

          3  people are not reporting --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I'm not making

          5  that assertion at all. I was asking a question, and

          6  I guess what your answer is, is that the reporting

          7  mechanism is you're monitoring insurance claims; is

          8  that correct?

          9                 MR. OESTREICHER: That's correct.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: All right. That's

         11  one way of doing it. I'm sure that many other

         12  injuries, certainly not the kind that we're talking

         13  about here, but many other injuries are in fact a

         14  car that don't result in a claim to your insurer.

         15                 MR. OESTREICHER: That's possible. But

         16  the type of injury you're talking about would

         17  certainly be reported.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I agree. I'm not

         19  arguing with that.

         20                 Councilman Gerson.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         22  much, Mr. Chair.

         23                 I can't help but feel a bit

         24  conflicted on this issue with respect to this

         25  hearing so far. On the one hand my colleagues in

                                                            54

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  their passion and their logic make very compelling

          3  cases, and clearly when it comes to our young

          4  people, you should certainly without question err

          5  overwhemingly, not overwhelmingly, unequivocally on

          6  the side of caution and safety.

          7                 On the other hand, while I don't know

          8  from the National Sports Federation, and very

          9  familiar with the coaches, PSAL and the Phys.ed

         10  teachers of our high schools and middle schools and

         11  elementary schools, our little league coaches, and

         12  know of no group of people who are more concerned

         13  about the safety of young people and who put safety

         14  first unconditionally than that group of people.

         15                 And not only do I not hear a request

         16  or an outcry from that group of people for a change

         17  away from the use of aluminum bats, I actually hear

         18  the opposite, that they would prefer to maintain the

         19  aluminum bat. And again, coming from a group of

         20  people who in my mind without question put safety

         21  first.

         22                 So, let's see if we could sort out a

         23  little of my conflictedness, if you will. With

         24  respect to this issue, sorting out all of my

         25  conflictingness will take many, many more hearings
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          2  and more time.

          3                 But let me also just note, you know,

          4  I'm also aware of the fact it is common in sports

          5  for equipment to continually evolve, whether it is

          6  in tennis where there has been increases in the face

          7  of the racket, or other sports, other equipment,

          8  hockey, whatever, where equipment evolves to

          9  facilitate making the point of getting the hit,

         10  which is important, not only to the sport but to the

         11  participant, to the development of this, physical

         12  conditioning, as well as their self-esteem. So, we

         13  shouldn't give short shrift to that factor as well.

         14                 But let me ask you, Mr. Oestreicher,

         15  you mentioned in your testimony that the ball hit

         16  off of an aluminum bat does come back at a greater

         17  speed, all of the conditions being the same, than it

         18  would from a wooden bat, but you said in your

         19  testimony, if I heard you correctly, not at the

         20  blazing speed of danger. I think those are the words

         21  you used.

         22                 So, let me ask you, how would you

         23  define the blazing speed of danger? What speed would

         24  be too fast, in your opinion, or the opinion of any

         25  of your team here?
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          2                 MR. OESTREICHER: Well, I don't have

          3  speed in the specific miles per hour. I think the

          4  speed that was used by the federation, if I recall,

          5  it's about 97 miles an hour which was maximum speed,

          6  if you follow the BESR, the ratio between inches of

          7  a bat and the weight of a bat, which they said is in

          8  their studies, take that study as you will, their

          9  studies was equivalent to what the maximum speed of

         10  a wooden bat would generate.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, are you

         12  saying above 97 is too fast for a high school sports

         13  --

         14                 MR. OESTREICHER: I believe it's 97. I

         15  don't know --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: -- And below

         17  is acceptable?

         18                 MR. OESTREICHER: Yes. We're relying

         19  on those measures from the federations, the

         20  guidelines we got from the federations, and this is

         21  what they told us.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I'm not asking

         23  you now for measurements for what happens. I'm

         24  asking you for an analysis of what is safe.

         25  Ninety-seven is the benchmark.
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          2                 MR. OESTREICHER: I forgot the exact

          3  mileage. I thought I read that somewhere in the

          4  study. I don't know exactly what the mileage is. I

          5  could pull that out and get that to you. I thought I

          6  remember 97 as a number that they used.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Now, you also

          8  said in your testimony that you would welcome, you

          9  know, an independent study on this issue. Did I hear

         10  you correctly in saying that?

         11                 MR. OESTREICHER: Yes, I mean, we're

         12  relying on --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Should we --

         14  go ahead.

         15                 MR. OESTREICHER: No, go ahead.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I mean, should

         17  we, as the next step in this issue be in fact

         18  talking about over the next month, not a protracted

         19  period of time, but a reasonable period of time

         20  expeditiously, talking about the City of New York,

         21  your division, working with the Council to come up

         22  with a protocol for that type of test, to be done

         23  between now and next spring season? Is that

         24  something that is a reasonable approach to sorting

         25  out my conflictingness (sic) on this, if you will?

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2                 MR. OESTREICHER: That is a reasonable

          3  approach. Again, until now we've relied on studies

          4  conducted by the federation who make the rules that

          5  govern us. And if you believe that that is flawed, I

          6  think we certainly would work as Councilman Oddo or

          7  Chairman Fidler said. You know, if there has not

          8  been an objective study, and if there could be an

          9  objective study that would show.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well,

         11  scientifically, there is no reason why there could

         12  not be -- we could not do a study, is there?

         13                 MR. OESTREICHER: Oh, yes. I'm not

         14  going to claim to be an expert on the physics of it.

         15  I imagine you could do a study objectively. I

         16  thought these, I'm sure the federations will say

         17  their studies were objective, but perhaps Council

         18  members said to take it out of the hands of the

         19  various groups who have done the studies before and

         20  perhaps that's something we could do. That's

         21  certainly something that would be amenable.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Amenable even

         23  in terms of the budget for a study? I can't imagine

         24  it's going to be overly exorbitant.

         25                 MR. OESTREICHER: I can't speak for
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          2  that but I'm sure that could be worked out.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay, then let

          4  me just finally, in terms of the areas I want to

          5  inquire about now, not all aluminum bats are the

          6  same, I take it, you also testified, and are there

          7  regulations in place? Now, couldn't you review,

          8  actually, the regulations in place now for the

          9  requirements on aluminum bats to assure that the

         10  speed does not exceed the rate which you indicated

         11  it would be too much?

         12                 MR. OESTREICHER: There is regulation

         13  that was mentioned by Council Member Oddo before.

         14  The measurement, ratio between the inches, the

         15  length of the bat and the weight of the bat, that is

         16  the regulation that we follow. And that's the

         17  regulation that the federation developed.

         18                 So, if you have a 36-inch bat, it

         19  cannot weigh less than 33 ounces.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Now, are these

         21  regulations you're adopting straight from the

         22  National Sports Federation?

         23                 MR. OESTREICHER: We operate under

         24  their rules, and their guidelines.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, you just
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          2  adopted them. And the purpose of these are to assure

          3  that the speed does not exceed what they deem to be

          4  --

          5                 MR. OESTREICHER: This is a measure

          6  they took in reaction to some earlier studies --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But, again, if

          8  we did our own test, I think Councilman Oddo's point

          9  about New York City being a leader rather than a

         10  follower is well taken. If we did our own test,

         11  that's something we would look into.

         12                 MR. OESTREICHER: Absolutely.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And lastly,

         14  what about safety equipment. If there is this

         15  concern for an increase in the -- if there is an

         16  admission rather, if there is an increase in the

         17  speed coming off of an aluminum bat, and clearly

         18  there has got to be to some degree some greater

         19  danger with the increase, has there been

         20  consideration or evaluation at the high school

         21  level? And also, though it's not the subject of the

         22  bill, since they do use aluminum bats at the middle

         23  school level, or lower ages of implementing greater

         24  protective gear equipment, pitchers wearing helmets,

         25  or pitchers wearing chest guards, which I understand
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          2  are readily available; is that being considered?

          3  Should that be considered?

          4                 MR. OESTREICHER: I'm not aware that

          5  it has been considered.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well,

          7  certainly at the younger ages I think we should look

          8  into it.

          9                 MR. OESTREICHER: Well, I of course

         10  deal only with high school issues, as you know. I

         11  don't know if it would affect a pitcher's ability to

         12  pitch at his highest functioning.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I'm told by

         14  some coaches that it would not. That could be part

         15  of our study.

         16                 MR. OESTREICHER: Absolutely.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay, thank

         18  you very much, Mr. Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you,

         20  Council Member. We have four other Council members

         21  that wish to ask questions of this panel. I just

         22  want to remind them all that we have six more

         23  panels, including some people who have traveled from

         24  some very, very long distances to testify today.

         25                 Council Member Martinez.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

          3  Mr. Chair.

          4                 I also just want to, for my benefit,

          5  just try to understand your testimony in terms of

          6  the position of the Public School Athletic League,

          7  and first of all, you don't have what's an

          8  appropriate or safe speed of the ball coming off the

          9  bat? That hasn't been established from what I'm

         10  hearing?

         11                 MR. OESTREICHER: This ratio I just

         12  discussed was designed by the federation --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: I

         14  understand. I'm talking about you.

         15                 MR. OESTREICHER: We follow their

         16  rules, and so the speed, if those controls are

         17  effective in keeping the speed below a certain

         18  distance, that will apply to us. We don't measure

         19  the speed of the ball coming off the bat. We rely on

         20  their regulations and guidelines that control the

         21  speed, that are supposed to control the speed coming

         22  off the bat and reinforce those guidelines.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: So, as you

         24  mentioned in your testimony, you played more

         25  baseball than the major league played, in terms of
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          2  the games --

          3                 MR. OESTREICHER: I didn't say we

          4  played baseball, I said the PSAL. All sports

          5  considered, all games considered, we have more

          6  games, events than any other sports league put

          7  together, than three of the major leagues put

          8  together. That's how many events and games we play

          9  in all our sports.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Now, thank

         11  you for making that clarification. But you have not,

         12  as the body that regulate the sports within the

         13  public schools in the high schools, correct?

         14                 MR. OESTREICHER: Correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Have not

         16  taken upon yourself to measure the safety issue with

         17  these bats within the Department of Education?

         18                 MR. OESTREICHER: No.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: You rely on

         20  an outside source?

         21                 MR. OESTREICHER: Yes. We play, we're

         22  part of the federation.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Yes or no?

         24                 MR. OESTREICHER: That's my answer.

         25  I'm going to stay with that answer.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: You rely on

          3  an outside source? That you adopt all those --

          4                 MR. OESTREICHER: Right. We play under

          5  their rules.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Correct.

          7                 And mainly the issue here is safety,

          8  being addressed with the use of these bats. You're

          9  saying that there is also an opportunity, as Council

         10  Member mentioned earlier, you're also saying there

         11  is an opportunity that when our young people are

         12  engaged in the sports, they all have an opportunity

         13  to hit the ball. But at that age also in high

         14  school, we're talking about students athletes,

         15  they're pretty much more developed than the younger.

         16  I would understand that argument in little leagues,

         17  when we say we want our kids to go out there and

         18  actually hit the ball, have the bat that will let

         19  them have a faster swing and so forth, but when you

         20  reach the high school level and you're going into

         21  George Washington High School, or John F. Kennedy,

         22  which are the two high schools in my district, one

         23  of them had produced major leaguers; these kids,

         24  usually when we go in there to play sports, this is

         25  not the first time we're doing it. They have pretty
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          2  much a body that's better developed than other kids

          3  that would not normally play the sports and so

          4  forth, so why, I just want to understand why would

          5  you make a statement that it's not so much of a

          6  safety issue, but more of an opportunity to get the

          7  kids to hit the ball?

          8                 MR. OESTREICHER: I didn't say it

          9  wasn't a safety issue, first of all. Secondly, we're

         10  not only talking about George Washington, which is

         11  our premiere baseball team. We have quite a mixed

         12  level of competition across all our teams. I think

         13  as we noted, there are --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: No, I only

         15  used GW as an example.

         16                 MR. OESTREICHER: No, but I'm saying

         17  the level of competition varies dramatically. And

         18  there are teams, where kids who want to play

         19  baseball, aren't great baseball players, and we'll

         20  want to have a chance to compete and feel we're

         21  competing at a decent level.

         22                 These kids are not going to get

         23  scholarships. I never said this is all about

         24  scholarships. These kids will probably will not get

         25  to college because of baseball. They want to play.
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          2  We want to encourage kids to play, not at the sake

          3  of safety, we want more kids to play. And the kids,

          4  we feel, and maybe the evidence is anecdotal, but

          5  it's the feeling of many coaches that, you know,

          6  kids just never get a hit, just never get a hit when

          7  they're up and playing, and there are a lot of kids

          8  who will not, who are at that marginal level, just

          9  get discouraged and they'll just drop out, and we'll

         10  have a reduced baseball program. There are some

         11  teams that might just drop the program and not

         12  enough kids participating. There will be a

         13  discouraging factor. And of course, that doesn't

         14  trump safety. It doesn't trump safety. But, you

         15  know, the fact is our safety record has been

         16  excellent, and we have a lot of kids playing, but,

         17  you know, again, it's not just Monroe and GW and

         18  Tottenville who are the great team, or our best

         19  baseball teams year-after-year. If you look at the

         20  games, you'll see quite a level, varied level of

         21  competitions, with some kids you would really not be

         22  impressed with the level of competition, but kids

         23  are playing, and they're playing hard, and they're

         24  having a good time, and they're getting some

         25  physical activity out of it, and they're competing
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          2  in baseball, which helps them.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: How much

          4  money do you think it would take for the PSAL to do

          5  its, conduct its own study on the issue of safety

          6  and the speed of a ball? To contract out?

          7                 MR. OESTREICHER: I really don't know.

          8  We'd probably have to really RFP that out and

          9  develop the study, and I would like to work it with

         10  the Council, because, I'm not just talking about the

         11  funding, a joint study, because I don't want to come

         12  back here again with the disputation on it. You

         13  know, if it's a joint study and that means looking

         14  at it, then we'll see what kind of conclusions are

         15  reached.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: And I'll

         17  stop there, because the Chairman is holding a bat.

         18                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Council Member

         20  Mark-Viverito.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Thank

         22  you, Mr. Chair.

         23                 What is the mission of the Public

         24  Schools Athletic League?

         25                 MR. OESTREICHER: To provide a league
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          2  where kids, student athletes can compete, learn

          3  sportsmanship, learn discipline and engage in other

          4  physical activity.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Right.

          6  I mean, that's the bottom line.

          7                 So, I think that in this day and age

          8  where we are consumed as a society with instant

          9  gratification, who can hit the hard ball harder,

         10  faster, you know, speed and making sure -- I think

         11  we lose sight in essence what really is the mission

         12  of the PSAL, which is to really instill a sense of

         13  team spirit, cooperation, I think skills in the end

         14  that can take our children much further in life, and

         15  things that will be really beneficial in pursuing

         16  the careers and getting ahead in life.

         17                 I think we really do lose sight of

         18  that in essence. I'm hearing a lot of language here

         19  about a league that's vibrant about the need for

         20  speed, about, you know, things that really seem to

         21  be counter to what the true mission of the PSAL is

         22  about.

         23                 So, I counted wanted to make that

         24  point.

         25                 The other thing that is of concern to
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          2  me, Mr. Oestreicher, is the fact that I think your

          3  testimony, with all due respect, is weak. I mean,

          4  you come before us and you make very general

          5  statements without any substantiated proof. I think

          6  going back to what Councilman Felder was saying, you

          7  have a statement in here, "We know a case in which

          8  aluminum bats were banned for a limited period and

          9  the result was a stunning drop in offensive

         10  performance." I mean, that's not factual. You know,

         11  I think that considering the agency you represent,

         12  we would expect a higher degree of factual basis and

         13  foundation for your arguments, and I think that

         14  coming here before us as a City Council which has

         15  oversight over these issues, and we're trying to

         16  really raise legitimate concerns, you know, I would

         17  have expected more substantial factual-based

         18  comments and assertions.

         19                 So, is there an opportunity here for

         20  you to come back to us or to at least provide us

         21  with factual foundations to what's been mentioned

         22  here and alluded to by Felder, myself? Or if not,

         23  maybe strike it from your testimony. I mean, that's

         24  my question.

         25                 MR. OESTREICHER: I'm not sure what
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          2  facts you're referring to.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Well,

          4  there aren't. That's what I'm saying.

          5                 MR. OESTREICHER: Or what lack of

          6  facts. Having these bats in leagues for 30 years --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Well,

          8  you're making a statement here. We know a case in

          9  which aluminum bats were banned for a limited period

         10  and the result was a stunning drop in offensive

         11  performance." You're making an assumption that

         12  that's going to be --

         13                 MR. OESTREICHER: It's not an

         14  assumption, that's a fact.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: In

         16  mentioning that, you're making the assumption that

         17  if this were to be implemented, you know, the

         18  legislation, that in fact it would lead to a

         19  substantial drop in the participation in the

         20  leagues.

         21                 MR. OESTREICHER: But the fact is that

         22  when it was tried, there was a drop in offensive

         23  performance. That's the fact.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: You're

         25  making an assumption that you're taking to a
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          2  different level.

          3                 MR. OESTREICHER: No, you say I didn't

          4  make a fact, I made the fact.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Well,

          6  we may differ then, in terms of the analysis. And I

          7  think that there was also another statement, a point

          8  made by Councilman Felder, another point in the

          9  testimony that again he was asking what it was based

         10  on, and you weren't able to really substantiate

         11  that. So, I think in the end, my point is that the

         12  true mission of the PSAL is the things that you

         13  mentioned about really getting, in terms of our kids

         14  getting involved in sports, you know team spirit

         15  cooperation, things in essence which should be

         16  priority in tantamount here, and I think that, you

         17  know, the arguments that you're making here as to

         18  why this legislation would be detrimental, in the

         19  end really seem to in essence strengthen the

         20  arguments that are made by the support of this bill,

         21  whether a proponent of this bill.

         22                 So, with that I will end. Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you,

         25  Councilwoman.
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          2                 Councilman Gallagher.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Thank you,

          4  Mr. Chair.

          5                 Marty, thank you very much for your

          6  testimony here today, and a lot of the things that I

          7  wanted to bring up have already been talked about,

          8  but I would be remiss if I didn't bring them up to

          9  let you personally know that these parts of your

         10  testimony are troubling to me.

         11                 On page two, when you said it's the

         12  Federation's opinion that aluminum bats do not

         13  represent a significantly greater risk than wooden

         14  bats. I would take that to mean that there is a

         15  greater risk and that we should be looking into that

         16  greater risk.

         17                 On that same page, you go in and you

         18  study about the report on the greatest speed of the

         19  balls, hit with aluminum bats. I think it's an

         20  absolute fact, I think there was a statistic that

         21  indicated that it might have been as high as 15

         22  percent difference in speed, being able to be

         23  generated from a metal bat from a wooden bat, and I

         24  think that that represents a significant risk.

         25                 In addition, on page three you said,
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          2  "We acknowledge that the aluminum bats provide a

          3  greater opportunity for batters to quicken their bat

          4  speed, get around on the ball, and subsequently hit

          5  faster balls than they would be capable of doing

          6  with wooden bats."

          7                 Again, I think that that represents

          8  an opportunity for physical injury, especially to

          9  pitchers.

         10                 And I know when you indicated before

         11  that you said that there were maybe 30 injuries. We

         12  still don't have a statistic that show how many

         13  there would have been if it was with wooden bats, as

         14  opposed to aluminum bats.

         15                 What I would like to ask you a

         16  question on is here in your testimony where you say,

         17  "We believe the ban called for in this bill will

         18  have a negative impact on the quality of our game

         19  and the participation level of our student athletes

         20  in baseball."

         21                 Have you instituted a study to

         22  determine whether or not that that would occur?

         23                 MR. OESTREICHER: No, it's based on

         24  our discussion with our coaches who do actually work

         25  with the kids down in the fields, and they believe
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          2  that --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: They

          4  believe?

          5                 MR. OESTREICHER: They believe, yes. I

          6  didn't say that as a fact, I said we believe that

          7  will happen.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Okay.

          9                 Would it surprise you to know that in

         10  the City of New York there is an organization that

         11  has thousands of participants that has already

         12  banned aluminum bats for ages, from seven through

         13  15? Are you aware that in Queens County right now

         14  that there is an organization that does that, that

         15  bans aluminum bats?

         16                 MR. OESTREICHER: No.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: No?

         18                 The Catholic Youth Organization, CYO

         19  in Queens, banned aluminum bats three years ago.

         20  Would you also be surprised to learn that there's

         21  been an increase in participation from in CYO and

         22  that they continue to grow in Queens each and every

         23  year? Because with your, your theory, you would

         24  think that nobody would want to play baseball,

         25  because they don't have the great aluminum bats.
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          2                 MR. OESTREICHER: I'm not familiar

          3  with that situation. So, I'm not sure it's

          4  analogous, it's an apples to apples comparison.

          5  There are coaches who are out in the field, talk to

          6  the kids, work with the kids, and know the

          7  competition, this is what they feel.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: If you give

          9  me a list of your coaches, I'll be glad to submit

         10  the written testimony of the CYO Queens Director for

         11  them to let them know that kids are willing to play

         12  baseball, whether it's with wooden bats or aluminum

         13  bats. And as a matter in fact, and you'll hear the

         14  testimony later, the gentleman goes on to say that

         15  he believes it's a benefit for wooden bats, and that

         16  he has seen over the past three years an increase in

         17  fundamentals, especially at the lower levels where

         18  kids are able to react and to field it, instead of

         19  to jump out of the way of a line drive. And he

         20  thinks it's better for the natural way for the game

         21  to be played and help statistics. You have one

         22  hopper in the outfield that goes too fast and runs

         23  to the wall and you get a home run, you know, when

         24  it comes off the bat a little slower, it gives

         25  people an opportunity to play and that's the way the
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          2  game, I believe should be played. And I think also

          3  it's a safety issue.

          4                 So, I have to associate myself with

          5  my colleague, Melissa Mark-Viverito, especially when

          6  you put in a quote that you believe this without

          7  having any statistics or verification. And I hope

          8  that you can go back and talk to some of the

          9  organizations that are now considering banning

         10  aluminum bats, because there is a movement on in the

         11  City for organizations to look, you know, travel

         12  leagues, and the CYO in Queens has done it, and I'm

         13  sure some of the other youth organizations are

         14  looking at doing it. And I think that PSAL should

         15  really take a hard look at facts and not theories

         16  when making the decisions that are going to affect

         17  the safety and welfare of so many children

         18  throughout the City of New York.

         19                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         20                 MR. OESTREICHER: And we'll say that

         21  we have contacted, not the Queens CYOB, the

         22  Catholics League in Long Island that went to wooden

         23  bats, and we also talked to Massachusetts, which

         24  instituted wooden bats for their championship game.

         25  So, there are not that many jurisdictions that have
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          2  done it so far. At least at the level of competition

          3  that we're in.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Okay, thank you,

          5  Council Member Gallagher.

          6                 At this point we're going to put into

          7  the record a letter from Savino Fasalari (phonetic),

          8  who is the Director of the Catholic Youth

          9  Organization of Queens, substantiating the facts

         10  that Council Member Gallagher referred to.

         11                 Councilwoman Gonzalez.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Okay. How

         13  are you, sir?

         14                 MR. OESTREICHER: I'm fine.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: First of

         16  all, I'd like to thank my colleagues, because I am a

         17  member of the Youth Services Committee, so I

         18  definitely will have to make a decision very soon.

         19                 My concern is, when you made your

         20  testimony, again, and I want to go back to Simcha

         21  Felder, Councilman Simcha Felder, what all my other

         22  colleagues have said, significant versus

         23  insignificant injuries.

         24                 As a chief executive and what you do

         25  with the PSAL, I believe that what your leadership
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          2  and your decisions will impact our children and will

          3  make a difference in fact our lives, as a parent and

          4  as a grandmother, you know, I remember when my son

          5  had his first injury, and my son is 32 now, it's

          6  certainly created a trauma for me, and it was very

          7  close to his eye. It wasn't an aluminum bat, you

          8  know, it was just in the game itself. But I think

          9  that significant versus insignificant is so

         10  important to look at. And there should be further

         11  studies, and I'm not going to go all over your

         12  testimony because that has already been done, and

         13  when I look at introductions in the Council, I

         14  always look at the fiscal impact, but more than

         15  anything, I look at the responsibility part. And our

         16  responsibility is to ensure that although there are

         17  systems in place already, that if they need

         18  improvement, we need to improve them.

         19                 So, I would like to understand, and

         20  maybe you could just elaborate a little, what, in

         21  your decision-making, in your role, significant

         22  versus insignificant, what do you think that means

         23  for a family or for a child, or why wait until there

         24  is a significant injury?

         25                 MR. OESTREICHER: We're not waiting
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          2  for a significant injury. We have used aluminum bats

          3  now probably close to 30 years, and our record is a

          4  strong record. We have not had any serious

          5  life-threatening injuries that have been reported to

          6  us, and I assume they would have been.

          7                 It's not like we're experimenting

          8  with something new that's never been tried. We've

          9  done this for 30 years, okay? We have a great

         10  baseball league. We have a baseball league with very

         11  minimal injuries.

         12                 Forget the federation studies now.

         13  We'll talk about our own league. We have very, very

         14  few injuries, okay? Nothing close to the level

         15  they're playing. We have not seen -- we have to rely

         16  on the federation more of the -- they provide rules

         17  for a whole country and they do more of those type

         18  of studies. But our own evidence, our own -- you

         19  said when did we make the decisions? The decision to

         20  go to aluminum bats was made long before I got here,

         21  okay? And that --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ:  I clearly

         23  understand that. I don't mean to interrupt you.

         24                 MR. OESTREICHER: So,  I have not made

         25  a decision to overrule that, all right?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: I clearly

          3  understand you, sir. I understand that it was before

          4  our time. But the reality is that systems are made

          5  and are put in place and sometimes they need

          6  improvement.

          7                 MR. OESTREICHER: Of course they do.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: And I think

          9  my concern, when I'm going to make this vote and I'm

         10  going to make this decision, I'm going to look at if

         11  a child has been hurt, one child, isn't that

         12  significant enough? Or do we have to wait until

         13  other children are hurt.

         14                 And all I'm saying is, also with

         15  respect to your testimony, if there were surveys

         16  that we could depend on, or something a little bit

         17  more concise, then I would feel a little more

         18  strongly about understanding whether this should

         19  continue as is, and there shouldn't be any changes.

         20                 I think that definitely would be

         21  something that I would look at because I made my

         22  decisions based on fact, and I try to see, well,

         23  where is this coming from? How many assessments have

         24  been made? So, it is important to me, and I believe

         25  that in your testimony you really don't have it,
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          2  except for what you say here, "Moreover, New York

          3  State public high schools association has also

          4  conducted a survey in this regard in the years 2004

          5  and 2005, and they found that there was

          6  insignificant numbers." That's what concerns me. How

          7  do you find insignificant number of injuries? That's

          8  my concern. You know, how is an injury

          9  insignificant?

         10                 MR. OESTREICHER: Their only service,

         11  and most schools did not even respond at all, there

         12  were just no injuries to report from baseball. That

         13  was I think told from a quantity perspective, that

         14  they didn't see any of a qualitative level of injury

         15  you're talking about, and the numbers were so small

         16  in the baseball, and that's compared to other sports

         17  or anything, that they didn't even feel it was worth

         18  concluding the whole study, it was just coaches

         19  didn't even respond back to them because there was

         20  no injuries to report in so many schools.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: And I do

         22  also want to say that I do understand there's a

         23  fiscal impact. I mean, in the future there will be a

         24  fiscal, but the point is, even if there is a

         25  one-time fiscal, wouldn't it be better that at least
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          2  if we know something can injure a child, shouldn't

          3  we stop that? That's my question.

          4                 MR. OESTREICHER: This is

          5  incontrovertible evidence that the aluminum bat

          6  presents a danger for our league, than -- it's not

          7  an issue of the money. I said that before.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Okay. And I

          9  just want to say thank you to your testimony. And I

         10  also want you to know that though I've done my

         11  homework on this, I really have not made a decision.

         12                 MR. OESTREICHER: Okay. I appreciate

         13  that. Thank you very much.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Mr. Chair? I

         15  have a question to the Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Yes, sir.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Has the

         18  Committee, or anyone on the Committee, requested an

         19  actual, a raw figure breakdown of injury reports in

         20  the City from high school baseball? And if not, can

         21  we make that request?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Council Member, I

         23  think what we heard from the witness was that the

         24  methodology for collecting injury data is secondary

         25  insurance claims on the PSAL insurance policy.
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          2                 I don't know about you, I don't

          3  subscribe to the legitimacy of that methodology. You

          4  know, unless we're going to find out about injuries

          5  that were claimed to primary carriers, I think

          6  you're getting a very, very misleading amount of

          7  data.

          8                 So, you're free to request that, and

          9  I guess on behalf of Council Member Gerson, I will

         10  request it. But I'm just dubious as to the pro --

         11                 MR. OESTREICHER: As you said before,

         12  Chairman --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: -- Of that data.

         14                 MR. OESTREICHER: -- That the type of

         15  injuries you're talking about would be caught up in

         16  that, I'm sure.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I understand

         18  that, Mr. Oestreicher.

         19                 MR. OESTREICHER: And that's what

         20  you're trying to get.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Look. First of

         24  all, I want to thank this panel very much. It's

         25  always hardest to come up first, especially in your
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          2  position, contrary to the legislation that is being

          3  proferred, and I also want to say that I believe

          4  every member of this panel has the highest regard

          5  for the work the PSAL does, and no one here in any

          6  shape, way, manner or form questions your commitment

          7  to the safety of our young people.

          8                 However, the rub here is your

          9  continued use of the word "significant." And I know

         10  that if it's my kid, it's significant. And that

         11  every parent of every kid who plays in PSAL, would

         12  say the exact same thing.

         13                 And the second thing is the degree of

         14  the injury, that one injury is significantly more

         15  threatening, that's another rub.

         16                 So, I thank you for your testimony.

         17  Clearly these are the issues that separate us on

         18  this, and we appreciate your coming down this

         19  morning. Thank you.

         20                 MR. OESTREICHER: Thank you for having

         21  us.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: We have heard the

         23  name Brandon Patch mentioned a number of times this

         24  morning. For those of you who didn't pick it up, Mr.

         25  Brandon Patch was a young person, an 18 year old,
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          2  who was killed in Montana by a ball hit off of an

          3  aluminum bat.

          4                 Obviously, when something like that

          5  happens to you, everyone's heart goes out to that

          6  family, and we have, as part of our next panel,

          7  Brandon's mother Deborah, and his uncle, Jack

          8  Carlson. I'll call them up to testify now.

          9                 In addition, I'd like to ask Frank

         10  Menechino, who is a major league baseball player,

         11  resident of Staten Island, join this panel as well.

         12                 All right, so Jack asks that maybe

         13  you step out for this first part of his testimony.

         14  And we'll make sure that someone gets you. No? Okay.

         15                 MR. CARLSON: We'll play it by ear.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Okay, go ahead.

         17                 MR. CARLSON: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         18  I appreciate the opportunity to be able to tell our

         19  story about my nephew, Brandon Patch.

         20                 He was a young man at the age of 18

         21  that was tragically struck with a ball that was hit

         22  from an aluminum bat. Again, it was July 25th, 2003,

         23  and I'd like to tell you the story about that first.

         24                 The bat manufacturers don't like to

         25  talk about the emotion side of the story, like to
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          2  explain to people that we can't be knee-jerk about

          3  this, about the emotion, we have to look at the

          4  numbers.

          5                 Well, I have a two-part story. My

          6  first will be emotions. My second will be numbers.

          7                 Brandon was pitching that night, his

          8  last game of his American Legion career against the

          9  Helena Senders, the top team of American Legion

         10  Conference.

         11                 We live in Helena, Montana, and with

         12  Debbie and Brandon living in Miles City, they made

         13  the long trip across Montana to come to the game. We

         14  had a big celebration party all planned and lined

         15  out for Saturday, the day after, since the game was

         16  on Friday. We were just so excited about Brandon

         17  being there and being able to see his last game

         18  pitched.

         19                 I, myself, was witness to many of his

         20  games. We traveled around when he came to the

         21  Eastern part or Western part of Montana to witness

         22  his games.

         23                 The game started off like any other

         24  game. Brandon was out there pitching, loving the

         25  game, doing what he does best. He didn't have any
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          2  heat, but he had a wicked curve ball, and that's

          3  what he was producing that night.

          4                 In the fifth inning, the ball was

          5  struck. The ball hit so hard, in the blink of an

          6  eye, it struck him on the temple of the forehead. It

          7  struck him so hard that the announcer at the

          8  baseball game stated the ball rose higher than the

          9  lights in the stadium. The ball was struck so hard,

         10  it landed on the foul fence behind first base when

         11  the first baseman caught it for an out. Ironically,

         12  Brandon's last pitch of his life was for an out.

         13                 At the time he got hit, he staggered,

         14  he sat down. Immediately, his father was the first

         15  one out on the field. They laid him down, players

         16  came over, the coaches, the dad, talking to him, and

         17  he laid down talking. Last words that he said to his

         18  father was, "Dad, I have a hell of a headache." And

         19  his dad said, "I bet you do, son. I bet you do." And

         20  that's the last we heard from Brandon.

         21                 Tragically, the events that unfolded

         22  from that point on were something I would never wish

         23  upon anyone in this room. To see Brandon lay there,

         24  to go into convulsions, to throw up blood, to sit

         25  there and have people work on him to clean his
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          2  airway, to keep him alive as long as they could til

          3  paramedics came, to have his mother stand over his

          4  body and yell, "Brandon, get up." "Brandon, get up."

          5  Never. Never should this ever happen on a baseball

          6  field. But it did.

          7                 After we left the baseball field, we

          8  went to the hospital. They immediately called a help

          9  helicopter to come him to pick him up to take him to

         10  Great Falls, Montana, which was 90 miles away.

         11                 I remember looking at the doctor in

         12  his eyes and telling to him, here is my phone

         13  number, the last four digits are 7777. I said to

         14  him, Doctor, that's a lucky number, right? I looked

         15  down into his soul, through his eyes to know this

         16  was not going to end up right.

         17                 As we got in the car, I drove Debbie

         18  and her husband Duane to Great Falls on that 90 mile

         19  trip, as fast as I could go, trying to catch up to

         20  the helicopter. Duane didn't say one word in the

         21  back seat. Just had his head down and was crying.

         22  Praying. Debbie in the front seat was crying too,

         23  and the only words out of her mouth was, "It was

         24  only a game." "It's only a game."

         25                 We got to the hospital, the surgeons
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          2  took us aside in the emergency room, talked with us

          3  and stated it didn't look good. Debbie and Duane

          4  were put into a second room. I waited in the

          5  emergency room for all the other parties, since we

          6  had more relatives in Helena at the time.

          7                 I got word from the receptionist at

          8  ER, she said "There's good news, Jack, we're

          9  preparing a room in ICU for him." I'm thinking,

         10  "great. Great news. Finally God has answered our

         11  prayers."

         12                 I called up my mother-in-law, and

         13  Debbie's mom, and I called up Brandon's girlfriend,

         14  and I told them there's good news. Good news. Sounds

         15  like he's coming out. We're going to take him to

         16  ICU. Things are looking up for us.

         17                 Fifteen minutes later, the Priest

         18  comes out to tell me the bad news that Brandon had

         19  passed away. Now, here I am responsible for calling

         20  my mother-in-law, explaining to her that within five

         21  hours of her grandson playing baseball, passed away.

         22  I have to explain to his girlfriend what just

         23  happened, and how 15 minutes earlier everything

         24  seemed like it was going in our direction. Brandon

         25  is going to be okay. He can't be hurt. It can't end
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          2  this way. It's a baseball game. It's a game that we

          3  all love to play. But it did. It was the toughest

          4  day of my life. Toughest day. And ever since that

          5  day, til today, I vowed to myself, I'm going to

          6  fight this issue. And with Debbie's help, I think we

          7  have.

          8                 Ladies and gentlemen, that's the

          9  human emotion part of the story. I hate to tell you,

         10  it's an event, again, that I wish on nobody. And,

         11  unfortunately, we hear of the other accidents around

         12  the country that happen to normal, young American

         13  boys who are out there to play the game, be part of

         14  a team, to enjoy themselves. They're not there to

         15  get scholarships. They're not there to make pro

         16  ball. They're there to have fun, and, unfortunately,

         17  they get hurt. And with that, that's my emotion part

         18  of my testimony I like to make. It's affected

         19  myself, my family, and everybody involved. And until

         20  it happens to one of your children, or it happens to

         21  one of you closest to you, you will never, never

         22  ever understand the feeling.

         23                 And I'm speaking on myself, not on

         24  Debbie Patch. My child didn't pass away. You're not

         25  supposed to bury your children. Your children are
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          2  supposed to bury you.

          3                 With that said, I'd like to get

          4  better documentation, if I can. Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chairman.

          6                 The bat manufacturers are here today

          7  to represent themselves. And in my three years of my

          8  independent study, with no college education, just

          9  common sense man, in talking and looking and

         10  investigating, I found many, many different

         11  formalities that they think are legal and fair that

         12  are just not right. I hate to say it's conspiracy

         13  theory, but deep down inside it's got to be. But

         14  what I'm going to present to you today is more of

         15  the facts. More of the things that I know that I've

         16  researched hours upon hours upon hours, staying up

         17  til 2:00, 3:00 in the morning at nights just

         18  thinking about thousandth of a second of difference,

         19  if Brandon would have had a thousandth of a second.

         20                 I saw when I came to the Court House,

         21  I'm sorry, the Civil -- I came and saw Mr. Oddo

         22  today, and I saw the documentation that Mr. Ettinger

         23  gave the Committee, and with that it's the same

         24  story. We, in Montana, we had legislation in 2005.

         25  Two pieces of legislation. One was to ask American
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          2  Legion Baseball to support a wood bat resolution

          3  that the State of Florida unanimously voted in to

          4  take to National Convention. That was our

          5  resolution. We had a bill, our bill was very similar

          6  to the bills that are going around the country. Our

          7  bill was asking that any player under the age of 18

          8  years of age use wooden bats.

          9                 Of course, that was a tough one to

         10  sell. Actually, we never even got out of the House

         11  Committee with that one, there was a tie vote. It

         12  died in the Committee.

         13                 But our resolution succeeded, went to

         14  the House floor, from the House floor it went to the

         15  Senate. At the Senate Committee meeting, we met

         16  opposition by the bat manufacturers. Some of them

         17  you've talked to before, and some that again you'll

         18  meet today, and some that you'll hear the same story

         19  over and over and over again.

         20                 Mr. Darby is one of those people that

         21  came to our meeting, and there he discussed that he

         22  would like to have changes made, and one thing he

         23  didn't understand is that was Montana. It happened

         24  with us. There was actual death in Montana. Not an

         25  injury. Not another child that can get up and play
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          2  another day, but a death because of a ball hit from

          3  an aluminum bat.

          4                 Our Chairwoman, she sparred with him

          5  pretty good, called him a name, and told him that if

          6  he wants to make any changes to the resolution, he

          7  needs to do it and have it on her desk by 5:00.

          8  Well, low and behold, 5:00 the resolution came with

          9  all the changes made by him and the lawyers. I think

         10  you'll see him in the back right now. And the change

         11  was called for study after study.

         12                 We need more studies, as you've heard

         13  today. If you want to have a study for the City, for

         14  your City baseball league, that's fine, you can have

         15  one. But I guarantee you what's going to happen is

         16  in between that time, from the start to the finish,

         17  you're going to waste a lot of money, and you're

         18  going to have a lot of injuries. And is that what

         19  you really want to do? I don't know. It's up to you

         20  guys as a Committee.

         21                 But I'll tell you what, there's study

         22  after study already available that they don't like

         23  to talk about. And what their studies are, it's

         24  their own studies, and their own studies they like

         25  to flower and tell you mistruths.
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          2                 Mr. Darby's favorite line, I believe,

          3  is "Mistruths in Montana." That's what our

          4  resolution was for. And all we were asking was not

          5  to change everything and have 18 year olds and

          6  younger use wooden bats, we're asking the American

          7  Legion to go to wooden bats. We don't have high

          8  school, all we have is American Legion Baseball.

          9                 So, with that at that Committee, we

         10  had Jeff Ballard. He was a pitcher for Baltimore

         11  Orioles, and he was one of our star players out of

         12  Montana who played baseball. He submitted, for our

         13  resolution at the Senate Committee, he submitted his

         14  testimony, and his testimony is the same testimony

         15  you will see submitted by the High School

         16  Association, by Little League, by the Pony League,

         17  by CalRipkin League, by Babe Ruth, by American

         18  Legion. All of them say the same thing. They have

         19  the same numbers.

         20                 They talk about the BESR. They talk

         21  about the statistics that there's not enough

         22  injuries to warrant the change. Again, I think that

         23  was a very good point we made, is how many injuries

         24  do we have to have to make a change. I know the

         25  death of my family member was enough for me.
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          2  Hopefully that won't happen to any one of you.

          3                 But with Jeff Ballard's, the ironic

          4  thing about Jeff Ballard's statement that he had to

          5  say is, a lot of players from American Legion

          6  Baseball are those who go to pro baseball, have used

          7  aluminum bats in their career.

          8                 Darby likes to say that same

          9  statement, that you have to use aluminum bats in

         10  order to make the big leagues.

         11                 Ron Davini from Baseball Coach

         12  Association, who will testify a little bit later,

         13  will say the same thing. This document of these said

         14  these things.

         15                 Jim Quinlin, the American Legion

         16  President, from American Legion Baseball, has stated

         17  the same argument, that probaseball players have to

         18  use aluminum bats to make it to the pros. I contest

         19  that deeply. I don't think that's very true.

         20                 But the problem I see is there's too

         21  much of a trend. Too many people are seeing the same

         22  things, day-in, day-out, it may be in this City

         23  Hall, it may be in Massachusetts, it may be in New

         24  Jersey, it may be in North Dakota, it may be in

         25  Florida, it may be in Indianapolis, it may be
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          2  somewhere else, where there's going to be another

          3  injury, but they're going to say the same things.

          4                 The problem with it is, until Mr.

          5  Oddo and myself were connected with ESPN, and we got

          6  to know each other through that, we didn't have a

          7  clue what was going on in New York, or what was

          8  going on with Montana. And that's the problem we

          9  have. I can't afford to fly out to every place and

         10  do discussions like this. I don't have the big money

         11  pockets like the big industries do. I have nothing

         12  to gain from having you go to wooden bats, except

         13  for you to be able to say that your son is alive

         14  today because he got grazed by a ball instead of

         15  struck by a ball.

         16                 One quote that I like to have is, Jim

         17  Quinlin, again, the President of American Legion

         18  Baseball, in an article talked about why would a

         19  baseball player want to use a wooden bat and hit 250

         20  when he could use a wooden bat or an aluminum bat

         21  and hit 400. What's he telling us there? They all

         22  like to talk to us about the BESR, and about how

         23  wooden bats and aluminum bats hit the same. There is

         24  no difference in speed. So, how can you tell me a

         25  wooden bat is going to hit 250, aluminum bat is
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          2  going to hit 400. What's the rational behind that?

          3                 Again, these are just points and

          4  questions I want to bring to your attention.

          5                 Another story they like to talk about

          6  is a Mr. Fred Mueller from University of North

          7  Carolina, who I believe will be here and testify

          8  again.

          9                 When this all happened, again I got

         10  on the Internet and looked and researched a lot, and

         11  I had come across his study. And with his study, it

         12  talks about the industry rates to all different

         13  sports, and nothing against Mr. Mueller, I think

         14  he's done a wonderful job in the field, he has; but

         15  at the same time, I don't believe it dictates the

         16  exact injuries happen in real life. And maybe you

         17  can ask him this question and maybe he can clarify,

         18  but I believe his reports are more for the brain and

         19  spinal injuries. They're not an injury to the chest,

         20  they're not an injury to the orbital socket, or to

         21  the jaw. They're to the brain, I believe, and to the

         22  spine. And when I e-mailed him and talked to him at

         23  that time, I don't think he had an idea about my

         24  nephew passing away, Brandon Patch. But since then I

         25  believe Brandon's name is on the list.
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          2                 Also, on his website, for $25 you can

          3  pay to get the information sent to you. I wrote in.

          4  I wrote a check for $25, and all I got back was the

          5  same things I could have printed off the Internet.

          6  Nothing different. There's no names. There's no

          7  dates. There's no injuries. Nothing that I saw from

          8  this report. The question I have is you have three

          9  players recently injured in this area. Are any of

         10  them going to show in this report?

         11                 They had another death, too, that the

         12  baseball manufacturers like to talk about. It

         13  happened down in Utah. And they like to say it

         14  happened with a wooden bat. What they don't like to

         15  say with that wooden bat is, I talked to the

         16  detective that was there investigating the accident,

         17  and I asked him was a wooden bat used or an aluminum

         18  bat? He said a wooden bat was used. And I asked him

         19  why. He stated that the batting cage states that you

         20  cannot use an aluminum bat in the batting cages. So,

         21  I would assume that's for insurance purposes. I have

         22  no other explanation but that.

         23                 One thing that Montana is trying to

         24  do too is the Montana County Association is also

         25  having the same debate that everybody else is in the
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          2  nation, about what liability are they going to have

          3  in case an injury or accident happens on their

          4  property. They right now are trying to actively have

          5  somebody support a wood bat resolution in Montana

          6  for 2007 legislation. So that's changes that we're

          7  trying to make in Montana, it's not coming easy

          8  though.

          9                 A couple of other players I think

         10  that we have is I believe it's Ron Davini, maybe I'm

         11  saying his name wrong, from BCA. And I think, Mr.

         12  Oddo, you have some documentation there that talks

         13  about what he truly felt at the beginning of his

         14  career and where he's at today. And then also, of

         15  course, you may hear statements about how he says

         16  that baseball is safe because the BESR, the ball

         17  exit speed ratio, and about how industry has set

         18  these standards that we live and bide by. But then,

         19  again, you'll hear that from the high school, and

         20  again from everybody else. It's 97 miles per hour is

         21  the exit speed you have from BESR. It was set by the

         22  NCAA, whom I don't think we have representation of

         23  the NCAA here today, which it would be nice to ask

         24  them how they came about that. With that NCAA

         25  recommendation, there is documentation of memos and
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          2  press releases starting from the late eighties,

          3  well, the late nineties I mean, to 2000, that talk

          4  about how they came up with the BESR. And each and

          5  every step of the way when they came, they put down,

          6  laid the law down and said we're going to do it this

          7  way. Then we're going to change it, okay, 80 miles

          8  an hour pitch speed, 80 mile per hour swing speed.

          9  Then all of a sudden it goes, well, no, let's go to

         10  70 mile per hour pitch speed and a 66 mile per hour

         11  swing speed.

         12                 And then originally it was a 93 mile

         13  per hour, plus one mile per hour, they're going to

         14  go for 94 miles per hour for the exit speed. Then

         15  mysteriously it changed to 97 miles per hour, and I

         16  think it happened just in the same time frame there

         17  was a $267 million lawsuit from Beson (phonetic) Bat

         18  Company against NCAA. I'm just stating the facts.

         19  Make up your mind for yourself. But in my opinion,

         20  too many things are happening here. There's just too

         21  much to lose for the bat industry compared to us.

         22                 I don't know if they'll state it

         23  today, but one they like to state is Richard

         24  Brandt's study. I thought he was from the University

         25  of New York. The Consumer Products Safety Commission
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          2  did have a request by Jack McKay, and I think you've

          3  all heard it back in 2002.

          4                 Within that Consumer Products Safety

          5  Commission report, the NCAA and the bat

          6  manufacturers, they all support reaction time, in

          7  which Richard Brandt states, you need to have .4

          8  seconds of reaction time. That .4 isn't for your

          9  high school players, it's for your college players.

         10                 Out of this study they had eight

         11  college players they studied, two high school, one

         12  11-year-old, and that's all they had for the youth.

         13                 In Richard Brandt's study he states,

         14  even though these bats may be certified and approved

         15  for college level does not mean this could be

         16  approved for youth players. There's a lot of

         17  contradiction that he has. Also, he likes to say the

         18  same thing the bat manufacturers state today, we

         19  need more studies. More studies on the .4 reaction

         20  time will need to be looked into to see if our

         21  results are the same.

         22                 Now, I notice on this today, that

         23  what I saw that Mr. Ettinger submitted is a report

         24  from Mr. Breen. I really don't know, I've never seen

         25  that report, and I'd like to look at it. But
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          2  whatever the case may be, I'm sure it has

          3  information that again, if you dig deeper into it,

          4  you'll find more information that's really there.

          5                 He liked to talk about the American

          6  Legion. They had a nine-month study about the

          7  dangers of aluminum bats. The nine month study was

          8  basically from when we submitted the wood bat

          9  resolution to when the baseball committee met the

         10  next year. When they did meet, documentation was

         11  presented again, the same BESR, the same reaction

         12  time, the same secondary policies for insurance, and

         13  everything that was submitted to them, and then I

         14  believe there was a testimony by Mr. Darby, and then

         15  I also believe a Tom Wood from Hooser's Bats. And

         16  nothing against Mr. Tom Wood, but that was all we

         17  had. That's all Brandon's life was worth to American

         18  Legion Baseball was 15 minutes of discussion and the

         19  information there provided.

         20                 We had no chances of family to talk

         21  to American Legion, to give them our side of the

         22  story, what we feel the dangers are.

         23                 One problem I think that everybody

         24  will have, though, if we keep using aluminum bats

         25  for your High School Federation, what I have found
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          2  out is, you have several different baseballs that

          3  are certified through the National Federation of

          4  High Schools. With that, you don't have the same

          5  hardness of the balls, I don't believe. And with

          6  that, the BESR testing that they do today is off

          7  aluminum bat, but also off a Rawlings Baseball.

          8  It's not off a Diamond baseball that a lot of high

          9  schools use. Our American Legion Program used a

         10  Diamond D1.

         11                 So, my questions is, are you really

         12  comparing apples and apples or apples and oranges? I

         13  would love to have a week in Mr. Sherwood's testing

         14  facility with my scientist and my people to come in

         15  there and do the testing and see where we get the

         16  numbers. You'll never have that chance. And

         17  independent studies? They're not going to happen.

         18  Who can afford to go out there and create a bomb

         19  hitting machine to get a patent to make it happen?

         20  It's kind of absurd that they could say that we need

         21  more studies and can do that.

         22                 Another thing in high school you're

         23  going to have a problem with, the bat was used the

         24  night that Brandon passed away had a BESR sticker on

         25  it. But that bat would not pass the MOI, the Moment
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          2  Of Inertia test the NCAA has now to use.

          3                 The Moment Of Inertia test came out

          4  after many of the bat manufacturers knew that they

          5  had a loophole in the testing.

          6                 George Manning from Louisville

          7  Sluggers stated that in an article. They knew about

          8  the loophole and they took advantage of it; and,

          9  therefore, they created a bat that was faster. NCAA

         10  caught on and created the MOI.

         11                 Then from the MOI, we needed to have

         12  a sliding scale for the BESR. Because the lighter

         13  the bat, or the smaller the bat, the lighter the

         14  weight, the faster the swing.

         15                 So, again, the NCAA is trying to play

         16  catch-up with the bat manufacturers all along. And

         17  they're probably going to have with that BESR

         18  sticker, what happens if you have a baseball player

         19  that does injured in a baseball game? Your umpire

         20  did look at the bats, he saw the sticker, verified

         21  it was okay, and said it's fine, we're going to play

         22  ball.

         23                 The player gets hit, gets injured,

         24  whoever looks into it says this bat was certified in

         25  2000 or 1999, so therefore it's a situation where
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          2  it's not going to pass the testing we have today.

          3                 So, with that, hopefully I made some

          4  points and some comments that you guys can listen

          5  to, and if you have any questions, feel free to ask.

          6  But at this time I would like to introduce Debbie

          7  Patch, Brandon's mom.

          8                 MRS. PATCH: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

          9  for having me speak, with the opportunity.

         10                 Brandon played baseball all of his

         11  life. He had wrote a letter that I'll have Jack read

         12  that was found three days later or so.

         13                 MR. CARLSON: After Brandon passed

         14  away, the next school year they were cleaning out

         15  the hard files of the computer. Brandon wrote a

         16  paper that stated:  "In Ten Years From Now, Where

         17  Would You Be? What Would You Be Doing?" And the

         18  student body found this and presented it to the

         19  Patch family.

         20                 It says:

         21                 "Dear Taylor, I just received word

         22  that our writing workshop class has been invited on

         23  a fabulous cruise on the Queen Elizabeth II. We'll

         24  be leaving the ship at the New York Harbor August

         25  1st, 2013. We'll be on this trip for two weeks.
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          2  Someone donated this trip. I have two tickets for

          3  the ship, the airfare has been taken care of.

          4                 The Queen Elizabeth is a fabulous

          5  cruise, as 70,327 tons and 963 feet long, with the

          6  top speed of 32.5 knots, she is also one of the

          7  largest and fastest passenger vessels afloat. It has

          8  so many things to do. There's five restaurants, two

          9  cafes, three swimming pools, as well as a pub,

         10  nightclub and several bars. Also a 481-seat cinema,

         11  casino, shopping, a branch of Harold's Health Club

         12  and Beauty Salon, library, hospital, computer

         13  learning center.

         14                 New York is another site to see.

         15  Before we would leave on the ship, we'll have to be

         16  in New York. We'll be visiting some of the nicest

         17  places there. We'll be able to go to the Statue of

         18  Liberty, a play called A Day in the Death of Joe Egg

         19  in a theatre on 42nd Street, plus all the other

         20  things to see in New York.

         21                 Besides the things we can do on the

         22  ship and in New York, I want to tell you what I've

         23  done these past ten years.

         24                 After I graduated from Miles City

         25  High School, I went to college in Great Falls,
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          2  Montana. I went to a four-year school and graduated

          3  there with a Criminal Justice Degree. I want to

          4  Great Falls to become a highway patrolman, and was

          5  lucky enough to get a job in Los Angeles, California

          6  right after I graduated.

          7                 Los Angeles is a great place,

          8  although it is starting to get to be a pretty

          9  populated place. The population now is about

         10  9,824,800. There is so much to do though.

         11                 Today I'm working as a highway

         12  patrolman in East Los Angeles. I have a dangerous

         13  job. I see many things out there on these highways.

         14  I end up pulling ten to 20 vehicles over a day. Let

         15  me tell you, people don't want to just drive the

         16  speed limit.

         17                 I have many hobbies these days. When

         18  I'm not on my job, I'm out and about. I am still a

         19  huge Los Angeles Laker fan and go to as many games

         20  as I can get to.

         21                 Other things I like to do is go

         22  fishing for marlins on the coast in my fishing boat

         23  I recently bought.

         24                 Just if you're wondering, all those

         25  people were right, I ended up marrying Lacey Reed
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          2  and we happily live in Los Angeles. We haven't

          3  decided to have kids yet. I figured it's a little

          4  dangerous, me being a highway patrolman and all. I

          5  thought I could wait until I was done with that job

          6  before I have little ones running around.

          7                 Have you heard from anyone about our

          8  class? All I know is Matt Wilcox is now the Governor

          9  of Montana. Remember when we were giving him stuff

         10  about that? Well, I guess today we can't. He's going

         11  to be a very rich man, and I can't believe it.

         12                 Well, this is a once of a lifetime

         13  trip, it should be a great time. I wrote this letter

         14  because I hope to see you there. It will finally

         15  give us one more chance to be with our Writing

         16  Workshop Class one more time.

         17                 Brandon Patch."

         18                 MRS. PATCH: I just will say, you want

         19  to look at the safety of the kids. You know, that's

         20  the major thing. Life is life. Baseball is a game.

         21  You know, there are so many incidents out there that

         22  you don't know about. What they call a "slight

         23  injury," is taking half an eye off or crushing your

         24  forehead. It's just unbelievable. Like I said,

         25  Brandon was a Yankee fan. He always planned to come
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          2  to New York. That was his biggest thing. And as far

          3  as reaction time, if it was going to be there,

          4  Brandon would have had it. Brandon didn't have a

          5  chance. There was no way he was ever going to react.

          6  And like I said, he played ball since day one. You

          7  know, he was an 18-year-old, just graduated, and

          8  this happened in July.

          9                 You know, we have to think of our

         10  kids, because it's going to happen again. And I get

         11  letters from 18-year-old kids that say don't give

         12  up. Don't give it up, because I'm on third base and

         13  that ball goes whipping by me. I mean, so if you can

         14  have kids write you at 18 and 19, and 12- to

         15  13-year-old kids write and say, you know what? We

         16  don't care what the coach says, we're going to use a

         17  wooden bat this year. You know, I mean it's

         18  phenomenal. I just was amazed at e-mails that did

         19  come in. You know, your kid's life is everything.

         20                 His brother wrote: "Which Affects

         21  Your Whole Family." And he wrote: "It's taken a long

         22  time to deal with feelings, but it makes me realize

         23  a few things: You never know when something is going

         24  to happen to someone very close to you. You always

         25  have your memories, and no matter what happens, I
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          2  plan to live life to the fullest from this point

          3  on."

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I certainly want

          6  to thank both of you for your testimony, and there

          7  but for the grace of God, you know, and I'm going to

          8  go home and hug my kids today, that's for sure.

          9                 Before I ask my colleagues if they

         10  want to ask you any questions, I think we'll allow

         11  Mr. Menechino to testify, and we'll all take a

         12  moment, I guess, to regroup.

         13                 MR. MENECHINO: Hi. I'm here to just

         14  basically let everybody know that I've played

         15  baseball since I'm five years old, and when I was

         16  younger we used wooden bats to hit and stuff, and,

         17  you know, I always wanted to be a major league

         18  baseball player, and my dad used to tell me, well,

         19  there's no need to use aluminum bats, use the wooden

         20  bats because that's what you're going to be using in

         21  the big leagues.

         22                 But as I got older and as I, you

         23  know, started playing with my friends, I wanted to

         24  compete, I wanted to hit the home run, I wanted to

         25  hit for higher average, so the only way to go is to
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          2  use an aluminum bat. And as I've grown to play, play

          3  in high school, I really never hit home runs in high

          4  school, but I was a good line drive hitter, and I

          5  used to practice still with the wood because using a

          6  wooden bat helped me hit the ball in a sweet spot a

          7  lot more, to help me have a better swing. Because if

          8  you didn't hit the ball in the sweet spot with a

          9  wooden bat, it stung and it hurt really bad.

         10                 And, you know, using the aluminum

         11  bats, you could get away with a bad swing, you can

         12  upper cut swing, you can get jammed and still get a

         13  hit, your bat never broke. But after awhile using

         14  it, it would dent. And my dad would be like, you

         15  know, you don't break many wooden bats, but aluminum

         16  you seem to be denting them, and I'm not going for

         17  three- four-hundred dollars a bat anymore. So, he

         18  kind of left me no choice but to just practice with

         19  the wooden bat and use the wooden bat, and I'm

         20  grateful for it because it really helped me become a

         21  better hitter.

         22                 And going to college we used aluminum

         23  bats. We had a contract with Easton. I went to

         24  University of Alabama. We had a contract with

         25  Easton, and you really had to hit, I mean it was an
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          2  aluminum bat but you really hat to hit the ball to

          3  have a home run. I mean, the ball didn't fly off the

          4  bat the way it does now. And when I got drafted in

          5  '93 by Chicago White Sox, I went back to Alabama to

          6  see some of the guys, and they had just signed a

          7  contract with Louisville, and I couldn't believe the

          8  way guys were hitting the ball. I couldn't believe

          9  how far they were hitting the ball. I mean, it was a

         10  joke. I was like, wow, I wish I had these bats when

         11  I was in college, maybe I would have gotten drafted

         12  a little higher. But it was unbelievable. They were

         13  so light and the ball took off so -- I mean, I was

         14  just like this isn't fair. I mean, how are guys

         15  going to get out of the way, let alone, you know,

         16  just be safe. I couldn't even swing the bat after

         17  using a wooden bat because they were so light. I

         18  mean, I think it was like a minus five or something,

         19  as far as ounces to length.

         20                 And, now-a-days, just watching the

         21  little league kids, I was, you know, injured this

         22  year, I didn't play this year. I had wrist surgery

         23  and I was able to spend time with the Minisland

         24  Little League (phonetic) World Series Team, and my

         25  nephew plays on that, and just throwing batting
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          2  practice to these kids and just watching these kids

          3  hit, I actually was given hitting lessons one day,

          4  and my nephew is using a bat and I'm like, Joe, does

          5  that bat feel light to you? He goes, yeah, I could

          6  really swing it hard. And actually the bat was too

          7  light for him that he couldn't feel the weight of

          8  the head of the bat that controlled his swing. It

          9  was just whipping right through. So, I said, I

         10  really think this bat is too light for you. So, I

         11  let him in turn use one of my wooden bats, 33 and a

         12  half, 32 ounce bat, he picked it up and started

         13  swinging it and was hitting the line drive after

         14  line drive in the cage.

         15                 Now, here is a kid 12 years old, who

         16  is big for 12. He's 12 years old, he's strong, and

         17  he's using one of those little aluminum bats. He

         18  used to just hit the ball off the end of the bat or

         19  get jammed and the ball goes 250 feet. To me that's

         20  not fair. To me that's just not even fun. You can't

         21  try to incorporate, you know, X box games or

         22  PlayStation 3 Stats with little kids because that's

         23  what turns them on. Look how far I hit the ball. You

         24  know, you can only take that so far before someone

         25  is really going to get hurt. They're only 44 feet to
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          2  home plate. Can you imagine guys in the big leagues

          3  with a wooden bat have trouble getting out of the

          4  way, and some of them didn't get out of the way.

          5  You've seen this year a couple of guys got hit in

          6  the head. I mean, and then you have big guys like

          7  that hitting the ball so hard. All you have to do is

          8  bring the scale down and it's just little leaguers

          9  using these really light bats that the ball bounces

         10  off of. I mean, I have to be careful throwing

         11  batting practice even with a screen in front of me

         12  because the ball is coming at me really fast. I

         13  don't have time to react. I mean, if I don't have

         14  time, and I'm an in-fielder my whole life, how is a

         15  12-year-old kid going to have time, how is a

         16  ten-year-old kid going to have time to react?

         17                 So, I just feel like they really need

         18  to downgrade the aluminum, make it to where they

         19  have to hit the ball, and have to hit the ball well

         20  for it to go out.

         21                 You know, a lot of little leaguers

         22  are talking about moving the fences back. Don't move

         23  the fences back, make the bats old school, the way

         24  they were years ago. Use a composite bomb bat. A lot

         25  of minor league clubs use bomb bats. It's a plastic
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          2  wood composite, and I mean make the kids earn it.

          3  That will give the scouts, that will give kids the

          4  realistic view of their talents to see how good they

          5  really are.

          6                 Did I really hit good, or is it the

          7  bat doing all the work? You know, there's a fine

          8  line between having kids living in a dream world or

          9  living in reality and I think the game would be more

         10  fun if you had to earn that home run, if you had to

         11  earn that hit.

         12                 You know what? I use the wooden bat

         13  or I use the composite bat and there was no help

         14  with the bat. I did it. I did it. I hit that ball.

         15  I'm one of two guys this year that hit a home run

         16  over the fence.

         17                 You know, you want kids to really

         18  say, hey, they have to earn it. Because my whole

         19  life I had to earn everything I did to become a

         20  major league baseball player. I was the littlest

         21  guy, the smallest guy, couldn't run, couldn't do

         22  anything according to the scouts, and I tricked them

         23  for six years in the big leagues.

         24                 So, I know what it is to have to earn

         25  it and have to go through everything and practice,
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          2  practice, practice. So, if these kids get on the

          3  right track of the old school ways of, hey, this is

          4  a wooden bat. You're going to have to use it, you're

          5  going to have to get stronger, you're going to have

          6  to lift weights, you're going to have to do the

          7  extra to be as good as the best guys. You're going

          8  to have to be a little extra to be the best, instead

          9  of just having the most expensive bat with the

         10  lightest bat that hits the ball the furthest. That's

         11  not fun. That's not baseball. Baseball should be

         12  everybody is on even ground, but what you could do

         13  to control it is work out harder, practice every

         14  day, spend time in the hitting cages, learn to

         15  perfect your swing, this way you can become the best

         16  player for as long as you want to play.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you very

         19  much, Frank, for your testimony.

         20                 Council Member Oddo.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you. Let

         22  me just start by thanking Deb and Jack for making a

         23  long trip from Montana here to City Hall. When I was

         24  preparing for this hearing, I was preparing a

         25  witness list, my staff and I had a very long
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          2  internal conversation about whether it was the right

          3  thing to ask you folks to come out here.

          4                 The last thing I want to do is

          5  exploit the tragedy or exploit your pain. And I know

          6  you had to drive a long time to get to the airport

          7  within your own state, and then fly late at night

          8  and land here, and I know this can't be an easy

          9  experience for you. And I had some time last week in

         10  New Jersey to sit next to Steven Domelski's mom and

         11  dad, and when Joe testified and took the witness

         12  stand with his wife, and I just happened to be

         13  sitting next to her, and her reaction, her physical

         14  reaction to that testimony is something I won't

         15  forget. I appreciate the help that you're trying to

         16  give us and give to the kids of this City, and

         17  hopefully the kids across this country.

         18                 And, Jack, you have been a wonderful

         19  resource, and I'm sorry that you had to become a

         20  mini expert in this issue.

         21                 Brandon had pitched. That wasn't the

         22  first time Brandon was on the mound. Brandon had

         23  pitched for a long time; is that correct?

         24                 MRS. PATCH: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And Brandon was
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          2  a pretty good athlete?

          3                 MRS. PATCH: Oh, yes. He loved

          4  baseball.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: He just didn't

          6  have enough time.

          7                 MRS. PATCH: There was no time.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Did he get the

          9  glove up at all, Jack? Did he?

         10                 MR. CARLSON: No. He didn't have any

         11  time at all. By the time it struck, when it hit, the

         12  time that we have is well under the .4 seconds, the

         13  reaction time that they like to state.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Now, you

         15  accurately pointed out that there had been some

         16  changes subsequent to Brandon's situation. And

         17  dollars to donuts, the industry, when they get up

         18  here will say, well, that bat, you can't use that

         19  bat today. And you used a lot of language that I'm

         20  sure many of my colleagues aren't familiar with. We

         21  heard of the BESR, and you used phrases like

         22  "Moments of Inertia." We're going to talk about

         23  that later when the industry comes on, because there

         24  isn't an equal standard. You can't have an equal MOI

         25  between metal and -- you don't have an equal one
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          2  between metal and wood, you have a minimum standard.

          3  And there's some people out there who believe that's

          4  not -- that's all the difference in the world, and

          5  that corrupts the actual testing that they rely on.

          6  And, you know, BESR is the best thing to come down

          7  the pike since pasteurization, if you listen to

          8  them. But there are people out there, people smarter

          9  than me, people involved in litigation with some of

         10  the folks in the back, and we're going to put in the

         11  record documentation that attacks the ESR and shows

         12  it to be the corrupted compromised flawed protocol

         13  it is. And that BESR bat, although not eligible for

         14  play today, that BESR bat that that young man used

         15  to hit the ball that hit Brandon didn't give him a

         16  chance, and there are BESR bats today that don't

         17  give young people a chance. And I just want to thank

         18  you for coming out here, and I plan to stay in touch

         19  with both of you until we get this right.

         20                 As far as Frank Menechino goes, let

         21  me just thank you also for being here.

         22                 Frank, you look like you're in really

         23  good shape, and there is an opening for second base,

         24  as best I can tell, next year for the Mets, and I

         25  know Valentin will be signing so I hope Mr. Wilpon
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          2  (phonetic) is paying attention.

          3                 You mentioned in your testimony,

          4  which by the way, I was always the littlest, the

          5  smallest and couldn't run, but it didn't stop me

          6  from becoming a great whiffle ball player, so that's

          7  a lesson for kids all around the country.

          8                 You mentioned that when you were in

          9  University of Alabama, you said I think that "we had

         10  a contract with Easton." What does that mean? Having

         11  a contract with Easton meant what?

         12                 MR. MENECHINO: That means we only

         13  were allowed to us Easton bats. And we could only

         14  use Easton bats and back then those bats were the

         15  top of the line. In my opinion, they were the top of

         16  the line bats.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Who provided the

         18  bats? Did Easton provide the bats in University?

         19                 MR. MENECHINO: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Do you know if

         21  you're coach at the time had a separate contract

         22  apart from his contract at the University of Alabama

         23  where he received any -- you don't know?

         24                 MR. MENECHINO: I don't know.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: But eventually
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          2  it switched to Louisville Slugger.

          3                 MR. MENECHINO: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I would bet

          5  dollars to donuts that that was a Division 1?

          6                 MR. MENECHINO: SEC, South --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Division 1

          8  program.

          9                 There are plenty of Division 1, not

         10  all. Maybe all, not all, a lot of them, Division 1

         11  coaches out there that currently today, baseball

         12  coaches that get separate contracts with Easton and

         13  Louisville Slugger. Jack McKay from Louisville

         14  Slugger who testified before this Committee in 2002

         15  talked about part of his job was to go out to

         16  colleges and what they did, they provided the

         17  college with equipment, and those college coaches

         18  got contracts with Easton and Louisville Slugger

         19  that dwarfed their actual contract with the

         20  University.

         21                 So, my point being, when I say to all

         22  my colleagues, when I say to the media, follow the

         23  money, the money is rampant in this. It's rampant on

         24  the NCAA level and down.

         25                 You mentioned the bomb bat. Have you
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          2  ever personally used the bomb bat?

          3                 MR. MENECHINO: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And what was

          5  your experience?

          6                 MR. MENECHINO: Yes, I used the bomb

          7  bat when I was in the minor leagues with Oakland

          8  because they couldn't afford to keep supplying

          9  wooden bats for the minor league kids. And a bomb

         10  bat is like a plastic wood composite. It feels like

         11  a wood, it hits like a wood, but it's very hard to

         12  break.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And you think

         14  that a bomb bat or a light, a bat similar to a bomb

         15  bat made by X corporation would be a practical

         16  alternative to a metal bat?

         17                 MR. MENECHINO: Absolutely.

         18                 Or make the aluminum bat the way they

         19  did years ago. I mean, I don't know what type of

         20  aluminum they used, but I know the aluminum was a

         21  lot thicker, and the ball didn't go as far.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay, my last

         23  question.

         24                 So, your lifetime of playing

         25  baseball, from T ball, little league ball, all the
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          2  way up to the major leagues where the best season

          3  was in Oakland?

          4                 MR. MENECHINO: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You had some

          6  pretty good seasons. You've played with metal, of

          7  various incarnations when you played with wood. Is

          8  there any doubt in your mind today regardless of

          9  BESR or not that metal bats are performing better

         10  than a wood standard?

         11                 MR. MENECHINO: No doubt.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I want to thank

         14  the three of you for your testimony. I neglected to

         15  mention earlier that we've been joined by Council

         16  Member DeBlasio, and my neglection had nothing to do

         17  with the fact that you're a Boston Red Sox fan,

         18  though, Bill.

         19                 Especially to Deborah Patch and Jack

         20  Carlson, for the long distance that you came here to

         21  testify and I know that it's got to be

         22  extraordinarily difficult for you to relive the

         23  moments. Something tells me you relive them every

         24  day.

         25                 And I said in my opening statement
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          2  that passion is very, very much part of the analysis

          3  that we have to make here based upon logic and

          4  common sense, available science. You have certainly

          5  provided a great deal of that passion for us today,

          6  and I thank you.

          7                 And Mr. Menechino, I appreciate your

          8  testimony as well. You know, you didn't have to come

          9  down here and do that, but I think that you, in fact

         10  provide for us expert testimony, because I can't

         11  think of anybody who is better qualified to testify

         12  as to the effect and the performance of a baseball

         13  bat and a professional baseball player.

         14                 MR. MENECHINO: You're welcome.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: So, I thank you

         16  all.

         17                 Our next panel, and just in case

         18  you're not following it, we're trying to provide

         19  some balance here, you know, for and against.

         20                 Frederick Mueller, from the

         21  University of North Carolina. Paul Seiler from USA

         22  Baseball. Nick Restaino. Ed Blankmeyer from St.

         23  John's, and Ron Davini, from NYSBCA.

         24                 When you're all ready, just one of

         25  you jump in. Please don't read testimony, but just
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          2  give it to us on the important stuff.

          3                 MR. BLANKMEYER: I believe Paul Seiler

          4  is no longer with us today.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Okay.

          6                 MR. BLANKMEYER: My name is Ed

          7  Blankmeyer.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you for

          9  letting us know that.

         10                 Go ahead, Ed.

         11                 MR. BLANKMEYER: I'm the head baseball

         12  coach at St. John's University. Just a little

         13  background. I've been a college baseball coach since

         14  1979, first at Seton Hall, now at St. John's. I

         15  first want to start out by saying how deeply moved I

         16  was by the Patch's, and I don't ever want to be in

         17  that position, have a kid lost with an incident of a

         18  batted ball. It's tragic. My words, you know,

         19  certainly can't soothe their sorrow.

         20                 I'm here because I put a lot of faith

         21  into the NCAA. Being a college coach for 26 years,

         22  I've been around the game. I've seen several

         23  baseball games at the collegiate level, and as a

         24  recruiter I've dealt with a lot of high school

         25  games. I've witnessed a lot of collegiate games in
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          2  the summer leagues. I've coached several major

          3  leaguers. I certainly wish I had Frank Menechino,

          4  but I think I have the experience in which I've seen

          5  a lot.

          6                 I've also been through the evolution

          7  of the wood bat as a college player in '72 through

          8  '76. Played in the college World Series a couple of

          9  years professionally, and there was an evolution in

         10  the wood bat to the aluminum bat. I did use both in

         11  both levels.

         12                 There has been some change. Yes, it

         13  was I believe at one time pretty high performance,

         14  but as of five years ago, the NCAA, who I believe

         15  are very good people, certainly not self-serving,

         16  and have the students in mind, did research on it.

         17  And, yes, the BESR, I'm not a scientist, I only can

         18  go on what I see, and I have to put my faith in

         19  those people, from the standpoint of protection of

         20  our student athlete.

         21                 I have witnessed a lot of games. You

         22  know, I pray to God that I don't see a tragic

         23  injury, but yet I know the game is dangerous. But I

         24  can't put the emphasis on the bat, okay? Because of

         25  the exit velocity, I truly believe that that's in
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          2  place for the safety of the game, and I'm sure if

          3  the NCA indicated different studies or different

          4  exit velocities, certainly they would pass that on

          5  to our manufacturers.

          6                 I just want to point out a couple of

          7  observations during the course of my collegiate

          8  career.

          9                 I agree with Frank Menechino in the

         10  point that, you know, all coaches like to train with

         11  wood bats, and selfishly our players want to play

         12  professional baseball, and the last I looked they

         13  play with wood bats. So, we train with wood bats.

         14  Our players play in summer leagues with wood bats.

         15  I'm not here to argue the fact whether it's wood or

         16  aluminum, you know. I want to see empirical data

         17  that indicates that the aluminum bat is the sole

         18  factor in injury. And based on what I received in my

         19  career in evaluating, I believe that the product in

         20  place is certainly a good product.

         21                 I also will say if you want to talk

         22  about the principles involve the pitchers, and I

         23  believe everybody saw the incident with Steve

         24  Traxil. Sometimes in this game of baseball, you

         25  know, pitchers put themselves in a position where
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          2  they cannot defend themselves. Whether it's a tennis

          3  racket, a bat, or a wood bat or an aluminum bat,

          4  they put themselves in harm's way. Especially these

          5  power pitchers now-a-days.

          6                 So, I kind of feel reaction time

          7  could be measured, but sometimes some people are not

          8  even able to defend themselves because of the

          9  physical position they're placed in. And there's

         10  just no data, no support based on what I see.

         11                 Injuries. I've seen some. I've had

         12  players hit with baseballs, coming through the box.

         13  It's not a pretty sight. I've seen balls to through

         14  the box at a terrifying rate. Certainly, I can't

         15  tell by vision of the ball coming off the bat. And

         16  any ball to me coming through that box at a rate of

         17  speed, I couldn't tell you whether it's 50 miles an

         18  hour or 100 miles an hour, but I can tell you, it's

         19  pretty darn quick and it's pretty scary. But I tell

         20  you, I've seen more injuries based on collisions

         21  that are created through batted balls, diving for

         22  balls, outfielders running with infielders and those

         23  type of things. So, I get concerned about that as

         24  well. I don't want to see any kid harmed in any way.

         25                 Finally, you know, again, the
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          2  integrity of the game, I believe the game over the

          3  past several years, since the bats were put in the

          4  hands of the NCAA and certified, the game has

          5  stabilized statistically. I don't think it's an

          6  offensive game, I don't think it's a defensive game.

          7  I think it's a pretty competitive game against kids

          8  now-a-days that are getting bigger and stronger and

          9  certainly more talented.

         10                 So, thank you very much. I

         11  appreciate, you know, your concern. And I'm

         12  certainly concerned and I know our people here are

         13  very concerned about the safety of any ball player.

         14                 MR. DAVINI: My name is Ron Davini.

         15  I'm the Executive Director of National High School

         16  Baseball Coach Association. I want you to understand

         17  that I'm not a bat manufacturer. I'm not a

         18  politician. I'm not a Councilman. I'm not a

         19  Committee member. I'm an average Joe. I am a high

         20  school teacher. I'm in the greatest profession in

         21  America.

         22                 I just retired two years ago as a

         23  teacher after 34 years. I'm 59 years old. In 55 of

         24  my years I've played baseball. I've seen two worlds,

         25  the world as player, the world as a coach. As a
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          2  player, all wood. As a coach, all aluminum.

          3                 A little bit of background about

          4  myself. I played Little League, Babe Ruth up the

          5  ranks. Played high school ball. Was good enough to

          6  get a college scholarship. Played at Arizona State

          7  University. Good enough to be the college NBP of the

          8  College World Series in 1967. Chosen as the

          9  collegiate player of the year by the Ohio State

         10  Touchdown Club. Drafted four times, and finally

         11  signed a contract with the Chicago White Sox. My

         12  favorite team, New York Yankees. I was drafted one

         13  time. I'm sorry, New York fans, Met fans, but I was

         14  drafted by the Yankees. I stayed in school and got

         15  my education. I played five years professional, and

         16  then I got smart. I had to make a living. I couldn't

         17  stay in the minor leagues long enough, I had to get

         18  a real job. And I went to a job I love. I teach.

         19                 As a teacher I won a few awards.  I

         20  was teacher of the year. I was voted one of the top

         21  60 teachers in America by Walt Disney. As a coach,

         22  I've won National Coach of the Year by NLB and USA

         23  Baseball. And in 2005 I was the National High School

         24  Baseball Coach of the Year. And then I retired.

         25                 I thought I retired, because somebody
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          2  threw a hook at me and I caught it and now I'm

          3  Assistant Coach now at Chapparal High School in

          4  Scottsdale. Then my colleagues thought, why don't

          5  you take over the National High School Baseball

          6  Coach Association. So, on January 1st, 2005, I

          7  became the Executive Director.

          8                 I run this like a high school

          9  baseball coach. And our organization is about high

         10  school baseball coaches and their players.

         11                 Our first concern is safety. Safety

         12  is our ultimate concern, and we discuss it quite

         13  often. You made mention a little bit earlier about

         14  Jill Swanson from North Dakota. But we had a

         15  convention December of last year in Louisville, and

         16  we had some of the most prominent high school

         17  coaches in America, Ken Schreiber from Indiana. I'm

         18  drawing blanks because I'm nervous as a son of a

         19  gun. Okay, but Joe was part of that discussion where

         20  people from Massachusetts, California, Arizona, and

         21  in that discussion we talked about the safety of

         22  bats. We talked about why we wanted to use wood and

         23  why we wanted to use aluminum. And Joe stated it

         24  wasn't safety that was a factor of him using it. It

         25  was because it was a freedom of choice, his choice.
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          2  And that's what our Association feels. It's a

          3  freedom of choice. Be able to make the choice as

          4  long as it's safe for those kids. As long as it's

          5  safe.

          6                 Now, I've heard all day this morning

          7  people knocking National Federation of High School,

          8  which is our governing body. If we can't trust them,

          9  who can we trust?

         10                 My government tells me this, I

         11  believe in my government. I listen to them. They're

         12  not going to lead me astray. The National Federation

         13  says we are going to make things safe. BESR will

         14  minus three right on down the line.

         15                 Let me back up just a minute. If I

         16  were to stress three things to you, they would be in

         17  this order. One, safety. And I pretty much discussed

         18  that. Safety is an issue. We think that the NFHSC is

         19  correct. They tell us it's correct. Who are we

         20  supposed to believe? I'm not chasing weapons of mass

         21  destruction. I'm not trying to invent them. I'm

         22  listening what they have to say and I'm doing the

         23  facts, the truths, that I believe are a part of what

         24  my soul tells me to do.

         25                 The second thing is cost. And I've
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          2  heard a lot of stories about cost. Aluminum bats run

          3  between 150, 200 dollars. That's pretty expensive.

          4  Wooden bats run between 50 and 60 dollars. We're

          5  talking about good wood, not something you get off

          6  the counter, but good wood we can actually use.

          7                 Now, there is a difference in price,

          8  but the other factor that you have to put in there

          9  is durability. How long would a wooden bat last? One

         10  swing? One game? One week? One month? It's not going

         11  to last a season, you're going to break it.

         12                 You heard the gentleman talked about

         13  he went to the bomb bat because the company wouldn't

         14  buy any more bats for him. They're expensive. I just

         15  got back. I was coaching the USA Junior National

         16  Trials, the team that was 18 and under, representing

         17  the United States, I was a part of those trials.

         18                 And in those trials, we broke between

         19  2.5, three bats a day. In seven days we broke 16

         20  bats. Do the math, 60 times 16, almost $900. The

         21  lifespan of an aluminum bat, two, three, maybe four

         22  years. If you take care of them. Then why do they

         23  buy bats every year? Why do you buy a new car every

         24  year? It's new. It's prettier. Excuse me, you buy a

         25  car every year, you know, you probably have the same
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          2  amount of money I have, none. But it's new. That's

          3  why they buy them. So you could make a bat last. One

          4  bat can, if it's a 34 ounce bat, can handle all the

          5  kids with 34, 33, kids with 33. But in wood, you

          6  have to buy the bat. If it breaks, what are you

          7  going to do?

          8                 If you're going to make the decision,

          9  take into the fact safety, cost and durability.

         10                 At our high school level we live by

         11  our principles, we live by what we're associated

         12  with.

         13                 MR. RESTAINO: My name is Nick

         14  Restaino. I'm the Head Baseball Coach at Fordham

         15  University here in New York, and I'd just like to

         16  state that currently in my opinion we do not have a

         17  safety issue at the college level, with the use of

         18  aluminum bats in a baseball games.

         19                 DR. MUELLER: My name is Fred Mueller,

         20  and I'm a Professor at the University of North

         21  Carolina, Chapel Hill, Director of the National

         22  Center for Catastrophic Sports Injury Research. By

         23  catastrophic, I'm talking about deaths, permanent

         24  disability injuries, paralysis, brain injury, or

         25  serious injury. A serious injury is a head and neck
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          2  injury where the individual recovers from that

          3  injury.

          4                 I am also a member of the USA

          5  Baseball Safety Advisory Committee, USA LaCross

          6  Safety Committee, and was the Chair of the NCAA

          7  Safety Committee. And the reason that all of these

          8  committees have started, these safety committees, is

          9  that there has been no data. They make important

         10  decisions about rules and equipment, and there has

         11  been no data for them to make these important

         12  decisions.

         13                 When I was with the NCAA, they were

         14  asked to make a decision on a rule or a piece of

         15  equipment that had no data. So, in 1982, the NCAA

         16  initiated a data collection system to collect injury

         17  data, which they could make their decisions.

         18                 I think you have a copy of my

         19  statement, and I would just like to mention a couple

         20  of things about the state of the baseball injuries

         21  at this time. And all I'm giving you is factual

         22  information.

         23                 In a ten-year study of Little League

         24  Baseball from '87 through '96, the authors found

         25  5,882 batted ball injuries. Five-thousand
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          2  eight-hundred and eighty-two. Two-thousand

          3  one-hundred and forty-two were outfielders, 2,135 to

          4  infielders, and 1,022 to pitchers.

          5                 Now, during that ten-year period of

          6  time there were 17 million participants in that

          7  little league baseball. The batted ball injury rate

          8  was 3.4 injuries per 10,000 participants. There are

          9  also 13 fatalities during that ten-year period of

         10  time, and one of those was from a batted ball.

         11                 Now, as a member of the USA Baseball

         12  Medical and Safety Advisory Committee, we also

         13  looked at catastrophic injuries from the

         14  organizations associated with USA baseball which was

         15  from youth baseball, all the way through NCAA

         16  baseball. And I don't want to mention the word

         17  "insignificant," because I know there's not any

         18  injuries that are insignificant. But I'm telling you

         19  right now what the numbers are. The numbers are low.

         20  And when you look at the overall injury rate of 0.11

         21  catastrophic injuries, death, permanent disability,

         22  serious injury, full recovery, per 100,000

         23  participants, and one catastrophic injury for every

         24  1 million participants. And I know if that one

         25  injury is to Councilman Oddo's son, it's not an
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          2  insignificant injury. I realize that. I also collect

          3  data on football injuries, and they come across my

          4  desk every day. And every day I have to read those

          5  articles about those injuries. And I don't feel good

          6  about any of them. But I'm collecting the data, and

          7  the data is important for the people making

          8  decisions on rules and equipment to look at the

          9  data.

         10                 The National Center for Catastrophic

         11  Sports Injury Research, which I'm the Director at

         12  the University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill,

         13  collects catastrophic injury data for high schools

         14  and colleges across the country. We started at 1982.

         15  We've collected football data since 1931. I've been

         16  accused of starting it in 1931, but it actually

         17  wasn't me.

         18                 The football data decreased the

         19  number of football deaths from 36 deaths in 1968 to

         20  zero deaths in 1990. That was from the collection of

         21  data and recommendations on the data.

         22                 So, the National Center for

         23  Catastrophic Sports Injury Research collected

         24  baseball injury data from '82, '82, 2003, 2004.

         25  College pitchers, four catastrophic batted ball
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          2  injuries, one permanent disability injury, and three

          3  recovery injury and during that time 500,000

          4  participants.

          5                 High school pitchers, 11 catastrophic

          6  batted ball injuries, four disability, permanent

          7  disability injuries, five recovery and two were

          8  unknown.

          9                 During that period of time there were

         10  9 million participants.

         11                 Now, we talked before that people

         12  were concerned that looking at batted ball injuries

         13  from a wood bat, batted ball injuries from the metal

         14  bat. There has been no studies looking at the

         15  difference between the metal and the wood bat, by

         16  looking at injury data.

         17                 When the injury data started being

         18  collected it was after the metal bat has been used.

         19  Nobody is using the wood bats anymore.

         20                 There is a study going on now looking

         21  at NCAA batted ball injuries to the pitchers from

         22  line drives. It's in our second year of the study,

         23  comparing that to summer NCAA wood bat leagues like

         24  Cape Cod and other leagues around the country, all

         25  the way to the
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          2  Alaska League, Seattle, but we're in the middle of

          3  that right now. And the number of injuries are small

          4  when you think about the batted ball injuries to the

          5  pitcher.

          6                 It's interesting that there were more

          7  injuries to the pitcher. I'm talking for two years

          8  now, approximately 32 injuries. There were more

          9  injuries to the pitcher with the metal bat, but the

         10  injuries to the pitcher were more severe or more

         11  significant to the pitchers from the wood bat.

         12                 Again, it's only been two years, and

         13  you can't do a real good injury study with two years

         14  of data to make good recommendations. It's going to

         15  be a three-year study. Next year will be our final

         16  of the three years, and it's the only study that I

         17  know of, and I'd appreciate it if you could point me

         18  to another study comparing wood bats and metal bats.

         19  But this is looking at metal bats used by the NCAA

         20  during their season, wood bats summer league,

         21  college players. So, they're both college players,

         22  using metal and wood.

         23                 I think you really have to be careful

         24  if you're making decisions based on anecdotal data

         25  and not looking at the data to see what the

                                                            140

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  situation is. And I appreciate your having me here

          3  and I appreciate your allowing me to testify.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 MR. DAVINI: Can I insert one more

          6  thing, sir?

          7                 I get so carried away. I do get very

          8  emotional and I apologize for that. But I was asked

          9  by the high school coaches of New York to represent

         10  them. And I received two letters, one from Steve

         11  Mandl from George Washington, one from Dennis Canale

         12  from Xaverian, and both of them could not be here

         13  today because they're doing what most high school

         14  people have to do. They have to teach, they have to

         15  work. But in Dennis's letter, he states he opposes

         16  this bill. As a matter of fact, of the Catholic

         17  Schools he's dealt with, 20 out of 21 oppose this

         18  bill. According to Steve Mandl from George

         19  Washington, he says I've had four players who have

         20  made it to the major league, and they have never in

         21  their careers had any chance of being injured by a

         22  metal bat. He's had some close calls with broken

         23  bats from wood, come flying when they used them in

         24  practice, but they're all in --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: We have both
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          2  letters and they'll be made part of the record as

          3  well.

          4                 MR. DAVINI: I just wanted to make

          5  sure.

          6                 Thank you, sir.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Dr. Mueller,

          8  thank you for coming. I just want to be sure I heard

          9  you correctly, that in the first two years of this

         10  study, more injuries have happened off of metal bats

         11  than wooden bats; is that correct?

         12                 DR. MUELLER: That's correct.  The

         13  number of injuries were, we had 16 the first year,

         14  and 16 or 17 the second year; that's correct.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: So that's metal

         16  to wood?

         17                 MR. MUELLER: Yes, sir.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Okay, I just

         19  wanted to make sure I heard that correctly.

         20                 The question I guess I have for the

         21  coaches is why do you prefer, if you could, you

         22  know, put it into one sentence, each of you, you

         23  know because you haven't said it but it's an

         24  inference that one has to draw from your testimony,

         25  that you prefer metal bats to wood; why? Give me the
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          2  most salient reason.

          3                 MR. DAVINI: I don't think I really

          4  said which one I preferred. I said I had the best of

          5  two worlds.

          6                 If I had to prefer, I'd like to go

          7  back to the old way. But you know what? I'm a

          8  realist. I can't afford to go back to the real way.

          9  I have to put the object in the hands of the

         10  individuals.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: So, for you, the

         12  most salient reason is cost?

         13                 MR. DAVINI: Safety first. Safety

         14  first, and then cost, sir.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: You don't prefer

         16  metal to wood; is that what you're saying? You just

         17  want the choice?

         18                 MR. DAVINI: I want a freedom of

         19  choice. That's all we're asking for. Let us make

         20  that choice, as long as they're certified that

         21  they're safe. That's all we're asking for.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: The other

         23  coaches, do you agree with that? Or do you have a

         24  preference?

         25                 MR. BLANKMEYER: I prefer wood as
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          2  well, okay?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Why?

          4                 MR. BLANKMEYER: Why? Baseball was

          5  played with wood, but aluminum bats were used and my

          6  issue, we're discussing here safety as a reason, and

          7  until I find conclusive evidence, why not use

          8  aluminum as well?

          9                 But you're asking me traditionally?

         10  I'm a baseball player. I grew up with wooden. I like

         11  to use wood.

         12                 MR. RESTAINO: Again, in my opinion,

         13  we're an NCAA member affiliate school Division 1,

         14  and we use aluminum bats dictated by our governing

         15  authority, and they have deemed the bats to be safe.

         16  There has been a lot of talk about the BESR today,

         17  and I don't think people really understand that. But

         18  there is a definite change of when we put the BESR,

         19  in my opinion, to the exit velocity of the baseball.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: But, coach,

         21  you're not answering the question I asked.

         22                 What's your preference?

         23                 MR. RESTAINO: Oh. My preference is to

         24  play on a grass field. We got a tremendous donation

         25  and have a brand new facility that's turf. Now I
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          2  love turf, you know, because it provides us with an

          3  opportunity to be very competitive in what could be

          4  a non-competitive northeast in national baseball,

          5  and that's what we're, the game that we're in, in

          6  the national game.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: We're supposed to

          8  be the politicians up here. So, can I ask for a

          9  direct answer. Do you prefer wood or metal bats?

         10                 MR. RESTAINO: In what capacity? If I

         11  was hitting the ball myself?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: No. In your

         13  capacity as a coach. If the NCAA did not proscribe

         14  for you, which would you rather your league play

         15  with, metal or wood?

         16                 MR. RESTAINO: You know, there isn't a

         17  direct answer to that question. It's great to play

         18  with wood bats, but it's not practical.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: And why is it not

         20  practical?

         21                 MR. RESTAINO: Well, there's many

         22  reasons, and I think we could go on for a long time.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Well, give me the

         24  top two.

         25                 MR. RESTAINO: Well, first of all,
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          2  they're not being used. Number one.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: That kind of begs

          4  the question.

          5                 MR. RESTAINO: Number two, cost

          6  prohibitive. I think that if they're safe they're

          7  the way to go for the cost reason. Because, in our

          8  instance, we probably couldn't afford the same kind

          9  of wood that would be granted to some of the teams

         10  we're trying to compete with. It's just that simple.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I wonder, you

         12  know, in the world of the facts that we're dealing

         13  with, if we attached the consumer price index to the

         14  cost of the wooden bats from the time that we all

         15  grew up and used them, whether or not the increase

         16  in their cost has exceeded that of inflation. I just

         17  wonder how it was that we all grew up using wooden

         18  bats but now they're cost prohibitive. There's

         19  something, you know, and especially college sports.

         20                 Anecdotally, my son is an Ithica

         21  College student in a sports management program. They

         22  have spent a semester of his life talking about the

         23  big money involved in college sports. And so, it

         24  just amazes me that wooden bats would be cost

         25  prohibitive in that world today. I just find that
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          2  hard to believe. And, you know, each one of you has

          3  said, if safe, if safe; do any of you have any

          4  doubts that wooden bats are safe?

          5                 MR. RESTAINO: There's inherent risk

          6  with wood bats as well.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: There's an

          8  inherent risk in every aspect of sport. There's

          9  inherent risk in rowing, you'll pull a muscle. You

         10  know, your boat will sink. You know, let's not get

         11  silly here.

         12                 You grew up using wooden bats. Are

         13  they safe?

         14                 MR. RESTAINO: I grew up using

         15  aluminum bats. I'm a little bit younger than some of

         16  these guys.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I'm sorry, I

         18  didn't mean to age you.

         19                 MR. RESTAINO: You know, I think part

         20  of the answer to the question, which you're looking

         21  for, is the user of the bats have changed. You

         22  should see the size of some of these guys

         23  now-a-days, and how hard they're throwing. That has

         24  to be factored into the equation.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: No question. No
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          2  question. And when you have a bat that is moving

          3  through the zone more quickly with someone who is

          4  bigger and stronger, that just magnifies the point

          5  now, doesn't it?

          6                 MR. RESTAINO: No, because they don't

          7  have the skill to hit the ball. You know, I've got

          8  plenty of big guys.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I know that, and

         10  we can talk about steroids now, too. I mean, you can

         11  be big and bulky and if you miss the pitch, it's not

         12  going any further. But, you know, we're talking

         13  about people who are going to hit the ball, and

         14  certainly when the bat is lighter, and moving

         15  through the zone more adaptably, you're going to hit

         16  the ball more too.

         17                 So, you know, that's kind of

         18  circular, don't you think? I mean, is there any

         19  doubt in your mind that a metal bat which is lighter

         20  moves through the batting zone faster? Any of you

         21  want to volunteer on that?

         22                 MR. DAVINI: I think you can get the

         23  bat head of an aluminum bat to the point of contact

         24  probably quicker, because the wooden bat is a little

         25  bit more top heavy.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: So, coach, isn't

          3  that just a baseball speak of answering yes to my

          4  question?

          5                 MR. DAVINI: No, if you let me finish,

          6  I can answer it.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Oh, I thought you

          8  were. I'm sorry.

          9                 MR. DAVINI: No, I'm not.

         10                 At the point of contact, once you

         11  make contact with a force coming opposite, the

         12  aluminum bat now has to hit. It doesn't have what

         13  the wooden bat has with the head, which is heavier,

         14  that can come through and blow it away, make

         15  contact.

         16                 An aluminum bat will make contact,

         17  and if the force is greater, it will give and then

         18  the ball doesn't come off as quick. This is just my

         19  own preference from swinging a bat. I mean, I've

         20  swung in practice aluminum and wood.

         21                 Once the bat head gets the motion of

         22  a heavier bat, it goes through quicker.

         23                 A lighter bat will get through, but

         24  it will have enough power to continue the force,

         25  which is called inertia, or whatever you want to
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          2  call it, force of impact.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: So, coach, let me

          4  be clear: you don't think the ball comes off an

          5  aluminum bat faster?

          6                 MR. DAVINI: No.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: You don't believe

          8  that?

          9                 MR. DAVINI: No, I don't believe so,

         10  sir, because the minus three law, the bats are

         11  equal.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Well, you would

         13  be the first person to testify to that.

         14                 MR. DAVINI: It's my own personal

         15  opinion.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: And I respect

         17  that.

         18                 All right, it's just intrinsically

         19  illogical to me. It's just intrinsically illogical.

         20  A bat moving through the zone faster, the ball

         21  coming, there's a trampoline effect, as well, on

         22  metal bats that a wooden bat couldn't possibly have

         23  because it's solid to the core.

         24                 What are cork bats illegal?

         25                 MR. DAVINI: It's a good question.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I mean, it's a

          3  good question. You don't think that a cork bat

          4  should be illegal?

          5                 MR. DAVINI: Oh, of course. I mean,

          6  any time you add a substance to something.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Yes. But what is

          8  it about a cork bat that makes it unfair, outside of

          9  the fact that it's against the rules. Why is it

         10  against the rules, because it is unfair; why?

         11                 MR. DAVINI: Well, in the old days,

         12  when I was a kid, and I will never say I used an

         13  illegal bat.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I'm sure you're

         15  not. And the statute of limitations I'm sure long

         16  has since passed.

         17                 MR. DAVINI: Okay. But I remember in

         18  my younger years when I played in the Basin League

         19  (phonetic), we had a coach that would drop weight

         20  off a bat of a kid by corking him. And his old

         21  saying was "Find me a bat that's very heavy, and

         22  I'll make it feel the way you want it to feel."

         23  Which you still had the solid mass but he took the

         24  weight away from us so you could get through the

         25  zone quicker.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Took the weight

          3  away from it and it went through the zone quicker?

          4                 MR. DAVINI: It wasn't as heavy.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I submit to you

          6  that that's kind of the answer to my other question,

          7  as well. You take the weight away from it, and it

          8  moves through the zone quicker.

          9                 I'm going to let Councilman Oddo have

         10  at you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you,

         12  gentlemen, for coming down, and let me just say to

         13  Mr. Davini, don't be nervous.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: He only bites on

         15  Tuesdays.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: No, I appreciate

         17  you guys coming down here and, you know, our passion

         18  for this issue shouldn't be taken by you as anything

         19  personal. This is not personal towards any of you. I

         20  could probably say that for most of the people in

         21  the back, most not all.

         22                 But I find some of the testimony

         23  pretty interesting. First, let me just say as some

         24  housekeeping. The Xaverian letter, the two points

         25  that Coach Canale makes that college coaches would
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          2  be unable to make a fair assessment on high school

          3  players performance, and passing a bill would have

          4  an impact on our students attending New York City

          5  colleges, if they were restricted to using wooden

          6  bats. We have testimony from other coaches that we

          7  put into the record that's in contradiction to it.

          8  So, I think that issue is, at the very least, is up

          9  in the air.

         10                 To the coach from my alma mater, and

         11  I have to tell you, when I found out that you were

         12  testifying, Coach, it killed me as a Fordham College

         13  grad in 1988. I hate to be on the other side of you.

         14  But your last point about look at the size of the

         15  kids. It's a common theme we hear, it's anything but

         16  the bat.

         17                 We heard Scott Bradley, that great

         18  career 257 hitter testify at New Jersey and say it's

         19  the batter's eye, it's the background. We heard red

         20  herrings about the ball. It's everything but the

         21  bat. And I think your point about kids having

         22  evolved, have you seen the size of these kids? Yes,

         23  I think kids have evolved assentive creatine and

         24  other non-Mark McGuire andro-related supplements,

         25  kids are bigger and stronger and weightlifting today
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          2  is much more prominent.

          3                 But, you know, it started out with

          4  7046, which turned into CU31, which turned into

          5  C405, C405 plus, C405 ultra, Kaisers SC500 Scandium,

          6  Alco (phonetic) is 500 Scandium. SC77, SC888, SC900.

          7  And, so, the bats have evolved as well.

          8                 Now, a lot of those bats would be

          9  illegal today, but getting to my friend from St.

         10  John, the Coach, the issue is not the metal bats of

         11  today versus the metal bats of yesterday. The issue

         12  is the metal bats of today versus a wood standard.

         13  In anything above the wood standard is supposed to

         14  be illegal and unacceptable.

         15                 The aforementioned Jim Sherwood, who,

         16  again, his comments frankly cut Mr. Ettinger's way

         17  and cut my way, depending on what quote you want to

         18  take from them. But the one thing that I think is

         19  not disputed, and he stated this, that if wood bats

         20  are considered the safe level of play, and it is

         21  difficult to defend from a safety point of view, any

         22  level of performance above that of comparable wood.

         23  That's the issue for us.

         24                 You're right, and Frank Menechino was

         25  right and Coach was right, that's in the 95 series,
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          2  the 96 series aren't the bats used today. But that's

          3  not the issue. The issue for us is do these metal

          4  bats today, in fact, play like wood bats. Our

          5  assertion and the assertion of many other people is

          6  that they do not because the protocols and the

          7  testing put in place were compromised.

          8                 And, so, Mr. Ettinger and the

          9  industry will assert something, and he does it very

         10  effectively and very persuasively. We have a

         11  countering view.

         12                 I don't think there is anybody out

         13  there who could say definitively that Ettinger is

         14  right and Oddo is wrong, or Oddo is right and

         15  Ettinger is wrong. So, we're left with doing what we

         16  think is the right thing. And in that vacuum of

         17  definitive analysis of what is safe and what is not

         18  safe, we are going to choose to err on the side of

         19  the kids.

         20                 And I think, Coach, with all due

         21  respect, not you the other coach, this notion of

         22  freedom of choice, come on, that's bogus. You put a

         23  wooden bat and a metal bat, it's ingrained in kids,

         24  it's ingrained in young men. Look at Baseball

         25  America, look at how much money Louisville Slugger
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          2  spends on showing that the last five championships

          3  and the World Series came with one of their

          4  products. It's ingrained in young people today. It's

          5  part of the culture today to use metal bats. So,

          6  this notion about freedom of choice, I think really

          7  is bogus.

          8                 MR. DAVINI: Sir?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes, sir?

         10                 MR. DAVINI: How much time have you

         11  spent with young men coaching?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, I'll tell

         13  you what, when you go out and spend -- raise

         14  $150,000, spend, win an election and sit on this

         15  side of the table, then you can ask me questions.

         16  Until that time, I'll ask the questions, first of

         17  all.

         18                 Second of all, I don't proclaim to

         19  know more about this issue than every other person

         20  on the planet, but I have spent five years

         21  researching it, and I do know a lot. And more

         22  importantly, I've spoken to people who have a

         23  differing point of view than the industry who are as

         24  knowledgeable as any of you up there and probably

         25  more knowledgeable about the construction of the
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          2  bat. That's where I derive my ability to speak on

          3  this with some knowledge.

          4                 MR. DAVINI: And I, too, spent 35

          5  years with kids everybody on a field. I watch 'em

          6  hit, I watch practice, I watch them succeed, I watch

          7  them fail. And if you go to any showcase, you ask a

          8  kid what you're going to use, he'll have two or

          9  three metal and two or three wood. He just wants to

         10  swing the bat. That's all he wants to do. He wants

         11  to play our game.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Coach, I have to

         13  tell you, again, we all bring something to the

         14  table. I have two kids who were baseball freaks, and

         15  we were talking about this hearing today, and I

         16  mentioned the point about, well, the ball comes off

         17  a metal bat faster and farther, and you know what my

         18  older son's quote was? "yeah, duh."

         19                 I mean, they know it. They play the

         20  game and they know it. The ball comes off the

         21  aluminum bats faster and farther, that's why they

         22  prefer to use it. And I think that should be

         23  painfully obvious to you, sir, since you deal with

         24  kids so frequently.

         25                 I prefer when I'm batting to hit the
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          2  ball faster and farther. So do the kids.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Coach, I had

          4  occasion to go to the website of the National High

          5  School Baseball Association,

          6  www.baseballcoaches.org. And the first thing that

          7  struck me was the tiger and the picture outside

          8  Coamerica Park (phonetic), and I thought maybe that

          9  was an omen about the tigers.

         10                 But the other thing that struck me

         11  immediately, and I have a copy of it here, is your

         12  sponsors, and next to your sponsors prominently

         13  featured were Easton and Louisville Slugger. And on

         14  your website it says the National High School

         15  Coaches Association is grateful for the sponsorship

         16  for several companies. Their support and commitment

         17  to BCA and amateur baseball are instrumental to the

         18  Association, providing several programs for his

         19  membership.

         20                 Do you see my concern about the

         21  coaches, High School Baseball Coaches Association?

         22  Their relationship with the bat industry is a very

         23  close one, and that troubles me.

         24                 I also pulled off the Internet this

         25  wonderful picture of you, Coach, and I have to tell
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          2  you, you look great with a wooden bat in your hand.

          3  You really do. With a USA baseball hat.

          4                 I also pulled off the Internet a copy

          5  of Saturday, April 19, 2003, Arizona Republic, where

          6  you said basically in print what you just said

          7  before. That "I'm an old school coach," Said Ron

          8  Davini, the Arizona Baseball Coaches Association

          9  President, and Tempe Corona Delsol Coach, "my stance

         10  is that I would like to see the wood in the high

         11  schools. Wood bats teach kids how to hit." That's

         12  how you truly feel, right, Coach?

         13                 MR. DAVINI: Would you finish that?

         14  Would you finish reading what I said?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: That's the only

         16  quote attributed to you in the article.

         17                 MR. DAVINI: Also what is not

         18  mentioned is that I'm also a realist, I can't afford

         19  to use that --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay, and we

         21  appreciate that. As we said from our opening

         22  statement throughout this, we understand the

         23  allegations and the concerns about cost, and we're

         24  ready to address it.

         25                 I do differ with you gentlemen about
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          2  the durability of the metal bats. This notion about

          3  having bats last two to four years, the reality is

          4  there are parents out there and kids buying new

          5  bats, new metal bats, spending the 250 and $300

          6  every year. For whatever their reasons, Coach. Do

          7  you think they want a prettier bat? Maybe because

          8  every year there seems to be a new incarnation.

          9  Those folks in R&D at Easton, Louisville really earn

         10  their money.

         11                 So, this notion about you buy one bat

         12  it lasts forever is bogus.

         13                 In 1976, I was nine years old playing

         14  on Buddy Cusak Field with an aluminum bat, okay? And

         15  my dad drove over that bat 16 times in the garage. I

         16  picked it out from under the tire and I went and I

         17  hit.

         18                 You know that today's aluminum bats

         19  are not billed for endurance. They're built to

         20  perform. I have parents come up to me, 12-year-old

         21  kids, and say, I bought a bat for my son, every kid

         22  on the team uses the bat, it's a great bat. By

         23  three-quarters of the year the bat peaks and then it

         24  dies. And that's the reality, and next year that

         25  parent is buying a bat.

                                                            160

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2                 But this issue of the National High

          3  School Federation. I do have concerns about them

          4  because there seems to be a history there that they

          5  either were naive at some points, looked the other

          6  way or simply didn't do the right thing. And I'll

          7  just put in the record, I don't think we did it the

          8  last time, Mr. Chairman. Consumer Product Safety

          9  Commission petition submitted by Mr. Jack McKay, I

         10  don't take everything in this as gospel, but there

         11  is certain aspects of this and they're footnoted and

         12  they're highlighted and we can do the research to

         13  see if it actually happened. But it talks about the

         14  National High School Federation.

         15                 In November of 1993, the NCAA and the

         16  High School Federation told bat manufacturers not to

         17  increase the performance of aluminum bats, but the

         18  manufacturers had agreed not to, but then Easton,

         19  Worth and Louisville Slugger had a contract with

         20  Alcoha to produce C405. You had, on September 21st,

         21  1995, the National Federation of High School advised

         22  the Sporting Good Manufacturers that C405 bats would

         23  not be allowed in high schools, unless they met the

         24  1994 performance levels in the interim bat test.

         25  Which was the BPF test which was Brant test
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          2  (phonetic), which was a softball bat test, which

          3  later proved to be not an effective measure in

          4  measuring exit speed.

          5                 The High School Federation didn't

          6  know that the BPF test was not applicable to

          7  baseball bats.

          8                 You go to July 14th, 1998, there's a

          9  transcript of this big baseball summit. High School

         10  Federation Committee expressed the desire to

         11  implement a maximum batted ball exit velocity

         12  standard to control performance to make the game

         13  safer.

         14                 But then you fastforward, that was

         15  July 14th, 1998, then you fastforward to January of

         16  2000, the High School Federation Board of Directors

         17  approved a new bat rule for the 2001 season that

         18  included only the size and weight restrictions. The

         19  Board chose to defer action on the recommendation

         20  for maximum exit ball speed standard and a wood-like

         21  moment of inertia.

         22                 I submitted it in the record, it's

         23  there. They're assertions. I swear that this is the

         24  gospel note, but it raises enough doubt for me. It

         25  gives me the rational basis to believe that we have
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          2  an issue here, and we should pass legislation.

          3                 I don't. You guys trust the NCAA, and

          4  the National High School Federation, I don't. I'm

          5  not willing to trust the safety and the health and

          6  the well-being of young people on institutions that

          7  I think are like this with the bat manufacturers and

          8  haven't done the right thing.

          9                 Coach, let me ask you a question. You

         10  say you trust the NCAA; how familiar are you with

         11  the lead up to the protocols being passed in

         12  September of 1999 that put in the rules that were

         13  extrapolated down for the High School Federations,

         14  and have subsequently been changed in some part, but

         15  the fundamental protocol that was established in '99

         16  that the NCAA put --

         17                 MR. DAVINI: To change the bat?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes.

         19                 MR. DAVINI: Exit velocity?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Are you familiar

         21  with -- do you have the minutes to the meetings?

         22                 MR. DAVINI: I have not read the

         23  minutes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I have. And,

         25  again, we made this part of the record, I'll mail it
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          2  to you. There is enough assertions in this

          3  documentation that makes you scratch your head. And

          4  the NCAA was in the middle of a lawsuit with Easton

          5  at the time, and you know what? Do you know the

          6  exact date that the NCAA announced the protocol?

          7                 MR. DAVINI: No, I don't.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I think it's

          9  September 27th, 1999.

         10                 You know why that date is familiar to

         11  me? Because that's the same date that Easton

         12  announced the settlement on their lawsuit.

         13                 I think that the bat manufacturers

         14  are up to their eyeballs in this protocol. I think

         15  the protocol is compromised and manipulated, and I

         16  don't trust it. And if you do, that's your free

         17  choice, I respect it, Coach. I respect what you do.

         18  I come at it from a different point of view. There

         19  is enough there to me to think that something is not

         20  right. I'm not the brightest guy in the world, but I

         21  can connect some dots, and I can see money and money

         22  is throughout this process, and I'm not willing to

         23  trust it. And that's why we attack this issue

         24  passionately, that's why we believe we're on solid

         25  ground to pass a bill, and we think, the Councilman,
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          2  the Chairman likes to call it an experiment. We

          3  differ on who this should apply to. We have a more

          4  narrowly tailored bill, he calls it an experiment.

          5  We're going to put this bill in place and we're

          6  going to see what it means in the real world.

          7                 After that rant is over, let me see

          8  if there is anything else I want to rant about.

          9                 Yes, Dr. Mueller. Dr. Mueller, how

         10  can I forget? Dr. Mueller?

         11                 DR. MUELLER: Yes, sir.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: When Jack

         13  Carlson asked you how you accumulate your injuries,

         14  your injury data, via e-mail, is it accurate to say

         15  that you said working with national organizations

         16  and national newspaper clipping service, colleagues

         17  from around the country and calls from newspaper

         18  reporters?

         19                 DR. MUELLER: Correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay. So, the

         21  national organizations, I assume you mean little

         22  league baseball, High School Federation and the

         23  NCAA?

         24                 DR. MUELLER: Well, the National

         25  Federation has offices in each state, and each state
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          2  is responsible for getting the information to me

          3  from their particular state.

          4                 And then also, as you mentioned,

          5  working with the youth leagues.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Do you think

          7  that's an exhaustive and accurate of the injuries

          8  today?

          9                 DR. MUELLER: When you talk about

         10  catastrophic injuries I'm thinking yes. Because

         11  catastrophic injuries, I'm talking about deaths,

         12  permanent disability injuries and really the serious

         13  injuries.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Now, just as --

         15  okay, I'm sorry.

         16                 DR. MUELLER: But we're getting those

         17  injuries. We're not getting the every day type of

         18  injuries, sprains and strains, which we're not

         19  looking for.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I think we put

         21  this on the record the last time, just as an

         22  example. I believe, and we have plenty I think

         23  testimony the last hearing, I think the NCAA system,

         24  the surveillance system, is flawed. And I think that

         25  we put on the record the last time, you've heard of
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          2  Ryan Mills?

          3                 DR. MUELLER: No.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: No. Ryan Mills

          5  was a pitcher at Arizona State that was hit, and he

          6  had two injuries, neither at the time, neither was

          7  recorded by the NCAA surveillance system. I think

          8  it's a flawed system. I don't think it accurately

          9  depicts what's out there.

         10                 DR. MUELLER: Do you know of any other

         11  data that's available?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: No. And that's

         13  my frustration, Doc. I would love to see the federal

         14  government actually do it exhaustively. Not what the

         15  US Consumer Product Safety Commission did, a real --

         16                 DR. MUELLER: Okay.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And I think if a

         18  congressional committee, the Commerce Committee, or

         19  one of the House Committees actually investigated,

         20  that I would have more faith in the system that I

         21  believe of relying on people who I believe have a

         22  vested interest in not making that data available.

         23                 DR. MUELLER: You're not saying that I

         24  have a vested interest? Are you?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I'm talking
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          2  about the NCAA and the high school at this point.

          3  Your vested interest? I respect your work. But let

          4  me ask you, you recently testified in Boston.

          5                 DR. MUELLER: Yes, sir.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You flew out to

          7  Boston.

          8                 DR. MUELLER: Yes, sir.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Who paid for

         10  that flight?

         11                 DR. MUELLER: The

         12  sporting good manufacturers.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The sporting

         14  good manufacturers.

         15                 DR. MUELLER: Yes, sir.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And you've

         17  flown, you've testified at several --

         18                 DR. MUELLER: I was here originally

         19  when you -- four years ago.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Right. And you

         21  flew in from where?

         22                 DR. MUELLER: North Carolina.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Right. And who

         24  paid for this go around?

         25                 DR. MUELLER: Same people.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The Sporting

          3  Good Manufacturers Association?

          4                 DR. MUELLER: Right.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And you are,

          6  just so the record is clear, a doctor. You have a BA

          7  in Education, a Masters in Education and a PhD in

          8  Education?

          9                 DR. MUELLER: Correct. That's correct.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And just so the

         11  record is clear, the injury data that you have is

         12  based on brain and/or spinal cord injuries?

         13                 DR. MUELLER: Most of the data we have

         14  are head and spinal cord and brain injuries, but

         15  that's where deaths are taking place.

         16                 There are commodial cordis (phonetic)

         17  injuries.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you.

         19                 DR. MUELLER: Yes, right. But the data

         20  shows that it's not the speed of the ball that is

         21  causing the commodial cordis injuries, and also the

         22  new data shows that chest protectors are not a

         23  factor.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Right.

         25                 DR. MUELLER: Okay.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And I've looked

          3  at the, and I've heard this other work we've done in

          4  this Council is get AEDs, schools, for injuries. So

          5  we have some expertise, some knowledge about

          6  commodial cordis, and I agree with you. But my point

          7  is, the Domelski injury was not to the head or to

          8  the neck, it was commodial cordis; that would not be

          9  counted under your --

         10                 DR. MUELLER: It would be.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: It would be.

         12                 DR. MUELLER: Yes. All deaths, no

         13  matter how they happen --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: He's not a

         15  death, sir.

         16                 DR. MUELLER: All injuries if they're

         17  catastrophic would be counted in my injury database.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Oh. So, even if

         19  it's catastrophic outside of the head and the spinal

         20  cord.

         21                 DR. MUELLER: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay.

         23                 Okay, thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Council Member

         25  DeBlasio.
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          2                 Okay, Council Member DeBlasio passes.

          3  I want to thank you gentlemen for coming to testify

          4  here again.

          5                 And prepare to call our next panel,

          6  that would be John Baggs, Lori Baggs, John G.

          7  O'leary and John Della Volpe.

          8                 And while everyone is being seated, I

          9  have to correct something that Councilman Oddo said.

         10  I have never referred to this bill as an experiment.

         11  I think it would provide data similar to, but I

         12  don't consider this an experiment.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I'm sorry.

         14                 MR. O'LEARY: Okay, I'll speak first.

         15  My name is John O'Leary. I'm an attorney. I

         16  represent the Baggs Family with respect to injuries

         17  that their 12-year-old son sustained this past July

         18  playing a little league baseball game.

         19                 I want to thank Mr. Chairman and Mr.

         20  Oddo and all of the members of the Committee for

         21  allowing us to come talk here today.

         22                 On behalf of the Baggs's family, we

         23  would also like to extend our best wishes to all of

         24  the Domelski family, and Stephen, and wish him the

         25  best possible recovery.
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          2                 I would just like to make a couple of

          3  initial comments. If any of you have any questions

          4  with respect to any practices of the PSAL, please

          5  ask Mr. John Baggs who is here to my left. John is,

          6  as I think Mr. Oddo knows, is a New York City All

          7  Start top-quality pitcher for Tottenville High

          8  School back in the eighties, very familiar with any

          9  of the issues. He'll be the first to tell you about

         10  those members of the teams in the PSAL and who

         11  provides the bats and in fact that all of the kids

         12  provide their own bats. He will tell you about the

         13  pitching speeds of them being a pitcher who pitched

         14  85 to 88 miles an hour himself back in high school.

         15                 Also, I'd like to make a point about

         16  with the Baggs's family and the secondary insurance

         17  claims that was mentioned is that this unfortunate

         18  and tragic incident that befell their son was a very

         19  serious injury, involving a fractured orbit, a

         20  fractured sinus cavity, requiring extensive surgery,

         21  requiring a plate inserted into their son's

         22  forehead, and Mr. Baggs's being a New York City

         23  firefighter and having coverage through GHI, had all

         24  of his claims put through GHI. There would be no

         25  secondary insurance claim put through the little
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          2  league, as far as we know at this point, unless

          3  something changes in the future, that would not be a

          4  statistic that many of these people who came up here

          5  and spoke about gathering their records.

          6                 Also, I would just like to comment on

          7  Mr. Davini's comment of the cost factor between

          8  aluminum bats and wood. And I have to say, again.

          9  Just as a point of logic, anyone being a parent of a

         10  child using aluminum bats through little league or

         11  high school myself, having a son who went through

         12  little league, there is not a season that an

         13  aluminum bat lasts in baseball, whether it be little

         14  league or high school. With the dents that come on

         15  the bats, any child who is competitive, who cares

         16  about playing, which most of them do, is going to be

         17  insisting on getting a new bat. The kids used the

         18  bats in batting practice. They use the bats in the

         19  game, they all incurred dents on them and that's

         20  just not good enough to use by either the coaches or

         21  the players.

         22                 One other point I would like to

         23  comment on and very passionately comment on it, and

         24  it was a comment that your Committee member, Mr.

         25  Gerson, had made, and with all due respect to him, I
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          2  think he said it with the best of intentions, but he

          3  made a comment, stating something like in his

          4  district, all of the little league parents and

          5  coaches, he hadn't heard many complaints from them,

          6  and they all have the best interest of the kids in

          7  mind, and safety, you know, primary, and with all

          8  due respect to that comment, it's not being

          9  realistic. I think all of us have to be realistic to

         10  appreciate that the children are out there, they're

         11  all competitive players, and, yes, they love the

         12  game of baseball, but they want to succeed as best

         13  as possible, and if you give them the choice of

         14  using a wood bat, or an aluminum high-grade bat that

         15  has greater performance, they're going to pick up

         16  the aluminum bat.

         17                 And the coaches that are out there, I

         18  think to a one (sic) do have the best interest and I

         19  have the utmost respect for all of them, and I think

         20  everybody involved in this whole process, whether it

         21  be fore or against the bill is concerned about the

         22  safety of everyone, but I think in the end a lot of

         23  the coaches and parents involved are more concerned,

         24  not more concerned about anything else other than

         25  safety, but they are concerned about the competitive
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          2  nature of the game, and they will turn a deaf ear to

          3  issues regarding safety when they know that aluminum

          4  bats will make their child more competitive, will

          5  give them a better opportunity to perform in high

          6  school to get a college scholarship and who knows

          7  where else they may go.

          8                 And coaches want to get their team

          9  little league to win their district, play their

         10  sectional play and going to the regionals and

         11  Williamsport. And I say to you, members of this

         12  Committee, that you have to be the leaders here. You

         13  have to be the governing body to oversee these

         14  people. You cannot leave it in the hands of the

         15  coaches and the parents who get competitive and want

         16  their child to succeed, want their team to succeed

         17  at almost all costs.

         18                 We appreciate that Councilman Oddo's

         19  proposed legislation does not directly affect the

         20  use of aluminum bats in little league. However, the

         21  concerns regarding the inherent danger of aluminum

         22  bats for little league players are just the same.

         23                 The lawsuit that we have on behalf of

         24  12-year-old John Baggs alleges that little league

         25  baseball has now created additional issues of grave
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          2  concern by increasing the age eligibility of little

          3  league ball players, while allowing the continued

          4  use of these high grade advanced aluminum Alloy bats

          5  without increasing the mere 46 foot distance between

          6  the pitcher's rubber and home plate.

          7                 Our suit alleges that little league

          8  baseball has created a recipe for disaster and a

          9  major ingredient in that recipe is the use of

         10  aluminum bats by these young children.

         11                 What competitive obsession have we

         12  allowed ourselves to be consumed with? We're talking

         13  about children who are 12 years old or younger.

         14  Didn't this all start with the sincere objective of

         15  developing batting, pitching, fielding, throwing and

         16  base-running skills of our young children for

         17  Americans favorite past time? What have we allowed

         18  ourselves to develop into?

         19                 Our suit alleges that little league

         20  baseball is now more interested in out-performing

         21  the reputations of competitive youth baseball

         22  programs such as CalRipken and International Youth

         23  Baseball Programs.

         24                 Little league baseball is now more

         25  interested in developing a larger pool of bigger,
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          2  more dominant players with aluminum bats being newly

          3  developed each year to hit the ball harder and

          4  further. And remember, as we've said here earlier

          5  today, not only do these aluminum bats have greater

          6  trampoline effects, as, again, Mr. Davini clearly

          7  stated about the aluminum bat coming through the

          8  strike zone and the ball increasing into the face of

          9  the aluminum bat and creating a greater trampoline

         10  effect, in fact he defined it himself, they're also

         11  much lighter allowing them to be swung easier and

         12  creating a much faster, and generating a much faster

         13  bat speed.

         14                 It's alleged that these expensive

         15  bats are being marketed as weapons of destruction

         16  and have truly become inherently dangerous. These

         17  bats have been assigned such names as "blasting

         18  cap," "stealth," "wicked." I have my son coming up

         19  to me and asking me, "Dad, let's get this blasting

         20  cap. We could hit this ball a mile."

         21                 These high-performance aluminum bats

         22  are not fit for their intended use.

         23                 We allege that they're being designed

         24  for the sole purpose of gaining a greater market

         25  share in the industry to make more profit for that
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          2  particular bat company.

          3                 In addition to allowing the continued

          4  use of aluminum bats, little league baseball has now

          5  increased the age eligibility of their players, and

          6  these dominant 13-year-old players are using the

          7  most recently developed aluminum bats at a mere

          8  distance of 46 feet from a little league pitcher.

          9                 In fact, the distance from which a

         10  little league pitcher actually releases the ball to

         11  the point at which that ball is struck by a bat is

         12  less than 46 feet. Little league pitchers are left

         13  out on the mound defenseless, with no time to react,

         14  due to the velocity of the ball and the short

         15  distance between the mound and the batter.

         16                 These conditions are not inherent

         17  risk to the game of baseball to be assumed by little

         18  league players. This is creating a scenario that is

         19  inherently dangerous.

         20                 What happened to 12-year-old John

         21  Baggs was not just an accident. We alleged that he

         22  sustained a very serious injury caused by an

         23  inherently dangerous playing condition as a result

         24  of the systemic negligence on behalf of little

         25  league baseball and the aluminum bat industry.

                                                            178

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2                 These little league baseball pitchers

          3  are being subjected to concealed, unassumed and

          4  unreasonably increased risk by requiring them to

          5  pitch to dominant 13-year-old players, using high

          6  grade, high performance aluminum Alloy bats without

          7  increasing the short distance of 46 feet between the

          8  pitcher's mound and home plate.

          9                 Twelve-year-old John Baggs and his

         10  family are very courageous. They are courageous

         11  because they are making a stand for the protection

         12  of other players in the future. It's time for little

         13  league baseball incorporated and the aluminum bat

         14  industry to be courageous.

         15                 Save our children. Protect our

         16  children. And let's get back to the original purpose

         17  of all youth baseball programs, that being to teach

         18  and develop the baseball skills of our youth, not to

         19  see who can hit the ball harder, or who could hit

         20  more home runs. And I ask of this Committee to do

         21  what Mr. Oddo had asked of the PSAL earlier in this

         22  hearing, be a leader, not a follower, lead this

         23  country, not just this City, but lead this country

         24  and our children and our society in this cause to

         25  pass this legislation to keep our kids safe.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 MR. BAGGS: Good afternoon. I'd just

          4  like to tell you a little bit what happened on July

          5  8th. My son was a starting pitcher for the South

          6  Shore Little League All Star Team. It was a team

          7  comprised of the best players in each division on

          8  Staten Island.

          9                 In the first inning, he started

         10  pitching, he was doing well, he had good form, so

         11  everybody says, you know, good mechanics, good form,

         12  be ready to feel the ball.

         13                 I, myself, was a pitcher in little

         14  league high school. I went to West Virginia

         15  University, I pitched in college. So, I passed all

         16  my skills to him prior to myself in fielding.

         17                 That Saturday morning, he got two or

         18  three batters. On the fourth batter, he was struck

         19  by a line drive that I just barely seen the ball

         20  make contact with the bat. I watched it just fall

         21  off his head. The ball didn't ricochet, it didn't

         22  fall very far, it just hit his head and fell.

         23                 He had no time to react whatsoever.

         24  Upon seeing this, I just ran out. As soon as the

         25  ball hit his head, he had a huge indent in his eye.
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          2  His forehead was crushed in. His eye orbit, which is

          3  the strongest bone in the head, was crushed and

          4  pretty severely. It also impacted his front sinus

          5  cavity, which he no longer has.

          6                 Needless to say, play stopped. I went

          7  out. I assisted him. Called an ambulance and took

          8  him to the hospital. Doctors were amazed at how

          9  severe that bone was crushed. And I subjectly feel

         10  that metal bats have a lot to do with it. This

         11  trampoline effect, there is no time for these kids

         12  to react to this ball. If I was out there, I

         13  wouldn't have had time to react to this ball.

         14                 Luckily, everything went well. We're

         15  saying now, today, thank God, you know, he's one of

         16  the lucky ones. He just has a plate in his head.

         17  Thank God for medicine today. He doesn't need more

         18  surgeries. The plate will dissolve within a year's

         19  time. It's going to stay in there for about a year.

         20                 We just don't want other kids to be

         21  subjected to this. I know this is a high school

         22  proposal, and for all the kids, proposal for the

         23  bats, but it also needs to be extended to the little

         24  league division also. These kids, they're not

         25  advanced yet. They don't have the skills some of
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          2  these high school and college players would have.

          3  They're just developing. So, it should be extended

          4  throughout, which I would appreciate if it is.

          5                 That's all I have to say. You know,

          6  if you have any questions, I'll feel free to answer

          7  questions.

          8                 MR. DELLA VOLPE: Thank you, Mr.

          9  Chairman, members of the Council.

         10                 Let me just introduce myself. My name

         11  is John Della Volpe, and I don't have a

         12  representative. I'm a lobbyist. I'm not a PR. First,

         13  I'm a dad. My son named Andrew. From Massachusetts,

         14  from Concord, Massachusetts I came up here this

         15  morning. Unfortunately, this is the third time I've

         16  given this talk. I gave it in Boston at a hearing a

         17  few months ago, and received a number of phone calls

         18  from people across Massachusetts who had similar

         19  situations to my son.

         20                 I sat next to Councilman Oddo in New

         21  Jersey with the Domelskis, which was incredibly,

         22  incredibly just an unbelievable experience, to go

         23  through that. My son Andrew is the luckiest kid in

         24  Massachusetts. The luckiest kid. He was pitching. He

         25  was the second batter of the game, and the first
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          2  time he pitched. He's a catcher by trade, been

          3  catching for a number of years. He's 11. And we took

          4  a series of lessons, probably about five or six

          5  pitching lessons all summer. A lot of work on the

          6  defensive mechanics, to be in the right position. I

          7  think thankfully he was in the right position,

          8  because as he said, and he testified for himself up

          9  in Massachusetts, he left one over the plate. And it

         10  wasn't a 13-year-old kid, it wasn't the 6'7" kid

         11  from Saudi, Arabia. This was an average looking 85

         12  pound little 12-year-old boy, with very fast wrist,

         13  who hit the ball directly between his eyes. Without

         14  question. Thankfully the game had started five

         15  minutes earlier, because it was a cold, rainy day,

         16  my wife hadn't been there on time. She was coming

         17  with Andrew's two sisters, and thankfully she wasn't

         18  there, because it was just the scariest moment of my

         19  life. He's a big guy. He's one of the biggest guys

         20  on the team. He's 110 pounds. The ball knocked him

         21  flat. He sat himself up as we were rushing behind

         22  the backstop, and it was just kind of sheets of

         23  blood. It looked like one of Mike Tyson's earliest

         24  opponents when he'd kind of get off the canvas. He

         25  was unrecognizable. He was unrecognizable. People,
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          2  you know, I've got a picture here of -- I'm not

          3  about to take a picture the day it happened. The day

          4  after it happened, we got back from the emergency

          5  room, and we met with five doctors, including the

          6  plastic surgeon. I took a picture. He was feeling

          7  better. The swelling had gone down 50 percent, and

          8  you can see here the picture of him. He had a pretty

          9  narrow little nose here, and it's probably about two

         10  inches or so width between where the ball hit him.

         11  Right between the eyes. A couple of weeks ago he

         12  still had the actual stitches ingrained in his

         13  forehead where the ball hit him.

         14                 An inch to either side it would have

         15  been a similar injury to John, an inch to the side

         16  would have taken his eye. If it were four inches

         17  below, it would have knocked out his teeth. If he

         18  were in a different position, it could have hit him

         19  on the temple and had been a more serious injury. He

         20  is by far the luckiest kid.

         21                 And I'm here to just talk about our

         22  experience, because we don't need to go through

         23  other hearings and listen to other people come up

         24  and tell their stories. But it did open my eyes. And

         25  I've been coaching for five or six years, ever since
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          2  he was in fifth grade, a five-year-old ball, and I

          3  coached my daughter's little league softball team as

          4  much as I can. But I can open my eyes to just kind

          5  of the other injuries, and is this a freak injury or

          6  kind of what else is going on there. And it was

          7  three weeks later that we had the Domelski injury

          8  which I read about. But then I just did Internet

          9  searching. I'm not an expert, but Internet

         10  searching, Safe Kids Campaign, National Safe Kids

         11  Campaign actually does their own statistics. They

         12  look at the number of injuries in youth sports

         13  today. And I respect the panel that this has focused

         14  on high schools, but my son's going to be in high

         15  school in a few years. He loves baseball and hopes

         16  to continue to play.

         17                 You know, there are 100,000 baseball

         18  injuries a year. It doesn't seem like a big number.

         19  It's half as many around the basketball court, you

         20  know, and less that you have on the football field.

         21  But with all due respect, the injuries that you have

         22  on the basketball court, are twisted ankles and

         23  sometimes worse. Kids don't die playing basketball.

         24  Kids don't die playing soccer and skateboarding.

         25  Three to four kids die per year, according to the
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          2  Safe Kids Campaign, the American Academy of

          3  Pediatrics cite three to four kids die per year

          4  playing baseball. It is the single sport with the

          5  highest fatality rate among youth in America today.

          6                 I've heard a lot about the question

          7  of choice, and we ought to have choice, and bat

          8  manufacturers have choice. They say we provide

          9  choice because we provide metal bats and wood bats.

         10                 I don't think Brandon Patch had a

         11  choice in terms of what the batter was going to use

         12  when he got hit. My son didn't have a choice. His

         13  son didn't have a choice.

         14                 The choice isn't with the kids, isn't

         15  with the pitchers, or the people who have been

         16  injured. That's not the choice, and I'm actually

         17  offended to say this is free choice. It's not

         18  choice. If my son had a chance to be hit, you know,

         19  to defend himself, with a metal bat versus a wooden

         20  bat, what do you think he's going to choose? He's

         21  going to choose a wood bat. He's got more time to

         22  react. It's not his choice. That's something I hit

         23  constantly.

         24                 Something else I looked at. I looked

         25  at some of the academic literature, and I've heard a
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          2  lot of studies. I haven't heard much about the Brown

          3  University Study, which perhaps you mentioned a few

          4  years ago, but I will mention just a few facts.

          5                 In 2002, Brown University did a

          6  study, supported, frankly, by the sporting good

          7  manufacturers, as far as I know. And they cited,

          8  they did an average exit speed off a metal bat was

          9  93.3 miles an hour on average. And the average exit

         10  speed off a wood bat was 86.1 miles an hour. Some

         11  were more, some were less.

         12                 The most frightening part of that

         13  study, was that only two percent of balls hit with a

         14  wood bat exceeded 100 miles an hour. We talked a lot

         15  about 93, 94 miles an hour being kind of enough time

         16  to react. Only two percent of the wood bat, balls

         17  hit off a wood bat exceeded 100 miles an hour, yet

         18  37 percent of the bats hit off the metal bats

         19  exceeded 100 miles an hour. Eighteen times more

         20  likely to put those kinds of dangerous balls in

         21  play.

         22                 And just for a second, to talk about

         23  the four-tenth of a second in high school it takes

         24  to respond. Mr. Chairman, if you took that coffee

         25  cup and dropped it to the ground from the level
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          2  you're at now, it would reach the ground in more

          3  time -- it would be slower. I'm sorry, I'm having a

          4  hard time here. But if you dropped your coffee cup,

          5  that would hit the ground probably five- or

          6  six-tenths of a second from that height there, from

          7  about four feet, okay? That's more time than a

          8  pitcher would have to react for a ball at

          9  four-tenths of a second.

         10                 It's less time. From where you are

         11  the ground is more time to react than a pitcher

         12  would have catching a baseball.

         13                 Just to add, I'm from Massachusetts.

         14  I've been trying to call Dr. Sherwood, and actually,

         15  on Thursday I was walking out of the State House.

         16  I've got to return back on e-mail. I've taken the

         17  liberty of contacting a number of legislators up in

         18  Massachusetts, and I was able to get some phone

         19  calls returned.

         20                 I said let's do a study, because

         21  maybe I'm wrong, because what I understand from the

         22  leaders I've spoken to in the industry, is that wood

         23  bats should be performing like metal bats. A metal

         24  bat should not out-perform the best wood bat by more

         25  than one-fifteenth or so of one percent.
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          2                 After my son's testimony, the Boston

          3  Globe went with a radar gun to a batting cage in

          4  Massachusetts, and he found an average looking

          5  12-year-old kid who was throwing baseballs with a

          6  wood bat and with a metal bat. The difference was

          7  six miles an hour. Fifty-three miles an hour off of

          8  the wood bat, 59 miles an hour off the metal bat.

          9  That's a 12 percent difference.

         10                 It's not one-fifteenth of one

         11  percent, it's not two percent, it's not three

         12  percent, it's 12 percent, it's six miles an hour.

         13  And as Dr. Brandt and everybody else says, one mile

         14  an hour can make a significant difference. Dr.

         15  Brandt will say it makes the difference between a

         16  pot fly and a home run. It certainly makes more of a

         17  difference from a 40 foot or a 60 foot angle from

         18  where the pitcher is.

         19                 The other area where kind of my eyes

         20  were opened was when I looked at some financial

         21  data. I'm a subscriber of Business Week, and I also

         22  do a lot of work in other sports. Where I do a lot

         23  of work in Golf, our company does, and I do some

         24  work in equestrian sports and some other sports, and

         25  I'm knowledgeable about sports and numbers and
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          2  statistics, and I realized that the kind of baseball

          3  and softball equipment business is about $443

          4  million a year. Significant business.

          5                 A hundred and seventy-million dollars

          6  of that is from metal bats. The metal bats, between

          7  '94 and '04 have doubled their growth, and almost

          8  all of the growth experts like the folks from

          9  business groups say, almost all the growth in that

         10  business, baseball, softball equipment is from metal

         11  bats.

         12                 However, when we do talk about

         13  choice, there are some differences, and I know it's

         14  more expensive. I know it's more expensive, and I

         15  think the idea of public/private partnership, like

         16  the Yankees and other folks I've talked to are

         17  terrific. There are other alternatives. The bomb

         18  bats are an alternative. Frankly, one of the good

         19  parts about my experience in Massachusetts was that

         20  I've actually been having several conversations with

         21  the folks at Louisville Slugger, have actually

         22  shipped my town a couple a dozen new kinds of

         23  composite wood bats. They're essentially wood bats,

         24  northern white ash bats, with a resin sleeve over

         25  it. They're actually making them a little bit
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          2  lighter than the typical like drop zero, those bats,

          3  and we're going to test them. And we tested them in

          4  our town and the kids loved them. They play like

          5  wood, there is no trampoline, sweet spots is about

          6  true, and from all accounts they'll last longer. So

          7  they don't need to break. And we went through a lot

          8  of broken bats. You know, we switched immediately

          9  after my son got hurt and we went through a lot of

         10  -- the kids didn't know how to swing a bat. You

         11  know, they didn't know how to kind of turn the

         12  handle and those sorts of things.

         13                 So, the bomb bat and hopefully the

         14  Louisville Slugger composite bat, which they

         15  actually make for high school age, is a real

         16  alternative that can get at some of the cost issues

         17  while not compromising safety.

         18                 I've gone quickly. Oh, the one last

         19  thing I did want to cite, was Dr. Sherwood got back

         20  to me because I said, so listen, Dr. Sherwood, I'm

         21  going to do a test. Whether I need to pay for it

         22  myself, have a fundraiser, whatever, we're going to

         23  do a test, so how much is it going to cost?

         24                 He says he wasn't sure exactly how

         25  much it was going to cost but for $50,000 is about

                                                            191

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  what it would cost, let's do a test. There's only

          3  three laboratories in America who are actually I

          4  think equipped, from my understanding, to conduct

          5  these tests. I think U Mass, I think there's one in

          6  Washington State and New York City, or NYU. But

          7  $50,000 is all we're talking about, maybe I'm wrong,

          8  and we'll go away and we'll try to find another way

          9  to help out. But I've been around long enough,

         10  again, as I've played and I've pitched, and it's

         11  just a difference. It's just a difference.

         12                 So, thank you very much for your

         13  time.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Della Volpe.

         16                 Before we ask questions, Mrs. Baggs,

         17  would you like to say anything? Okay.

         18                 The first question I would like to

         19  ask both you, Mr. Della Volpe, and you, Mr. Baggs,

         20  is how is your son now?

         21                 MR. DELLA VOLPE: I appreciate your

         22  asking very much. He's doing great. His nose is a

         23  little bit different looking. He had surgery. But

         24  he's checked out. He's not going to ever have a

         25  nice-looking nose with me as a dad, but he's fine.
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          2  And he is back to playing, and thank you for asking.

          3                 MR. BAGGS: My son, he's doing pretty

          4  good now. He had the surgery, everything went well.

          5  He's been sidelined for quite awhile now. He's still

          6  resting. He'll be totally healed in about another

          7  month, but we're not going to give him a shot at

          8  baseball until next spring.

          9                 Thank you for asking.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I'm glad to hear

         11  that you have something positive in that regard, and

         12  we wish both families that the recovery continues

         13  and is complete.

         14                 And Mr. Della Volpe, I want to

         15  comment that the remark you made about the

         16  percentage of batted balls that exceed 100 miles an

         17  hour, was extremely telling, and interesting.

         18                 I also want to add, Councilman Oddo

         19  used the word "bogus" regarding the issue of freedom

         20  of choice, and that is, I mean, the issue of freedom

         21  of choice is a total red herring, because, you know,

         22  we already limit choice in bats. The BESR standard,

         23  whether or not we think it's adequate or not is a

         24  limitation of choice. We're telling people they

         25  can't use certain bats already. So, you know, to me
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          2  that's just an absolutely specious and disingenuous

          3  point that the opponents of this bill are making.

          4                 Councilman Oddo.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chairman.

          7                 Let me just thank you guys from

          8  coming down from Massachusetts and from Staten

          9  Island, and I'm glad to see that both boys are on

         10  the road to recovery.

         11                 I just find it amazing that Mr. Baggs

         12  said that his son has got a plate in the head, so

         13  he's one of the lucky ones. It just kind of, take

         14  all the hot air on both sides away, and you realize,

         15  this is what the issue is about.

         16                 I'm not doing this because I have any

         17  sort of personal disdain for the bat manufacturers.

         18  It's about hearing too many stories like this. And I

         19  thank you, as I said to Deb Patch and Jack Carlson,

         20  you know, I can't imagine that it's easy to come

         21  here to testify.

         22                 I just have one question, and that's

         23  for Mr. O'Leary.

         24                 If you have not had the opportunity,

         25  I would ask you to review the transcript of our
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          2  hearing in 2002. Because included in that hearing

          3  was a give and take between little league baseball's

          4  representative and myself and it surrounded this

          5  notion of their claim that little league baseball

          6  has experienced the 76 percent decrease in injuries.

          7                 Now, I take a step back and I know my

          8  bill has nothing to do with little league baseball

          9  per se right now, but it speaks to this issue of

         10  injuries. There is no injuries, no need for the

         11  bill, not any data, show some data. In fact,

         12  injuries have gone down, and little league baseball

         13  I think still has somewhere, at least up until a few

         14  weeks ago on their website, some sort of reference

         15  to the decrease in injuries.

         16                 They use to bandy about the 76

         17  percent number, it would be parroted by the bat

         18  industry, we challenged them on it. I think Mr.

         19  Ettinger may testify the number is 86 percent. But

         20  the testimony from the last hearing surrounded the

         21  notion of how they accumulate their injury data.

         22  They equate reduction in secondary insurance claims,

         23  they equate that to a reduction in injuries. And we

         24  heard that apparently, and I didn't know this up

         25  until today, and the Chairman asked a great
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          2  question, that PSAL does the same. So, if a kid is

          3  hit and injured, but it doesn't get to secondary

          4  insurance claim, the kid wasn't hit and injured

          5  apparently.

          6                 So, I ask you to look at that

          7  testimony, and just make sure that you're aware of,

          8  and you get a copy of the United States Consumer

          9  Product Safety Commission draft report that I

         10  alluded to earlier, where it said "Little League

         11  Baseball, Inc. issued a statement that there has

         12  been a 76 percent decrease in reported injuries to

         13  pitchers as a result of batted balls over eight

         14  season period beginning in 1992."

         15                 Quote/unquote now from the USPC,

         16  USCPSC. "A more accurate interpretation of little

         17  league data would be that the secondary medical

         18  insurance claims involving pitchers by batted balls

         19  in little league have increased.

         20                 The cause for this may include a

         21  decreasing number of pitchers injured, or the

         22  severity of batted balls to pitchers.

         23                 However, these are not necessarily

         24  the only possible causes of such a decrease, and in

         25  fact, neither is required for such a decrease to
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          2  occur."

          3                 So, I would point you in that

          4  direction and encourage you strongly to read the

          5  transcript from the last hearing.

          6                 MR. O'LEARY: Thank you very much. We

          7  will do that. We've only just begun this battle and

          8  have scratched the surface.

          9                 I might also just point out in that

         10  regard, that many of the injury reporting forms

         11  provided by little league baseball to the local

         12  league units around the country are one-page forms.

         13  They don't even have an address to send back these

         14  forms to Williamsport, and unless it's a very

         15  horrific, serious injury, many of the injuries

         16  aren't even reported because in a lot of the Board

         17  rooms around the local little leagues, they might

         18  get filled out and they might get placed in a bin

         19  just to be discarded over the course of the winter.

         20  It's a very common practice that anybody dealing

         21  with local little league level appreciates happens.

         22  Thank you for that advice.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Council Member

         24  DeBlasio.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you
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          2  very much, Chair Fidler. I want to thank you for

          3  having put together this hearing and for giving it

          4  priority. I think it's very fitting we're having it

          5  at this time of the year when everyone is thinking

          6  about baseball. And I especially want to thank

          7  Council Member Oddo. I think I've had the pleasure

          8  of working with him on this issue now for two years,

          9  and I think it's very, very important not just for

         10  here in New York but nationally that he is so

         11  focused on this issue, has put so much energy and

         12  passion and research into it. I think we will look

         13  back in some years and thank him for changes that

         14  got made because of his work.

         15                 I just want to say I really

         16  appreciate the comment was just made about the

         17  reality of little league. I am entirely 100 percent

         18  baseball fan. I have been a little league coach, I

         19  have these wonderful playing cards that my kids have

         20  from their baseball and softball experience when we

         21  were kids. We never got things like this. We would

         22  have been on Cloud 9 if we did. But my kids, both my

         23  daughter and my son have both been playing for the

         24  last five years, it's been a very important part of

         25  their life.
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          2                 I just want to say, you know, leagues

          3  struggle to keep up with everything happening. You

          4  know, there is obviously only so much time and

          5  energy. I don't doubt for a moment all sorts of

          6  injuries go unreported. And I understood some of the

          7  approach to research that was expressed before by

          8  Dr. Mueller. But it sounded to me like a lot of

          9  potential holes in terms of where the information

         10  would come from, and it sounded to me like it was

         11  far from scientific and far from comprehensive.

         12                 And I just want to say, you know,

         13  there's a lot of common sense running through this

         14  issue. There's common sense that there has not been

         15  the kind of study here that we need. It's common

         16  sense that a lot of the rationale from the industry

         17  and from the coaching world revolves around cost,

         18  and that is something we don't tend to say is more

         19  important than safety in other fields. We don't say

         20  that with cars or airplanes, or all sorts of other

         21  things. We don't have people come and testify and

         22  say which it could be safer, it cost too much. And

         23  it's obvious that there's been a problem. It's

         24  obvious the industry took steps because there was a

         25  problem and the NCAA took steps because there was a
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          2  problem. It's obvious what Frank Menechino said

          3  about how unnatural some of these bats had become.

          4  And I thought Jimmy did a great service to us by

          5  pointing out Coach Divini's quote as well. It's

          6  obvious that if we want kids to learn this game

          7  properly, that there are tremendous advantages to

          8  wood, just as teaching, let alone from the

          9  perspective of safety.

         10                 But the bottom line, I just want to

         11  say this. I, again, thank everyone who has been

         12  involved in putting this together, and thank

         13  especially the parents who have put so much time and

         14  energy and have told their difficult stories.

         15                 But it just seems to me it's clear.

         16  We have a safety problem. We don't have an answer

         17  from the industry for how to avoid this problem.

         18  Obviously wood bats are safer. There is enough

         19  evidence to at least say that basic fact. I think we

         20  have a promising opportunity with composite wood

         21  bats, and I think it's obvious also that in a world

         22  where these high-performance aluminum bats go beyond

         23  anything that human beings were ever supposed to be

         24  using and create such danger, could never in a

         25  million years regulate them enough. You could never
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          2  know that the right sticker is on the right bat. You

          3  could never know that every umpire, you know, in

          4  terms of amateur sports is paying enough attention,

          5  it's just too much danger that the wrong kind of bat

          6  is used, whereas with wood or with wood composite

          7  that we would never have questions.

          8                 I just wanted to lay out my personal

          9  view of all of this, and really again, thank you to

         10  all the witnesses, and thank you to my colleagues.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Councilman Oddo

         12  says one final question?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes, one last

         14  question to John Della Volpe.

         15                 John, when you spoke to Mr. Sherwood,

         16  Dr. Sherwood, did he happen to explain the comment

         17  he made in the Boston Globe, which I'm sure the

         18  industry will tell that he believes now share with

         19  the bats in high school, he had an epiphany

         20  somewhere along the line and he believes that high

         21  school bats and college bats are safe, which is

         22  counter to various statements he's made over the

         23  years?

         24                 MR. DELLA VOLPE: Unfortunately, he's

         25  very busy. The day after my testimony, there was an
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          2  article and interview appeared, a lengthy interview

          3  appeared in the Boston Globe, I had called to

          4  introduce myself and had like a one-minute

          5  conversation with him, hopefully expected him to

          6  call back, I haven't received a call-back yet, and I

          7  took a few more e-mails. So, I didn't have an actual

          8  conversation with him. It was an e-mail change. But

          9  I hope to one time.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay. I find

         11  that comment quite interesting, and it's

         12  inconsistent. And obviously, bats and some of the

         13  restrictions have changed, frankly, since the time

         14  he made some earlier comments. But he has had

         15  various statements over the years, statements that

         16  have not played well with the industry, that the

         17  industry has taken exception to his quote/unquote

         18  independence or lack thereof, from their point of

         19  view. And he is a very knowledgeable guy, but you

         20  know, I think there is a body of conflicting

         21  comments that, frankly, I'm not sure what any of us

         22  make out of it. But thank you.

         23                 MR. DELLA VOLPE: We get studies on

         24  effective curve balls, on pitch counts, on breakaway

         25  bases, why not an open study for the public? We've
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          2  got three legislatures, three legislative bodies in

          3  the Northeast in the past three months looking at

          4  this, why not a study? It can't take more than --

          5  you can do it this wintertime I would think, and

          6  just put this issue to rest once and for all. Do the

          7  metal bats perform like wood or don't they?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, part of

          9  the problem, John, is that Dr. Sherwood was involved

         10  in some litigation with Steve Bomb, and Mr. Bomb

         11  asserted that Dr. Sherwood violated the protocol of

         12  the bomb-hitting machine, and in fact, as part of

         13  the settlement, I'm sure Mr. Ettinger could explain

         14  it in more detail, much more well versed than I, the

         15  little old country lawyer from Staten Island that I

         16  am, that Mr. Bomb asserted that Dr. Sherwood

         17  violated the protocol and they actually suspended

         18  use of it.

         19                 So, I'm not sure if there is a

         20  bomb-hitting machine that's out there that we can do

         21  that. And, frankly, I don't think the industry would

         22  be happy with, you know, any testing that I'm

         23  affiliated with, because I sure as heck wouldn't be

         24  happy with any testing that they're either funded in

         25  part or sitting in the room, which they were when

                                                            203

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  the BESR was established, sitting in the room, using

          3  a bomb-hitting machine without Mr. Bomb present

          4  actually, it was just quite ironic.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I want to thank

          6  this panel, as well. Thank you very much.

          7                 We have two more panels. Our next

          8  panel is Steve Keener from Little League Baseball

          9  International, and David Ettinger and Dewey Chauvin,

         10  Eastern Sports.

         11                 Why don't we start with Mr. Keener,

         12  and then we'll have the folks from Easton Sports.

         13                 MR. ETTINGER: (Not identified for the

         14  record.) We'll proceed any way you like, but since

         15  Mr. Keener and I are both going to address the

         16  little league statistics, me in a more general way

         17  and then him on the specifics, it might be more

         18  logical to go in reverse order. Whatever you prefer.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Mr. Keener, that

         20  okay with you?

         21                 MR. KEENER: That's fine.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Okay.

         23                 ETTINGER: (Not identified for the

         24  record.) Thank you, Mr. Chairman. We appreciate, of

         25  course, being here. Mr. Oddo mentioned he's been
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          2  looking at this issue for five years, I think I have

          3  for about nine now, and I hope I've learned

          4  something in that time period, and I'll try to

          5  address it today and really try to focus on the

          6  evidence and what it shows and doesn't show.

          7                 Of course, these injuries are

          8  terrible and tragic. We all listened to it very

          9  carefully. I think when you look at the evidence,

         10  though, carefully and in detail, what it shows is

         11  the same thing would have happened whether those

         12  bats were wood or aluminum. And we're trying to give

         13  you a lot of material that gets to that, including

         14  our packets with our background material, which I

         15  hope you have.

         16                 Of course, wood bats, as you know,

         17  haven't been used as much as aluminum bats, but even

         18  so, there have been a lot of serious injuries with

         19  wood bats. Tab 18 of our materials includes

         20  examples.

         21                 You heard today already about a death

         22  in 2002 from a wood bat, involving a high school

         23  player at batting practice. You heard from Dr.

         24  Mueller, and if you look at his statement, his study

         25  so far actually shows that every single serious head
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          2  and skull injury to date was from a wood bat, not an

          3  aluminum bat. And we believe that all the evidence

          4  indicates that there really is no difference today.

          5                 Let me talk a little bit about the

          6  BESR, and Mr. Chauvin will have more to say about

          7  it.

          8                 The BESR was put in place for high

          9  schools in 2003. It was created by an NCAA panel of

         10  scientists, they're listed in Tab 6 of our packet.

         11  It was created by the scientists. Manufacturers were

         12  not involved. Mr. Chauvin can tell you nobody at

         13  Easton ever heard of the idea of the BESR, when

         14  Carroll from Rice University and the NCAA panel came

         15  up with the idea. It did not come from the

         16  manufacturers in any way, shape or form.

         17                 Now, the BESR says the test provides

         18  that aluminum bats will hit at the exact speed or

         19  less of the best wood bat. No higher at all.

         20                 Now, let me address, and I appreciate

         21  the opportunity to address some of Chairman Fidler's

         22  thoughts because I think that they're important, and

         23  we weren't able to address them before, and one of

         24  them is this issue of a faster swing.

         25                 It is certainly true that the BESR
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          2  test is based on constant swing speed machines. And

          3  then the question arises, and a good question, well

          4  do players swing the aluminum bats faster?

          5                 There are several very strong reasons

          6  to believe that the answer to that question is first

          7  no, and then secondly, that it doesn't matter based

          8  on the science. Let me go through them.

          9                 One of the elements of the NCAA and

         10  high school test is that the bats have to be no

         11  lighter than minus three, which is the weight to

         12  length ratio. That is the same ratio that is used

         13  frequently in wood bats. The argument was that the

         14  light aluminum bat swung faster and until this test

         15  was in place, the aluminum bats were almost entirely

         16  minus four and minus five. They were lighter. The

         17  argument was we got a restrictive, they're not so

         18  light and not so easy to swing. And so the minus

         19  three test was put into place to make the swing

         20  slower. That's why it's there.

         21                 Now, some people will say that

         22  there's still an issue, the degree to which they're

         23  end heavy. Several points on that and on this weight

         24  issue.

         25                 You know, the perception is if you
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          2  swing a lighter bat faster, with the exception of

          3  some people, Mr. Fidler apparently and others, are

          4  certainly not unique there, that that will make the

          5  ball come off faster. But there are two

          6  counterveiling principles of physics here. One, the

          7  bat is moving faster, if it's lighter. Second. When

          8  it makes contact, it's got more momentum if it's

          9  heavier.

         10                 Mr. Chauvin can explain the science

         11  better than me, but you can swing a pencil really

         12  fast, it's not going to hit a baseball very far.

         13  It's very light, so it's a combination of the two.

         14  It's not a matter of intuition, with all due

         15  respect. It's common sense, it's a matter of how the

         16  science works out. And this has, in fact, been

         17  studied. And I would ask the panel to take a look,

         18  for example, at the book by Professors Watts and

         19  Bayhill, called Keep Your Eye On The Ball where they

         20  decided to do a study that I think Professor Bayhill

         21  did with the San Francisco Giants. And what they did

         22  using wood bats was they took different weights of

         23  bats and they tried to see what difference it made

         24  in terms of batted ball speed. And the answer is

         25  none at all. These two factors, the speed of the
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          2  swing, and the power of the heavier bat, cancelled

          3  each other out. That's what they found in the one

          4  empirical study we have of this issue.

          5                 So, there is no reason to believe for

          6  those two reasons that that swing speed should

          7  create a problem here.

          8                 First, it's likely not any different,

          9  and second, it doesn't matter overall. The second

         10  issue that was raised as a possible effect is the

         11  trampoline effect. That is certainly true with

         12  aluminum bats that there is some give in the

         13  aluminum and the wood bat doesn't have that. But

         14  there's another phenomenon called "Handle Flex." In

         15  wood bats the handles flex more than in aluminum

         16  bats. And so you get a little spring from the

         17  handle, instead of a little spring from the barrel.

         18  Do those two factors counteract entirely? One

         19  greater than the other? That is an empirical factual

         20  question. So at the end of the day we would suggest

         21  this comes down to the science and the data, not to

         22  intuition or common sense, because you can make

         23  arguments from physics going both ways.

         24                 And, so, I want to get to the data,

         25  and in that regard, let me talk about the same kinds
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          2  of statistics you heard in 2002. We want to go back

          3  to them, because we think they're quite compelling

          4  here, and we think they are inconsistent with the

          5  premise of this bill.

          6                 I also want to make clear that we

          7  acknowledge their limitations in that data, but

          8  we're not using them in a way that suffers from

          9  those limitations and we never have.

         10                 Do we have the posters? Why don't we

         11  put them up.

         12                 Now, the poster behind me and to my

         13  right is the little league data that we've already

         14  heard discussion of, and what it shows as you know

         15  is that little league's tabulations of injuries went

         16  down 82 percent over about a 14-year period. Why is

         17  that relevant? Let's look at the language in this

         18  bill. This bill says that changes in the aluminum

         19  bat, quote, "Have dramatically increased the speed

         20  at which baseballs are compelled off the bats,"

         21  close quote. So, the premise here of the bill is

         22  that the bats have gotten more dangerous.

         23                 Well, if they've gotten more

         24  dangerous, we would expect more injuries. In fact,

         25  what this pattern shows is the opposite. The
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          2  injuries didn't go up by 50 percent or ten percent

          3  or two percent. They went down by more than 80

          4  percent.

          5                 Now, this is claims data and Mr.

          6  Keener can address it in more detail. I would

          7  venture, though I'll stand to be corrected by Mr.

          8  Keener, he knows the data better, and you probably

          9  could not use this data to tell you how many

         10  absolute injuries there are, because they all might

         11  not be reported. But that's what we ever use the

         12  data for.

         13                 What we're using the data for is to

         14  look at a trend, and everything we've investigated,

         15  everything shows that the same procedures were used

         16  by little league throughout this period, the same

         17  claims processes, and therefore there is no bias in

         18  the data that would affect the trend.

         19                 The data may understate the number of

         20  injuries today, but it also understated the number

         21  of injuries in 1992. And if there is no bias you

         22  could point to, then the trend is valid. It's more.

         23  In order for this data to be not useful here, not

         24  even dispositive on this point here, the bias would

         25  have to be so huge that instead of showing this
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          2  enormous decrease, you would have to point to some

          3  flaw that if you corrected it, it would cause the

          4  data to actually be an increase. It wouldn't be

          5  enough to say it's half off. There's only a 40

          6  percent decrease. It wouldn't be enough to say it's

          7  three-quarters off, and there's only a 20 percent

          8  decrease, you would have to show no decrease and in

          9  fact an increase to support the bill. And there's

         10  simply no evidence of it.

         11                 So, the data for the purpose for what

         12  we're using it, I would submit is very compelling.

         13  Similarly, and by the way, it's consistent with the

         14  offense data that we see when we look at the BESR.

         15  The BESR was put in place, and let me be clear, the

         16  NCAA I believe put it in place because of concern

         17  about offense, not injury. But what happened once it

         18  was in place is that the number of runs per game

         19  have gone down from seven to six, the batting

         20  average has gone down from 316 to 291 and that's now

         21  several years of data.

         22                 So, it's had a significant impact,

         23  there is no question about it. The other thing the

         24  statistics show is that baseball is still one of the

         25  safest sports, and that's Tab 2 in our materials,
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          2  and that within baseball, the vast majority of

          3  injuries don't relate to batted balls. And you see

          4  here the other chart shows about seven percent from

          5  batted balls, in fact only three percent is pitchers

          6  hit by batted balls, and I think you heard Professor

          7  Mueller point out that outfielders actually have

          8  more batted ball injuries than infielders or

          9  pitchers.

         10                 Now, that's not due to the bat,

         11  that's losing the ball in the sun. So, there's

         12  nothing in this data that supports the conclusion

         13  that there is a significant problem here. In the

         14  context of baseball, this is not the kind of injury

         15  that sticks out. There are more injuries from other

         16  things.

         17                 Now, again, this data is not perfect.

         18  It is voluntarily submitted. It is voluntarily

         19  submitted in the same way for 15 years. It is

         20  submitted in the same way if a pitcher gets hit, as

         21  it is if the first baseman runs into the second

         22  baseman.

         23                 So, in the comparative way that we're

         24  trying to use this data, I would say the data is

         25  compelling. It makes the point and it is accurate to
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          2  that extent, and you really can't dispute it to that

          3  degree. So, the data is very significant in showing

          4  that injuries are not increasing, and that at the

          5  NCAA level, this is not the problem.

          6                 Now, does it answer every question?

          7  Does it answer the direct question of wood versus

          8  aluminum? By itself it does not. But it refutes the

          9  only contentions that I think makes any sense going

         10  the other way. If the bats have not been getting

         11  more dangerous, then why is it that aluminum bats

         12  have been used for 30 years? Has there been a

         13  problem for 30 years that nobody noticed? It must be

         14  if they're getting more dangerous or they're not

         15  dangerous at all. And the data shows they haven't

         16  led to an increase in injury.

         17                 So, that's why we think the data is

         18  quite compelling. Let me say some more things about

         19  the test, if I could, and about the validity of the

         20  test, and the objectivity of the people who put the

         21  test in place.

         22                 First of all, the BESR has gotten

         23  tougher over time. You've already heard that MOI

         24  tests were added that outlawed some bats that were

         25  earlier okay. A sliding scale test was added. And
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          2  these were added in response to criticisms of people

          3  with which frankly we don't agree. Nevertheless,

          4  they were added, and they apply to the bats. The

          5  test has gotten tougher over time, and that's

          6  probably contributed to this data.

          7                 The test also was, you know, these

          8  arguments that the test, and I heard a couple of

          9  people say it, was somehow changed because of the

         10  manufacturers putting improper pressure on just

         11  isn't true.

         12                 The test went from 80/80 pitch and

         13  swing speed to 70/66, because wood bats broke on Mr.

         14  Bomb's machine. He couldn't do them at 80/80. So,

         15  they had to lower it. But Dr. Carole of Rice

         16  University invented the BESR, rather than just using

         17  a speed limit, because the BESR is a ratio, based on

         18  the relationship between exit speed, and swing and

         19  pit speed. It's intended specifically to normalize

         20  for those differences. So, those differences

         21  shouldn't matter.

         22                 It is true that the NCAA went from 93

         23  to a higher number, and it was true that we

         24  litigated with them. And part of the reason we

         25  litigated with them was because initially they got
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          2  the basic science wrong. When the NCAA came up with

          3  93 miles an hour, do you know they forget to

          4  calculate the effective air resistance on the batted

          5  ball, which is a difference of 4 miles per hour? It

          6  ended up going from 93 to 97, apples to apples, gee,

          7  it's the same four miles per hour. What the NCAA did

          8  was, after the lawsuit, after the complaints, they

          9  appointed the panel, no manufacturers on that panel

         10  or ever h as been, and the panel came up with this

         11  test which as I said we never heard of. And the test

         12  has made a significant difference.

         13                 The other big data issue is, there's

         14  two others I want to address. One is reaction time.

         15  And, you know, the core of this issue, obviously has

         16  to be is the ball being hit too quickly for a

         17  pitcher to react? And people have thrown around a

         18  lot of numbers, and some of them are frankly urban

         19  legend. But there is science here, and we have

         20  submitted it, and we'd like you to look at it.

         21                 Let me just back up for a minute.

         22  There have been some studies done that have been

         23  essentially tennis balls shot out of canons from a

         24  dark background, where the person catching them

         25  doesn't know what's coming.
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          2                 They were the best that people had

          3  done at the time. The problem is they don't account

          4  for the fact that a pitcher when he's pitching sees

          5  the swing and sees the pitch before there is contact

          6  and he's able to anticipate and that affects things.

          7                 So, the manufacturers had a study

          8  done and we paid for it, no question. An you ought

          9  to look at it skeptically, and ought to look at the

         10  specifics of it, using two college baseball teams.

         11  Stetson and I always forget the other, but another

         12  Florida school. And the pitchers pitched and the

         13  batterers batted for four days, and they had senors

         14  on them and on videotape, and they found that in

         15  every case the pitcher was able to react within 300

         16  milliseconds, not four. And I'll go into the lack of

         17  basis for the 400 number in a bit.

         18                 That corresponds. A pitcher who can

         19  react in 300 milliseconds, can catch a ball at 123

         20  miles per hour. Which is a higher number than

         21  anybody has claimed batted balls are hit.

         22                 But what Mr. Breen said was, this is

         23  a pitcher who is ready, and we said to Mr. Breen

         24  every pitcher is not ready, we know that. You don't

         25  want to bat, I'm sure none of you want to bat that's
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          2  only safe if the pitcher does things right.

          3                 So, the other question we asked him

          4  was, let's assume for the sake of argument that an

          5  aluminum bat hits X miles an hour more than wood,

          6  even though the test says it should not. How much

          7  extra time will that give the pitcher? And we used,

          8  asked him about five to ten miles an hour, because

          9  some people were throwing about those numbers, and

         10  you heard about the Brown University Study, which

         11  I'll get to, it used five to seven miles an hour for

         12  bats that are illegal under the BESR. So, it's not

         13  appropriate today, and I'll get into that more. But

         14  nevertheless, it provided a hypothetical number you

         15  could use. And what he found, and this is

         16  arithmetic, anybody could do it, anybody can sit

         17  down and look at how far is it from the batter to

         18  the pitcher and do the math as to if you increase

         19  the speed by so much, how does that change the time?

         20  Just arithmetic. And it turns out five to ten miles

         21  an hour give the pitcher an additional 15 to 35

         22  milliseconds. Fifteen to thirty-five thousandths of

         23  a second. That's one to three percent of a second.

         24  And that's a fantastically small amount of time.

         25  That, as it turns out, is about the amount of time a
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          2  hummingbird takes to flap its wings once. It is a

          3  lot less time than it takes to blink your eye, by a

          4  factor of several.

          5                 And, so, is this enough time for a

          6  pitcher who might not have been able to react

          7  because he made a terrible mistake, and was out of

          8  position for an aluminum ball to react to a wood

          9  ball? I think all the experts in biomechanics say it

         10  would not matter. There are studies on this, by the

         11  way, do you know how long it takes for somebody to

         12  go like this? A hundred milliseconds. That small

         13  motion takes three to five times what it would, the

         14  extra time you would get if there were even a ten

         15  mile an hour difference, and there isn't.

         16                 So, when you look at the science here

         17  and reaction time, every indication is that even if

         18  these differences that people allege exist and they

         19  don't, they just wouldn't matter.

         20                 Now, let me address real briefly, and

         21  I know it's late and I appreciate the time, this

         22  other data that's been mentioned. The Brown

         23  University study. I guess I've covered the main

         24  point and that is that was done Brown University,

         25  and it was done with five bats, and I think five
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          2  metal bats or four, and none of them would have

          3  passed the BESR. How do we know? All we have to do

          4  is look at Table 1 of the study. Table 1 has the

          5  diameters of the bats and it has the weight to

          6  length ratio. All the metal bats but one were minus

          7  4s or minus 5s. Too light. Under some people's views

          8  you could swing them faster than wood. But they

          9  wouldn't be allowed because the BESR says you've got

         10  to be a minus 3.

         11                 Now, one of those bats was a minus 3,

         12  and it technically wouldn't fit under the BESR

         13  either, because it was too wide in terms of

         14  diameter. But if you argue that may not affect

         15  velocity as much, and you want to consider that bat

         16  more relevant, that bat did not have, according to

         17  the study, a statistically significantly difference

         18  in velocity from the wood bat. Meaning there was a

         19  slight difference in their data, but it could easily

         20  be accounted for by random chance. They weren't

         21  going to draw any conclusions about any differences.

         22                 So, the Brown University study,

         23  insofar as it shows anything, suggests that bats

         24  under the BESR test are not going to be faster. It

         25  does not suggest the contrary.
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          2                 And, you know, we talked about other

          3  tests. If someone were to do a test today, I would

          4  suggest it would be a field test like the Bronx

          5  study which was real people batting, though you

          6  could make comments about ways in which they did it,

          7  you could improve it, it would not be on somebody's

          8  bomb-hitting machine. I think that test what really

          9  goes on in the field. If you were going to do

         10  something, that's what you would want to focus on.

         11                 Finally, on this 400 millisecond

         12  number, that number, as I said, is an urban legend.

         13  There is a survey article by Cassidy and Brown where

         14  they cite to some of these canon studies, and they

         15  say the canon study suggested it would be 300 to 325

         16  milliseconds, and they at the end, and they did no

         17  research of their own said, but, gee, we think maybe

         18  a pitcher needs more, maybe 400 milliseconds, with

         19  no empirical basis for what they said.

         20                 And then people have taken that

         21  number and treated it as gospel, but there's no

         22  science behind it. All you have to do is read the

         23  article. It's quite clear. Dr. Brandt, by the way,

         24  did not say 400 milliseconds, although he did do a

         25  canon study.
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          2                 So, you know, we would respectfully

          3  suggest if you look at the site, it doesn't suggest

          4  in any way there is a problem. And we think

          5  intuition is very perilous, that the physics cuts

          6  against them.

          7                 I'm sure the Committee will look at

          8  this very closely, dig into the data.

          9                 Mr. Oddo says that he sees the things

         10  that raise doubt and allegations, and I understand

         11  if you take some of these things and look at them,

         12  and don't know the whole story, and I may hear about

         13  some more of them in questions before we're done,

         14  they raise some issues, but there are answers.

         15                 I would be more than happy to sit

         16  down with the Committee and its staff and spend

         17  whatever time it takes, a day, two days, three days.

         18  I've spent a large portion of my life over some

         19  years looking at this stuff, and I'd be happy to go

         20  through all these details. There's a lot of detail

         21  here. And explain the facts, and I think I'll try

         22  very hard to be very subjective about it, we can all

         23  look at the data as closely as we can.

         24                 Mr. Oddo, I think I do that, and I

         25  think I'm doing that today. And in any event, you
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          2  can put whatever filter you want on it, and of

          3  course I'm paid by Easton and you can make your own

          4  judgment, but I'm happy to go through this and we

          5  would just urge you to look hard at those facts.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 MR. KEENER: I don't have an attorney

          8  with me today. My name is Steve Keener. I was before

          9  you in 2002. Not much has changed since that time.

         10  You might ask why is Little League Baseball

         11  International represented here today, we really

         12  don't have a dog in this fight, so-to-speak, but I

         13  think it's important to reestablish, again, how

         14  Little League Baseball International makes decisions

         15  about safety and injury prevention. But before I do

         16  that, you know, to the families that are here today

         17  that provide emotional testimony, the Patch family

         18  obviously lost a child, the Domelski's, you know,

         19  the future of their child still remains

         20  undetermined. I'm glad the other two young boys

         21  appear to be on the road to recovery, and perhaps

         22  will enjoy the game of baseball again.

         23                 But I'm here today to represent

         24  Little League Baseball, the world's largest

         25  organized youth sports program, nearly 3 million
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          2  children participating in 95 countries.

          3                 I think it's important to note that

          4  Little League baseball, and I certainly don't take a

          5  lot of time, I'm kind of tired, too. I actually

          6  wrote at the top of my note here that I was going to

          7  say good morning to you. But it's now 2:25 in the

          8  afternoon. I will try to be brief in the interest of

          9  time, and I believe it's important to note that

         10  little league baseball has had a very respected and

         11  significant role in pioneering baseball, youth

         12  baseball particularly, safety innovations and injury

         13  prevention policies, since it's foundings back in

         14  the early 1950s.

         15                 The helmet that is worn at every

         16  level of the game was developed through little

         17  league baseball. The catcher's equipment, all but a

         18  few pieces of it that have been enhanced over the

         19  years came through little league baseball.

         20                 Upon review of injury data which we

         21  believe incredible and perhaps the only injury data

         22  that exists that we can point to. In 1995, we

         23  eliminated the on-deck position, must to the chagrin

         24  of the traditionalists in the game of baseball, and

         25  we have essentially eliminated those types of
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          2  injuries from our program.

          3                 We eliminated the head first slide

          4  from our program. We are mandating the use of

          5  breakaway bases beginning next year. And most

          6  recently, we became the first and only nationally

          7  governed or internationally governed youth sports

          8  organization to mandate criminal background checks

          9  to be done against all of the volunteers in our

         10  program.

         11                 And next year, for the first time we

         12  will make a change to a decade's old rule of how we

         13  restrict and protect the young pitching arms in our

         14  program by replacing a decade's old rule of how we

         15  restricted pitchers by the number of innings per

         16  calendar week to number of actual pitches per game.

         17                 So, I think our track record, our

         18  attention to safety, our interest in the injury

         19  prevention safety of our participants is certainly

         20  well regarded and is founded on solid credentials.

         21                 We annually review all of our injury

         22  data prior to making, considering making changes.

         23  You're going to perhaps question me and challenge me

         24  on the use of our injury data because you make the

         25  claims that I'm not an insurance expert, nor am I a
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          2  scientist, so some of these things, I need some help

          3  with. But you are going to say because our accident

          4  insurance is excess coverage and not primary

          5  coverage, therefore we're not getting all of the

          6  claims. I would tell you that unless there are

          7  injuries or health care insurance programs provided

          8  to people who are their primary insurer that pay 100

          9  percent of the medical bills, then generally our

         10  insurance comes into play, which does give us a

         11  record of this type of, any of these types of

         12  injury. I can't say certainly that 100 percent of

         13  them do, but I would be willing to say that the

         14  overwhelming and certainly a large, large majority

         15  of the injuries that require medical attention where

         16  the parents' insurance is the primary coverage, and

         17  the little league baseball insurance becomes the

         18  secondary coverage, we know about those injuries.

         19  They are in our database.

         20                 Now, you can question me about that,

         21  but that is my understanding in my belief in that. I

         22  won't repeat all of the information. You mention you

         23  have your transcripts from the 2002 hearing, but it

         24  was in the early 1990s when little league baseball,

         25  upon reviewing its injury data, noticed that the
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          2  number of injuries to pitchers from batted balls was

          3  increasing. That was alarming to us. We felt that

          4  there must be some reason for that. We brought it to

          5  the attention of a number of people. It was little

          6  league baseball who organized the other youth

          7  baseball organizations in this country to go to the

          8  SGMA and say to the bat manufacturer something is

          9  going wrong here, we're seeing injuries tracking in

         10  the wrong direction.

         11                 That's when the initial, the BPF

         12  standard was created, which was implemented in 1992,

         13  and in the subsequent, I believe ten years to follow

         14  that, that's when we saw the decrease in the number

         15  of injuries as a result of that.

         16                 With that said, in fairness to the

         17  bat manufacturers, there were no standards to the

         18  baseballs that were being used. And we felt that in

         19  order to have to make sure that we're doing the

         20  right thing here, we couldn't just pin all of this

         21  on the bat manufacturers. There must be, the

         22  baseballs have to meet a certain standard as well.

         23  So, we developed a standard of core and compression

         24  that the baseballs, in little league baseball must

         25  be, and I can't speak to other organizations that

                                                            227

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  don't use our restrictions, whether it's police

          3  athletic leagues or independent recreation or travel

          4  programs, whatever they may be, but if you're

          5  playing in a little league charter-affiliated

          6  program, you must use a baseball that meets this

          7  core and compression standard.

          8                 So, with that said, we have seen the

          9  track of injuries reduced. We have not believed that

         10  this warranted such wide sweeping changes to

         11  eliminate non-wood bats from, that certainly not

         12  from little league baseball, and I know that's not

         13  part of this legislation that is being proposed

         14  today, only at the high school level. I would tell

         15  you that my concern with that is that many of those

         16  high school players are also our youth summer

         17  players that play in our junior, senior and what we

         18  call our "Big League Program," where actually

         19  injuries to pitchers for batted balls in our

         20  programs are significantly less, significantly less,

         21  according to our data, than they are in the 12 and

         22  under division.

         23                 But nonetheless, I would address the

         24  excess for primary health coverage, hopefully I have

         25  established a little bit of our safety track record.
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          2                 I went back and looked at some of

          3  this data just because I thought someone might ask

          4  me, but I'll mention it to you first. Dr. Mueller

          5  mentioned the one death during, the one fatality we

          6  had during the time period when he was collecting

          7  data, I went back just to be sure I had an accurate

          8  number here, so it would have been seven fatalities

          9  in the little league program as a result of being

         10  hit by a batted ball. Six of those, or, excuse me,

         11  five of those preceded the era of the non-wood bat,

         12  five of them were a result of wooden bats, and two

         13  had been a result of non-wood bats, one being in

         14  1973.

         15                 So, again, we try to look at this

         16  without any bias, without -- we're trying to be

         17  objective about making decisions that impact the

         18  operations of thousands and thousands of local

         19  little league programs around the world.

         20                 I will put this, it should be

         21  included in your former record, but in case it's

         22  not, Little League Baseball has no financial

         23  interest in this issue. I feel a little

         24  uncomfortable kind of sitting at the same table. I

         25  have a great deal of respect for the people in the
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          2  sporting goods industry, but I believe that without

          3  being kind of lumped in with the manufacturers, by

          4  being called up with this panel, I feel because

          5  Little League Baseball lead the way in 1992 when we

          6  went to the manufacturers and required that new

          7  standards be put in place, what I would believe

          8  would happen if we felt that this was an issue that

          9  warranted such a departure from the current

         10  standard, that Little League Baseball would be

         11  leading the way for change.

         12                 When I say we have no financial

         13  interest, I think that needs some explanation. Our

         14  annual operating budget is about seventeen and a

         15  half million dollars. Our revenues that we receive

         16  from the SGMA Youth Bat Licensing Program are

         17  equivalent to about eight-tenths of one percent of

         18  our annual operating budget, which is just a little

         19  shy or a little below $100,000 a year.

         20                 I really believe that if wood bats

         21  were created across the country, our royalties would

         22  go up significantly because of the number of bats

         23  that would be sold, and therefore the royalties paid

         24  to Little League and the other youth baseball

         25  organizations.
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          2                 We have no financial interest in

          3  this. We believe we look at the data, we make

          4  objective decisions about rules that need to be

          5  changed, standards that need to be put into place,

          6  and we just don't believe there should be, that this

          7  radical of a change is necessary at this point.

          8                 I will also tell you we are certainly

          9  open to continued testing. We are open to continuing

         10  to look at the game and make it as safe as possible,

         11  and if there is testing that can be done, which is

         12  satisfactory to all parties involved, that is done

         13  on an independent basis and not biased at all,

         14  Little League Baseball will be happy to be able to

         15  participate in that or look at it or be whatever

         16  part would be appropriate for that.

         17                 But based on our current status with

         18  injury data, we just don't think that a change of

         19  this nature is warranted at this time.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 MR. CHAUVIN: My name is Dewey

         22  Chauvin. I'm an engineer with Easton, and I've been

         23  designing and testing bats for about 14 years. I

         24  want to explain a little bit about the BESR test and

         25  what that means.
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          2                 Once again, it wasn't designed by any

          3  manufacturer. We didn't know what it was. It came

          4  from the NCAA from a group of physicists,

          5  predominantly Dr. Carroll of Rice University. What

          6  it does is it measures the exit speed of a bat

          7  relative to the collision speed, which is the ball

          8  coming in and the bat coming in.

          9                 It doesn't really have to be at game

         10  speeds because it's a ratio, because you can take

         11  that number and apply it to different impact speeds,

         12  and you now know how those two things relate. How

         13  does the exit speed relate to the collision speeds.

         14  So, because of that, it doesn't have to be done

         15  right at maximum game speed. Even so, the NCAA

         16  attempted to do the testing, BESR testing right at

         17  maximum speeds.

         18                 Unfortunately, wood bats break in the

         19  robot, or any other fixture when they're slammed

         20  with that kind of impact over and over again. Mostly

         21  because of the affixity of the equipment. Granted,

         22  they live through impacts in the field, but they're

         23  not fixed. Their hands aren't fixed like they are on

         24  a robot, so that's really the difference.

         25                 I'd like to talk a little bit also
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          2  about the difference between 93 and 97 miles and

          3  hour. The 93 mile an hour came out based upon the

          4  four-tenths of a second assumption. The urban

          5  legend, let's call it for now.

          6                 The 97 miles an hour came about

          7  because they accounted for air drag, one, two. Wood

          8  bats don't hit 94 miles an hour in the BESR test.

          9  The only bat that did was Mr. Bomb's bat. That was

         10  the only bat.

         11                 So, the Ruling Committee at the NCAA

         12  looked at that and said, we really want a wood-like

         13  standard, so if it's a wood-like standard, they

         14  chose the speed, they chose it at 97. What they do

         15  then is they use it as a ratio, because they have to

         16  write it as a speed ratio because bats break at the

         17  higher speed, so they use the BESR ratio which they

         18  now have in place.

         19                 What is the result of the BESR test?

         20  We now have three levels, three prongs to this test.

         21  First, before the BESR rule, the maximum allowable

         22  bat diameter was two and three-quarter inch. It's

         23  now two and five-eighths.

         24                 Not only that, there's a weight

         25  limit. You go to minus three, from where we were at
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          2  the time minus five. It's not only just a weight

          3  limit, there is a MOI limit. That's an engineering

          4  term for basically swing rate. The bat can't be too

          5  handle heavy.

          6                 So, there is a limit on how light the

          7  bat can swing. And the manufacturers didn't choose

          8  the level. The NCAA chose the MOI level.

          9                 The third prong and the most

         10  important prong was what we're talking about, the

         11  ratio of speeds and that limits and controls the

         12  trampoline effect people talk about. Talks about the

         13  springiness of a bat. It gets the springiness of the

         14  bat so that the aluminum bat or the non-wood bat,

         15  with its complete handle-flex MOI, hit exactly like

         16  a wood bat in the test, and that's what we're

         17  complying with.

         18                 Since that time, what has this done?

         19  It slowed down the game. The NCAA talks about their

         20  stats. People have shown you those stats before. I'm

         21  not going to go over those. What I am is going to

         22  say is that when we have players hitting our cage,

         23  what we do almost every day, we have a batting cage,

         24  and we compare wood and aluminum on occasions.

         25                 What we find is that our bats today
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          2  get in the cage 96, 95 miles an hour with players.

          3  These are semi-pro players, or ex-pro players,

          4  they're collegiate players. So, these aren't just

          5  people like me who can't swing a bat. I mean, these

          6  people can really swing a bat.

          7                 So, the speeds have come down and we

          8  have data to show that.

          9                 There seem to be a misconception that

         10  there is data out there saying that BESR certified

         11  bats out hit wood. That isn't true. One of the

         12  studies people misuse is the Brown Study, where Dr.

         13  Crisco tested the metal bat against wood bats.

         14                 David Ettinger reminded you that

         15  those bats were pre-BESR bats. They're two and

         16  three-quarter inch diameter, and they're minus five.

         17                 One of them was minus three, and that

         18  one hit exactly like wood, or statistically the

         19  same. Statistically the same means there is as much

         20  variation hit-to-hit as there was difference between

         21  the two bats. So, it's just chance that there's any

         22  difference really between the bats.

         23                 That metal bat became almost exactly

         24  like what passes the BESR later. The barrel was too

         25  large so we had to redesign that bat. That was an
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          2  Easton bat, by the way, that M1 bat that you can see

          3  in the table.

          4                 So, what did we do after BESR? What

          5  do we do to design bats? We design bats to help

          6  players play. We're not trying to make bats go

          7  faster. We have a speed limit in place, and we can

          8  comply with that.

          9                 So, what we're trying to do is make

         10  bats feel bats. We're trying to expand the sweet

         11  spot so people don't get stung. So players enjoy the

         12  game. That's what we're doing. We're complying with

         13  the rules, the rules have slowed the game down, and

         14  we're making bats to those rules, okay?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Well, thank you

         16  for your testimony. I have a few questions for you

         17  before I unleash Councilman Oddo.

         18                 Mr. Keener, just really one for you,

         19  because I'm a little puzzled by this.

         20                 You pointed out quite accurately that

         21  you don't really have a dog in this race, and there

         22  is no affect on little league, you know, as opposed

         23  to the bill that we considered four years ago, which

         24  as you know I did not support, in part because of

         25  its impact on little leagues. And it seems that the
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          2  only impact on little league is that some of your

          3  players in the summer leagues are the high school

          4  kids.

          5                 So, why are you here? Why do you

          6  care?

          7                 MR. KEENER: Well, I care because

          8  Councilman Oddo made a comment about this becoming a

          9  tidal wave across the country, and I don't think you

         10  have any intention of stopping here with high school

         11  bats, but that's what you think you can probably

         12  pass at this point. That's my guess.

         13                 So that's my reason. I believe that

         14  there is no justifiable, there is no data, there is

         15  nothing right now that demonstrates the need to make

         16  the change that this legislation proposes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: So, it's the

         18  slippery slope argument. Despite the fact that as

         19  the Chairman of this Committee, I did not support

         20  the last bill, but I've cosponsored this one, that

         21  doesn't mitigate against your view that little

         22  leagues are next.

         23                 MR. KEENER: Correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Well, okay,

         25  that's unfortunate. But it doesn't sound to me that
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          2  that's an objection that goes to the substance of

          3  the bill.

          4                 I have a few questions for our

          5  friends at Easton. First, you testified that the

          6  flex in the handle of the bat, as compared to the

          7  flex or the trampoline in the barrel of the bat,

          8  that whether they outweigh each other is an

          9  empirical question.

         10                 MR. ETTINGER: Yes, sir.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: I didn't hear the

         12  answer.

         13                 MR. ETTINGER: As to what the net

         14  affect is?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Right. I mean,

         16  you know --

         17                 MR. ETTINGER: I think what I meant to

         18  try to do was then seguay into the results which Mr.

         19  Chauvin has talked about, and that is based on when

         20  Easton looks at its own results in its batting cage

         21  now, it's wood bats and its aluminum bats are

         22  hitting the same under the current BESR test.

         23                 So, given that test, the empirical

         24  result is no difference today.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: So, your argument
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          2  is that the trampoline effect at the barrel -- I'm

          3  sorry -- yes, at the barrel offsets, is offset by

          4  the flexibility in the handle of a wooden bat?

          5                 MR. ETTINGER: I would say for today's

          6  bats where Easton has deadened the walls, thickened

          7  the walls to meet the test, that with the trampoline

          8  affect that is left is offset by handle flex and

          9  maybe, since I think we'd all agree nobody is

         10  perfect on physics here, the momentum effect of a

         11  wood bat, which I mentioned.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: So, then I'm just

         13  kind of curious then; what accounts for the

         14  increased offense that you're touting? I don't

         15  understand, the field bases still 90, you know feet

         16  away from each other, the pitcher is still 60.6

         17  away, the mound height hasn't changed, you know, the

         18  outfield, we're still playing nine guys in the

         19  field. You know, why? And what accounts for the 316,

         20  the 291 to the 234 in the Cape Cod League?

         21                 MR. ETTINGER: Well, let me talk about

         22  it and then Mr. Chauvin I'm sure will add something,

         23  and that is, the difference is that the aluminum bat

         24  is more forgiving. If you're a little bit off the

         25  sweet spot on the wood bat, you may dribble a
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          2  grounder if you're a little bit off the sweet spot

          3  of the aluminum bat, you may be able to bloop a

          4  single. And, so, the aluminum bat allows more hits

          5  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Or maybe hit a

          7  line drive back at the pitcher.

          8                 MR. ETTINGER: Well, no, if you hit

          9  the ball square on at the sweet spot with either

         10  bat, it's going to be the same. The difference is

         11  going to be frequency, not severity, and I think

         12  Dewey can speak to it with even more detail.

         13                 MR. CHAUVIN: The difference is

         14  comfort level. The player, when he walks up with a

         15  bat that's not going to sting him, can chase that

         16  pitch that he might lay off of, because he knows

         17  he's going to get bit. So, he'll put out that

         18  aluminum bat and hit it along the surface. It's also

         19  -- excuse me, Mr. Oddo, let me finish, please.

         20  Thank you.

         21                 And also the slightly lighter MOI

         22  allows him to chase pitches and get to pitches that

         23  a heavier bat would cause him to miss and possibly

         24  strike out. So, there would be strike out

         25  differences, batting averages differences basically
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          2  on those issues.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Wait a second.

          4  Let's go back. So, the metal bat will allow them to

          5  chase another pitch. You know, you might be able to

          6  chase some pitches that you wouldn't be able to

          7  chase with a wooden bat, right?

          8                 MR. CHAUVIN: Some players would be

          9  able to do that, yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Why?

         11                 MR. CHAUVIN: Why? Because they're not

         12  afraid of getting stung.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: As opposed to the

         14  bat being faster?

         15                 MR. CHAUVIN: It's lighter so they can

         16  control it.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: And lighter

         18  meaning best?

         19                 MR. CHAUVIN: Possibly quicker. But it

         20  doesn't have as much mass.

         21                 If you take a look at, I think it's

         22  Watts and Bayhill's book, they refer back to a study

         23  done in 1960 on wood bats.

         24                 At the time, during the fifties,

         25  there was a bunch of controversy about shaved wood
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          2  bats, because people were making wood bats so much

          3  lighter. They were very afraid that that was going

          4  to kill the game of baseball and change it as they

          5  knew it.

          6                 So, in 1960 or '62, I forget which,

          7  Life Magazine did a study with Roger Maris, and what

          8  they did is they tested bats from like 32 ounces up

          9  to I think almost 42 ounces, and they measured how

         10  far he hit the bat, hit the ball, and how fast hit

         11  the ball, and guess which one hit the hardest? Every

         12  time he picked up a heavier bat, it hit harder. Why?

         13  Because it has more inertia. That's why we have a

         14  difference between a tack hammer and a sledge

         15  hammer. Why? Because a sledgehammer hits harder.

         16  Yes, it's slower, but it hits harder.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: One also has to

         18  have the strength to swing it.

         19                 I want to go to the conclusions of

         20  your written testimony, that you thankfully didn't

         21  read, but they are here.

         22                 It says, "We believe that the

         23  proposed local law would eliminate player and school

         24  choice, add substantial expense, and make high

         25  school baseball less fun for players who want a game
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          2  with more offense than the 234 batting average

          3  experienced in the summer of wood bat only Cape Cod

          4  League."

          5                 And I just want to comment, I've

          6  already pointed out to you that the choice issue is

          7  a red herring. Because we're already limiting player

          8  choice, even by your own testimony with the BESR

          9  standards, there are bats --

         10                 MR. ETTINGER: Can I respond to that?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Well, when I'm

         12  finished you can respond.

         13                 MR. ETTINGER: Sure.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: There are bats

         15  that you're not permitting. You're already limiting

         16  player choice.

         17                 We hear on this side of the table

         18  have eliminated the expense issue, because we've

         19  indicated that we would compensate for whatever

         20  increased expense there might be, so that the

         21  athletes in the City of New York would not be

         22  prejudiced by that. And it's the issue of whether or

         23  not baseball is more or less fun when you have a

         24  pitchers dual or slug fest, I don't honestly think

         25  that's the province of either Easton Sports or this

                                                            243

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  Council Committee. You know, I think that's more in

          3  the province of Mike and the mad dog. You know,

          4  whether or not we like baseball played one way or

          5  another I think is absolutely a matter of taste, and

          6  so, I kind of dismiss that one. So, I'll be happy to

          7  take your response. Those are the comments.

          8                 MR. ETTINGER: Sure.

          9                 First of all, on the issue of

         10  regulation, there's a big difference between

         11  regulating and exhibiting, and this bill, if I'm

         12  reading it correctly, actually says that aluminum

         13  bats are flat out prohibited, no matter what test

         14  they can pass, but a composite bat, if it passes a

         15  test, I'm not sure whose test, to be equal to wood

         16  will be okay.

         17                 And, so, you've gone a step with this

         18  bill well beyond the NCAA or even the concept of

         19  regulation, and that's a lot more restrictive of

         20  choice than the current bill.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Mr. Ettinger,

         22  only a lawyer could possibly argue that there's a

         23  difference between regulating and prohibiting, when

         24  the regulation in effect prohibits the use of a

         25  certain type of bat. Only a lawyer can say, and as a
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          2  lawyer, I appreciate that, that's what we call a

          3  legal fiction, but it's utter nonsense. Because if

          4  you're making a regulation that says I regulate

          5  something that says this is illegal and you can't

          6  use it, it is per se a prohibition, so let's not be

          7  silly.

          8                 MR. ETTINGER: Can I respond to that?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Sure.

         10                 MR. ETTINGER: Because your mockery I

         11  think is misplaced. There is a difference between a

         12  regulation like the BESR, which says you can still

         13  use an aluminum bat, you can get the benefits of a

         14  more forgiving bat, but we're going to restrict it

         15  in certain ways. And a rule that says you can't use

         16  any aluminum bat, now granted, you can create a

         17  regulation which says you can only use an aluminum

         18  bat and create such restrictions that it would be

         19  the equivalent of the prohibition, and that's what I

         20  was talking about, then your comments would be

         21  appropriate. That's not at all the real world.

         22                 The real world is a regulatory

         23  system, including the one that your bill allows for

         24  composite bats, which allows you to prove its

         25  equivalent of wood, and something that says you
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          2  can't lose aluminum no matter what you can show.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Mr. Ettinger, I'm

          4  not going to at the late hour argue the semantics of

          5  whether or not a regulation that prohibits the use

          6  of a certain type of a bat is a prohibition, or

          7  there's a difference, because quite frankly, I think

          8  the remarks are absolutely appropriate.

          9                 So, I guess, you know, from the

         10  conclusions here in your testimony, I mean you're

         11  doing this for the love of baseball. I guess I have

         12  to ask the obvious question, which is what is the

         13  profit margin to Easton Sports and the difference

         14  between the manufacture and production of a wooden

         15  bat, and the aluminum bats?

         16                 MR. ETTINGER: I don't know the

         17  answer, but obviously Easton makes more money from

         18  aluminum bats than wood bats.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Well, that is the

         20  answer, Easton makes more money from aluminum bats

         21  than wood bats, and God, you know, God bless you.

         22  I'm a capitalist, I believe in capitalism, I believe

         23  people should make money, all right? But not at the

         24  expense and safety of our young people, which is

         25  something that I think this Committee clearly feels
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          2  you are putting in jeopardy with these aluminum

          3  bats.

          4                 MR. ETTINGER: Well, if I could --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: No, actually, at

          6  this point I'm going to let Councilman Oddo go.

          7                 MR. ETTINGER: Okay.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Ettinger,

          9  welcome back.

         10                 MR. ETTINGER: Thank you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Just on the

         12  issue of the ancillary issue. It's important, we

         13  haven't spent a lot of time on it, on the issue of

         14  reaction time.

         15                 Didn't the NCAA's Blue Ribbon Panel

         16  conclude that reaction time itself could not really

         17  be a determinant of the exit speed levels because

         18  reaction time varied between and among various

         19  players? Didn't the Blue Ribbon Panel sort of say

         20  judging the reaction time isn't the way to go to get

         21  the end that we want?

         22                 MR. ETTINGER: That is correct. That

         23  is what the Blue Ribbon Panel did. I'm not sure I

         24  agree, I'm not sure you agree.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, I just
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          2  want to --

          3                 MR. ETTINGER: That is what they did,

          4  absolutely.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay.

          6                 Mr. Ettinger, let me ask, last time

          7  around I think Easton Sports put out a statement

          8  that said that you believe that the bats, Easton

          9  bats made perhaps had an exit speed of increase of

         10  two to three miles per hour? There was a statement

         11  that was put out that we have prior to the hearing.

         12                 My question is, I mean we have it, I

         13  could show it to you, I'm not making it up. My

         14  question to you is, is that your contention today

         15  that metal bats, Easton bats, maybe hit a ball two

         16  or three miles per hour quicker?

         17                 MR. ETTINGER: I don't remember saying

         18  that. And I think what Mr. Chauvin has found in the

         19  batting cages, there is no difference.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay, let me

         21  just correct, sir, that you know I'm playing fair.

         22                 You did not say that during the

         23  hearing. There was a statement that Easton put out

         24  in part of its package that said two to three miles

         25  per hour.
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          2                 MR. ETTINGER: Well, it might have

          3  said it in the context of the one bat in the frozen

          4  rope study, the Brown University Study, but I don't

          5  think we said Easton bats as a general matter hit

          6  two, three miles an hour --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So, your

          8  position today is Easton bats do not hit --

          9                 MR. ETTINGER: Any faster.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Any faster.

         11                 MR. ETTINGER: That is what Mr.

         12  Chauvin has found through his testing.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay.

         14                 Let me ask you this --

         15                 MR. ETTINGER: By the way, that one

         16  bat, again, that was raw data which the testers

         17  found was not statistically significant, so they

         18  would not draw a conclusion as to the bat overall

         19  from that data.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay, fair

         21  enough.

         22                 Mr. McKay -- I know this is not your

         23  company, this is Louisville Slugger, Mr. McKay

         24  actually sent his former boss, Mr. Archer, a memo in

         25  February of 1997, and he made this assertion that

                                                            249

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  this is Mr. McKay speaking to Mr. Archer. "You keep

          3  saying we're building bats through the NCAA's 1.15

          4  standard. It's their responsibility. That is not

          5  exactly true. You and George -- I assume he means

          6  George Manning from Louisville Slugger, and Jim

          7  Darby of your company, and other manufacturers

          8  recommended the 1.15 BPF and the NCAA set that

          9  standard based on the manufacturer's recommendation.

         10                 Is that an accurate statement?

         11                 MR. ETTINGER: Dewey was involved with

         12  this history.  He can answer some, and I may as

         13  well.

         14                 MR. CHAUVIN: What had happened was, I

         15  forget the time period, but the NCAA asked for a

         16  test. They asked to test several different bats.

         17  There were several bats tested across different

         18  eras, including the 1996 College World Series. The

         19  NCAA then looked at the data and chose the level

         20  which they wanted to play with. It's not correct.

         21                 MR. ETTINGER: Let me also say that on

         22  the BPF test, this is a long subject, but we'll

         23  answer any questions you've got, but you might not

         24  want to spend time on it. We believe the BPF test

         25  was an entirely appropriate test, but it's not used
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          2  today.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You believe it

          4  was inappropriate. You know there are people out

          5  there, including Mr. McKay and Mr. Bomb and others,

          6  who think that it isn't appropriate because the

          7  speeds that you use that were 60 miles an hour, and

          8  they felt that you really couldn't get the ball in

          9  the bat over at 140. You know, we don't have to go

         10  in great detail, but you don't believe in the BPF

         11  test?

         12                 MR. ETTINGER: No, I said we thought

         13  the BPF --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I mean, you did

         15  believe and they didn't?

         16                 MR. ETTINGER: It was an appropriate,

         17  relative test.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay. Relative.

         19  And I think that's the key, relative, right?

         20                 MR. ETTINGER: That was what it was

         21  used for. Relative to 1994 speeds.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay.

         23                 Let me ask you this: Mr. Darby

         24  testified at the New Jersey hearing last week in

         25  Trenton that  "... bat manufacturers only make
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          2  products to the standards we're given. Those

          3  standards are given from the, all the way down from

          4  the NCAA to the little league, those standards are

          5  made and given to them. Basically Easton is only

          6  making the product for the standards that are given

          7  us."

          8                 Is that an accurate statement?

          9                 MR. ETTINGER: If Easton thought that

         10  the standards led to unsafe bats, it wouldn't be

         11  making them, but Easton, even if it thinks the

         12  standards are unduly restrictive, is going to, of

         13  course, follow them.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Does Easton have

         15  any influence, or has Easton had any influence over

         16  creating the standards that are in play today, or

         17  are the standards back in, leading up to the 1999

         18  settlement?

         19                 I'm sorry, I'm directing my question

         20  to Easton, and since you did a good job of

         21  separating yourself from Easton, I'll ask Mr.

         22  Ettinger to answer first.

         23                 MR. ETTINGER: Easton has expressed

         24  its views, it's had some influence, it's won some

         25  and it's lost more, in terms of --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: When you say

          3  Easton had some influence on the protocol, can you

          4  give me an example?

          5                 MR. ETTINGER: I think Mr. Chauvin

          6  made some suggestions, one of which was followed

          7  because Dr. Sherwood thought it make sense, if I'm

          8  remembering correctly, others of which were not

          9  followed, because they didn't think they made sense.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So, the

         11  assertions made by some folks that Easton was at the

         12  table, you know, helping to frame the protocol in

         13  '99, the assertion is that Easton's lawsuit was,

         14  exerted some influence over the NCAA, the assertion

         15  that there was some changes made at the end; is that

         16  accurate? How involved were you personally, and

         17  Easton, in framing the protocol that for the NCAA,

         18  that it was extrapolated down for the high school

         19  federations?

         20                 MR. ETTINGER: We didn't frame it. We

         21  made comments, others made comments.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: On a scale of

         23  one to ten, one being metaphysically not involved in

         24  it, ten being you were up to your eyeballs; where

         25  was Easton in framing the protocol?
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          2                 MR. ETTINGER: I don't know, it's

          3  like, you know, if you were a tree, what kind of

          4  tree would you be?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Oh, sort of a

          6  McLaughlin Group moment. So, let's have it.

          7                 MR. ETTINGER: I think it's pretty

          8  hard to figure out where we'd be on such a scale.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, I mean,

         10  you know the activity. Did you influence? Did you

         11  feel --

         12                 MR. ETTINGER: We made arguments on

         13  the sciences. I told you originally the NCAA made

         14  some basic mistakes. They didn't account for air

         15  resistance. It was a physics 101 problem, and we

         16  pointed it out eventually --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Did you write

         18  any of the protocols?

         19                 MR. ETTINGER: No.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: No, you didn't

         21  write any.

         22                 There was an action in Michigan,

         23  between Mr. Bomb and various interests, and in that

         24  there was an exhibit. I'll give you the docket

         25  number, 439-1. And it's entitled "Plaintiff's Chart
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          2  of August/September 1999, Communication Between

          3  Easton's Counsel and the NCAA's Counsel Relating to

          4  Protocol, NCAA Easton Settlement."

          5                 And in it it lists different

          6  exhibits, 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, 13, 16, 23, 24, 25,

          7  26, 31, and it's various communications between

          8  author David D. Ettinger, recipient G. Kurtner, who

          9  I believe is the counsel to the NCAA. And it just

         10  says, "Description. Fax transmission. Outline of

         11  possible settlement." That's understandable. "Draft

         12  protocol of attorney's handwritten notes. Draft

         13  protocol with attorney's handwritten notes. Revised

         14  protocol draft reflecting parties in exchange for

         15  settlement purposes." It has correspondence and

         16  draft protocol, e-mail and correspondence of draft

         17  protocol, exchange between attorneys. It has some

         18  stuff that talks about, I think the phrase is "red

         19  lining of draft protocol," and it goes on and on and

         20  on. We're going to make those part of the record as

         21  well, part of the public court documents.

         22                 What are those?

         23                 MR. ETTINGER: As I said, there were a

         24  couple of things going on. We were talking about a

         25  settlement, and we made comments on a protocol, as
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          2  did other manufacturers, as did Mr. Bomb.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Absolutely.

          4                 So, this seems to be a significant

          5  exchange and their dates, ranging from 8/18/99,

          6  throughout the month of August and September, and

          7  there was significant exchange between you and the

          8  counsel to the NCAA. That leads me to believe that

          9  Easton had a good, meaning a large say, in the

         10  protocol.

         11                 MR. ETTINGER: We had input, and as I

         12  said, some of the things we suggested made sense to

         13  them and were adopted and some weren't. And I'm

         14  perfectly happy to go down that protocol, which by

         15  the way, has changed a lot since then.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Absolutely.

         17                 MR. ETTINGER: Let me just finish.

         18  Line-by-line, and talk to you about the debates that

         19  occurred and the logic for what was done.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Understood. And

         21  as we said the last time, which we never did, we'll

         22  do it over.  By the way, you're from Michigan?

         23                 MR. ETTINGER: Right.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Congratulations

         25  on your Tigers.
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          2                 MR. ETTINGER: So far so good. Thank

          3  you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So far so good.

          5                 It's clear that people, and you can

          6  say they have self interest, and maybe they do, have

          7  asserted that Easton had an undue influence in that

          8  process.

          9                 I'm not sure what the truth is, sir.

         10  It raises enough doubt for me to question, and

         11  that's my point. I'm not saying it's gospel, but

         12  there's enough there to make me wonder, not only

         13  there, in other court documents, in the petition by

         14  Mr. McKay, in the petition and legal documents by

         15  Mr. Bomb, it makes it seem that Easton has an

         16  awfully good working relationship with the NCAA. And

         17  I'm being kind.

         18                 MR. ETTINGER: Mr. Bomb is a guy who

         19  could never sell his bat, and he said in that

         20  lawsuit that if only aluminum bats weren't there, he

         21  would have made $100 million.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, you

         23  attacked Mr. McKay. Let's not attack Mr. Bomb,

         24  because I'm representing Mr. Bomb.

         25                 MR. ETTINGER: My point is simple. We
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          2  have an economic stake, no question. They have an

          3  economic stake. Judge it on the end product and

          4  whether it's justified on the science. That's all

          5  that we ask you to do.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Fair enough.

          7  Fair enough.

          8                 Let me ask you. We've heard a lot

          9  about the BESR. And let me ask you this: You've said

         10  in the previous hearing, and you've said in print

         11  and you've said today that metal bats do not hit

         12  better than the best wooden bat. But in establishing

         13  the BESR, was the best wooden bat tested against --

         14  I'm sorry, the best metal bat tested against a --

         15  I'm sorry, let's start this again.

         16                 Was the best wooden bat tested

         17  against a metal bat with identical and equal

         18  properties? I'm talking length, weight, center of

         19  gravity and moment of inertia.

         20                 Was this an apples to apples test?

         21                 MR. ETTINGER: No, because it was

         22  inappropriate for it to be. And I can explain why,

         23  if you like.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes.

         25                 MR. ETTINGER: The NCAA concluded,
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          2  similar to what I think Chairman Fidler said

          3  earlier, that the level of risk involved with wood

          4  bats, which have been used for 100 years, has been

          5  judged by society in some way to be safe. They've

          6  been used for 100 years. And that includes major

          7  league wood. So, they said let's take the level of

          8  velocity from major league wood, and if an aluminum

          9  bat is going to hit that and no faster, that will be

         10  an acceptable level of risk.

         11                 Now, is the aluminum bat going to be

         12  identical to the wood bat in every respect? No, it

         13  doesn't. It shouldn't have to be. The wood bat has,

         14  there are characteristics about the wood bat that

         15  give it some advantages in hitting the ball faster,

         16  some that maybe give it some disadvantages in

         17  hitting the ball faster. But let's set it at the

         18  best major league wood bat. And they used a bat, you

         19  know, that's commonly used in the major leagues.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: What would

         21  happen if you tested a metal bat and a wooden bat

         22  with identical and equal properties, length, weight,

         23  moment of inertia, center of gravity; what would

         24  happen?

         25                 MR. ETTINGER: Well, if you made them
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          2  identical in all ways, I don't think you would have

          3  an aluminum bat because that's the problem.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The point is, if

          5  you do test identical bats -- well, let me ask you

          6  this: Has anyone ever tested a metal bat and a

          7  wooden bat with identical and equal properties?

          8  Length, weight, center of gravity, moment of

          9  inertia? To your knowledge, has anyone ever tested

         10  that?

         11                 MR. ETTINGER: Mr. Bomb has purported

         12  to on his machine, but there are a lot of questions

         13  about that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Has Mr. Sherwood

         15  ever tested? Or Dr. Sherwood? I keep calling him Mr.

         16                 MR. CHAUVIN: I don't know what other

         17  bat manufacturers provided to them.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay.

         19                 MR. CHAUVIN: To that end, Mr. Bomb

         20  actually tested some of our bats, done that way, and

         21  the difference was a half of a mile an hour faster.

         22  I'm sorry, but we did do that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay.

         24                 MR. CHAUVIN: We did do that. We stood

         25  in his lab, he ran the test.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, since we

          3  talked about Mr. Bomb, let's go to Mr. Bomb's

          4  website, www.bombbat.com. And I'm reading, and I'll

          5  make this part of the record, Mr. Chairman.

          6                 MR. ETTINGER: This is website today

          7  or a couple years ago?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: This is today.

          9                 MR. ETTINGER: Because --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: He's changed.

         11                 MR. ETTINGER: He's sanitized it a

         12  little bit.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: He changed it a

         14  few years ago, much like Mr. Sherwood seems to

         15  change.

         16                 "Today's status of college and high

         17  school baseball under BESR rule. If there exists,

         18  confusion of questions regarding the current status

         19  of NCAA and National Federation of High School

         20  Baseball Bat Rules, please allow us to simplify.

         21  This is based upon examination of the published NCAA

         22  and U. Mass, Lowell websites as of March 6th, 2006,

         23  and tests conducted by Bomb Research and Bomb

         24  Hitting Machine.

         25                 To date, all approved bats are based
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          2  upon a BESR testing standard, established in

          3  September of 1999. The testing standard did not and

          4  still does not compare the same length, weight and

          5  center of gravity, and in parenthesis, moment of

          6  inertia, of the standard setting wood bat to that of

          7  metal bats. The importance of the center of gravity,

          8  or more precisely, the moment of inertia, is

          9  displayed in the chart following..." Which we'll

         10  make available. "...at that time all testing was

         11  conducted on a patent moving bat and moving ball

         12  state of the Bomb Hitting Machine. Testing, if, in

         13  fact, it is being conducted currently, is based upon

         14  a stationary bat moving ball test...", which we'll

         15  get to later.

         16                 Anyway, the long and the short of it

         17  is, he found that when you compare those bats, metal

         18  and wood, equal properties, identical bats, that the

         19  metal bat hits at nine miles per hour faster.

         20                 MR. ETTINGER: Can I comment on that?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Sure.

         22                 MR. ETTINGER: Mr. Bomb, you've got to

         23  take his work with a large grain of salt. And I'm

         24  not going to talk about his motives.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: No larger than
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          2  you, right?

          3                 MR. ETTINGER: Just wait a second. The

          4  difference is capidence (phonetic). And here is the

          5  difference: A federal judge, in this case we were

          6  in, specifically ruled that Mr. Bomb did not have

          7  the expertise to comment on bat velocity or safety

          8  because he's an accountant who doesn't know the

          9  stuff. It talks about MOI, it's central to what he

         10  says, as you've noted.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Right.

         12                 MR. ETTINGER: I asked him at his

         13  deposition, can you give me the formula for MOI?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I read some of

         15  those depositions.

         16                 MR. ETTINGER: He doesn't know it.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Right.

         18                 MR. ETTINGER: Mr. Bomb was

         19  specifically found not to be able to have an expert

         20  basis --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, I don't

         22  want to get into the case, and I don't want to

         23  relitigate the case. There was a settlement in the

         24  case. Was there not?

         25                 MR. ETTINGER: There was.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Did Mr. Bomb get

          3  any settlement?

          4                 MR. ETTINGER: The settlement was

          5  confidential.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: It was

          7  confidential. A lot of your settlements, I have

          8  noticed, have been confidential, and a lot of good

          9  people who can supply this Committee with really

         10  important information -- Mr. Ettinger, I watched the

         11  tape for the last time, and I have to tell you, I

         12  couldn't watch it for seven months. I am not

         13  equipped to go toe-to-toe with you. I read your

         14  depositions and your transcripts, you're great. And

         15  you said earlier "objective." I wouldn't use that

         16  word. I would say very confident, very skilled, I

         17  have a lot of respect for your abilities, I don't

         18  think your objective.

         19                 But people who could come to this

         20  Committee and testify and counter some of the

         21  expertise that you and Dewey have, don't do it

         22  because you went into these confidentiality

         23  agreements. That's fine. I think he got a

         24  settlement. I think it was in the millions, and I

         25  think part of that settlement, this is going into my
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          2  next line of questioning, is who does testing? Was

          3  there a period of time when Sherwood wasn't testing,

          4  when Sherwood's use of the Bomb Hitting Machine was

          5  suspended?

          6                 MR. ETTINGER: I don't think he uses

          7  it anymore because Mr. Bomb said he didn't want to

          8  let them use it unless they did it his way, and he

          9  sued them on that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, actually,

         11  he sued and the Court found that Dr. Sherwood had

         12  violated the protocol, and suspended the testing; is

         13  that not accurate?

         14                 MR. ETTINGER: The protocol, meaning

         15  the way Mr. Bomb --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Wants to use the

         17  bat. Exactly.

         18                 MR. ETTINGER: He said if you don't

         19  use my machine my way, I won't let you use my

         20  machine.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, he

         22  invented the machine. And I'm not saying he's right

         23  and you're wrong, but the gentleman who invented the

         24  machine wanted the machine used to a certain

         25  protocol. You have problems with that. That's fine.
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          2  I'm not saying he's right and you're wrong.

          3                 So, who tested bats in play from the

          4  settlement of the Bomb case, I think it was 2005

          5  recently, who tested the bats that were allowed to

          6  play.

          7                 MR. ETTINGER: I will turn to Dewey on

          8  this.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay.

         10                 MR. CHAUVIN: Because Mr. Bomb rebuked

         11  the license, there was no test available. So, the

         12  NCAA referred to an ASTM standard 2219, and based

         13  the new protocol.

         14                 Because of the new protocol, they

         15  were not set up to do testing. They were forced in a

         16  position where they had to allow self-certification.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: That's where I'm

         18  going.

         19                 MR. CHAUVIN: I know you are.

         20                 So, we want to self-certification,

         21  which needs to be recertified, and Dr. Sherwood is

         22  working on recertifying those bats now that he has

         23  his laft (phonetic) up and running.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Dr. Sherwood is

         25  recertifying those bats under whose jurisdiction?
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          2                 MR. CHAUVIN: NCAA.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Some of your

          4  bats are self-certified, correct?

          5                 MR. CHAUVIN: I believe so, yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The top of the

          7  line brand is your Stealth CNT bat?

          8                 MR. CHAUVIN: I don't recall. They're

          9  the new bats.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes, four of the

         11  Stealth bats. I think the Stealth with the 34

         12  ounces, 33, 32, 31. We have that, and we'll find

         13  that, are self certified.

         14                 Let me ask you this before I forget.

         15  Maybe Dewey, if you don't mind me calling you that,

         16  you could answer.

         17                 This is a recent baseball America

         18  magazine, and on the front page is an ad of one of

         19  your competitors, and it says, "Why Bats That Don't

         20  Bend Win." And it said, "The last thing you want at

         21  the moment of contact is for your bat handle to

         22  flex. When the handle flexes, the barrel can't. That

         23  reduces your trampoline effect. The stiff handle

         24  produces more barrel flex resulting in maximum

         25  trampoline effect, and ultimately greater
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          2  performance."

          3                 Do you have any comment on that? And

          4  Mr. Ettinger, will you comment, or Mr. Darby (sic),

          5  is this a better bat than the Easton bat, the SC900?

          6                 MR. ETTINGER: I think I better defer

          7  to Mr. Chauvin.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Fair enough.

          9                 MR. ETTINGER: It is not my expertise

         10  here.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Fair enough.

         12                 MR. CHAUVIN: That's not company's

         13  belief that stiffer handles are better. I disagree

         14  with that. They comply with the BESR rule like we

         15  do. They take one method to comply with the rule, we

         16  take yet another.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay. Mr.

         18  Ettinger, are you familiar with Dr. Sherwood's

         19  comments about BESR, that he's made over the years?

         20                 MR. ETTINGER: I'm familiar with a

         21  number of his comments. He has changed his views.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: He has voiced

         23  again in a lot of the documentation related to the

         24  court case, involving Mr. Bomb, he asserts, and he

         25  called it "A dimensionless study." He really
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          2  criticizes the BESR formula.

          3                 MR. ETTINGER: People have used that

          4  term as if it's pejorative, dimensionless. It's not

          5  at all. What it means is, it's a description of the

          6  fact the test normalizes for pitch and swing speed

          7  so that you could use it at varied pitch and swing

          8  speeds.

          9                 There is nothing negative about that,

         10  it's just a description of the physics.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: When Mr. Bomb

         12  says the BESR formula is a shroud to cover the

         13  results reduced by the Bomb Hitting Machine, it's

         14  actually a simple stand-alone formula that a ninth

         15  grader can execute. And it has been referred to by

         16  Dr. Sherwood as a dimensionless number. What do you

         17  think about Mr. Bomb's comment on that?

         18                 MR. ETTINGER: Well, you know, Mr.

         19  Bomb was found not to be of expertise in physics by

         20  the Judge.

         21                 I agree that it's a formula that

         22  anybody who is good at algebra can understand at

         23  least how to calculate it. I've seen a physicist

         24  derive it from basic principles of physics, and he

         25  lost me pretty soon. You know, the basis for it is
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          2  more complicated.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Chairman, if

          4  you will, we're going to put into the record a

          5  document called number 408-1 from the lawsuit Bomb

          6  Research versus Hillerich Bradsby (phonetic), Easton

          7  National Collegiate Athletic Association. And it's

          8  too late, I won't bore the Committee and go over the

          9  specific point-by-point assertions by Bomb and

         10  others why BESR is flawed and compromised.

         11                 MR. ETTINGER: By the way, Mr. Bomb

         12  said that and I think I asked him if he could write

         13  out the formula and he could not. He really doesn't

         14  have the competence to describe. There are people

         15  who can, but not Mr. Bomb.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Fair enough.

         17                 Thank you. I'm just going to close

         18  with this one last question. So, BESR today does not

         19  compare wood and metal bats with identical and equal

         20  properties, of length, weight, center of gravity and

         21  moment of inertia; that's correct, right?

         22                 MR. CHAUVIN: That's not exactly

         23  correct. Any manufacturer could design bats of that

         24  and put it in their test.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: When they did
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          2  the BESR testing, was it of bats made of identical

          3  -- they were not?

          4                 MR. CHAUVIN: They were done with bats

          5  that wanted to be on the field.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: That were not

          7  identical?

          8                 MR. CHAUVIN: The products --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: That were not

         10  identical?

         11                 MR. CHAUVIN: Sir, I don't know if

         12  other manufacturers had some that were identical.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay.

         14                 MR. CHAUVIN: I can say from Easton's

         15  standpoint they weren't identical.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, I would,

         17  Mr. Chairman, put it on the record, we will put it

         18  into the record yet again, more documentation that

         19  asserts that they were not identical. That if they

         20  were done with identical bats, there would have been

         21  an increase in mile per hour, and it exceeds that

         22  everyone I think agrees that the standard we want

         23  out there is wood. Is wood-like.

         24                 MR. CHAUVIN: But those bats aren't on

         25  the field.
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          2                 MR. ETTINGER: Let me just say one

          3  thing. I would certainly stipulate that the NCAA

          4  test does not require that the bats be identical in

          5  all these respects, and let me just finish. Nor does

          6  it think that makes any sense, because as long as

          7  the end result is the exit velocity that's the

          8  equivalent, the other characteristics don't matter.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Fair enough.

         10                 Mr. Ettinger, I'm going to close with

         11  this, and I thank you gentlemen for your time.

         12                 I would close with this, that I have

         13  less faith in the NCAA than other people. I have

         14  less faith in the NCAA because when I see things

         15  like this, I think the NCAA is, their relationship

         16  with the bat manufacturers, it's a mutually

         17  beneficial relationship, and I think their protocol

         18  is established more. And again, Mr. Chairman,

         19  without sounding repetitive, it's in the record,

         20  will make part of the record assertion where people

         21  come out and share what comes out and says, the Blue

         22  Ribbon Panel didn't make a decision, the Rules

         23  Committee didn't make a decision. It was influenced

         24  by the bat manufacturers. So, when you rely on the

         25  NCAA, I have questions about that.
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          2                 MR. ETTINGER: Could I comment on

          3  that?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: One last

          5  question, and good luck to the Tigers.

          6                 MR. ETTINGER: Thanks. Real briefly.

          7  First of all, if you look at Sherwood's testimony,

          8  and, you know, this gets involved, Sherwood didn't

          9  understand the MOI affect. We had lengthy

         10  discussions with Drs Carroll and Johnson on the

         11  panel, who are eminent physicists and engineers, and

         12  they convinced him that he was wrong about MOI. And

         13  Mr. Bomb, by the way, flip-flopped twice on MOI and

         14  changed his view. So, Sherwood's view changed

         15  because people who were frankly more eminent

         16  scientists on the panel, convinced him to do so.

         17                 Secondly, we're not asking you to

         18  trust the NCAA. Sure, people like Easton were in

         19  there trying to express our views. And by the way,

         20  Greg Kurtner (phonetic), the NCAA's lawyer in

         21  Detroit, I've known him for 30 years. We beat each

         22  other's brains out in litigation many times, but we

         23  respect each other. So, when I had a good argument,

         24  he listened. When I had a bad argument, in his view,

         25  he didn't listen. But the bottom line is, I'm not
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          2  asking you to trust the process. I'm asking you to

          3  look at the results and look at the science about

          4  the results. It's all drafting, and we think the

          5  science supports what came out in the process and

          6  that's what counts.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Three points.

          8  Nowhere in the description, and we'll put the actual

          9  documents into the record, nowhere in the

         10  description does it seem that you and Mr. Kurtner

         11  were talking about the Tigers's rotation, or

         12  inviting him out for a beer the way you did me. It

         13  seemed it was definitely talking about protocol.

         14                 Secondly, am I correct in saying the

         15  MOU -- the MOU -- the MOI is a minimum standard, not

         16  an equal standard? In other words, there's a minimum

         17  standard that metal bats have to have. It's not

         18  equal to the MOI. It doesn't need to equal or be the

         19  same as the MOI for a wooden bat; is that correct?

         20                 MR. ETTINGER: Correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay. There was

         22  one other comment I wanted to make, but at this late

         23  hour it seems to escape me. So, if I might, I want

         24  to ask Mr. Keener -- I disagree with the Chairman.

         25  We agree on the Mets, we agree on lots of things. We
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          2  disagree. I think you do have a dog in this fight.

          3  And I'm sorry you walked out of the hearing in New

          4  Jersey, because I went out of my way to do a mia

          5  copa and in essence maybe apologize to you. I

          6  probably went too far than I needed to go, but I

          7  wanted to let the Committee know that this is not

          8  personal.

          9                 I think you do. I think you have a

         10  great relationship, and I think you love the status

         11  quo personally and your organization. My belief,

         12  after reading all of this stuff, after talking to

         13  lots of people, that the NCAA, the National High

         14  School Federation, Little League Baseball, bat

         15  manufacturers and the Sporting Good Manufacturers

         16  Association has this wonderful, mutually beneficial

         17  relationship. You took great exception, and the mia

         18  copa I did in Jersey, I said I got sloppy with my

         19  language and I grouped you in with the NCAA when I

         20  said making millions. You don't make millions from

         21  the sporting good manufacturers. You may make

         22  millions from ESPN from televising the Little League

         23  World Series, we'll get to that in a second. But I

         24  think that you have a really comfortable

         25  relationship right now, and I think it's beneficial
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          2  and things are good. And every now and then a kid

          3  gets hurt and a kid is killed and this issue comes

          4  up, and then it seems to subside and then you guys

          5  go on your merry way.

          6                 You took great exception when I said

          7  about the money, and you said to me, you gave me a

          8  dollar amount on the sporting goods manufacturer

          9  money that you get, and you said it was relatively

         10  small, and I asked you about ESPN, and you got very

         11  upset with me, and you said go get the 990 form. And

         12  I said to you, you know, you gave me the one number,

         13  I just assumed you'd give me the 990 form.

         14                 Well, I did go get the 990 form. I

         15  got it recently. And I think the most recent one off

         16  of Foundationcenter.org is a 990 form for the 2004

         17  year. And I tried to find that number, the amount of

         18  money you guys get from Easton, because I think it's

         19  fun. I watch the Mid-Island Little Leaguers.

         20                 MR. KEENER: I think you mean ESPN,

         21  not Easton.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Oh, I have David

         23  Ettinger on my mind for a long time. It's a

         24  compliment, I think. But I looked to see where the

         25  money is, where is the breakdown, and I look at your
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          2  990 form, and I think that there's supposed to be a

          3  statement 18 in the 2004 990 that breaks down the

          4  program service revenue that you have.

          5                 Could you tell me, are you more

          6  willing to talk about the 990 form this year?

          7                 MR. KEENER: Sure.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Can you tell me

          9  how much? I can't seem to find page 18. It was

         10  almost like Janine Piero (phonetic) where is page

         11  ten moment. How much money do you get from ESPN for

         12  televising?

         13                 MR. KEENER: Let me ask you a question

         14  first.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: No, no, no. When

         16  you --

         17                 MR. KEENER: It's going to help

         18  clarify what you're looking at.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay, go ahead.

         20                 MR. KEENER: That's my point.

         21                 That document you're looking at, is

         22  that the 990 from the Little League Foundation or

         23  Little League Baseball Incorporated?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: It's the Little

         25  League Baseball Incorporated.
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          2                 MR. KEENER: Little League Baseball

          3  Incorporated. That's the correct one then.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay.

          5                 MR. KEENER: The question is $1.4

          6  million.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: $1.4 million.

          8  Are you familiar with Statement 18, the breakdown?

          9  Statement 18 doesn't seem to exist.

         10                 MR. KEENER: Well, it's been awhile

         11  since I've looked at the 2004 990.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay.

         13                 MR. KEENER: I'd have to take a look

         14  at it and get a better understanding of what it is

         15  you're asking me about from that.

         16                 I think we're required on our 990s to

         17  list our largest sources of revenue. Our largest

         18  contractual sources of revenue.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Right.

         20                 MR. KEENER: It may not have been in

         21  ESPN in 2004.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: See, that's what

         23  I want.

         24                 MR. KEENER: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I want to see
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          2  where you get your revenue.

          3                 You told me to go to the 990. I did.

          4  That statement seems to be missing.

          5                 MR. KEENER: I can breakdown any

          6  aspect of our budget that you would like to know

          7  where our revenue comes from. I'd be happy to show

          8  you any of our 990 forms in 2006 back to whenever we

          9  required -- we've got nothing to hid. There is not

         10  one bit of evidence to suggest any fiscal

         11  impropriety on the part of Little League Baseball.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: No one is saying

         13  that. No one is saying that.

         14                 MR. KEENER: That's what you're

         15  alluding to.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: No, no, no.

         17                 MR. KEENER: You are trying to make a

         18  case that we aren't --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: No, no, no. Mr.

         20  Keener, what I am asserting is that as a very

         21  comfortable relationship that you have collectively,

         22  the NCAA, the High School Federation, the Little

         23  League Baseball, with the sporting good

         24  manufacturers and the bat companies. That's it.

         25                 My little kids got these wonderful
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          2  gifts on Mid-Island. Joe Calebrese was here. His son

          3  pitched, he's still here. They got wonderful, the

          4  benevolence of Easton with the bats. That's great.

          5  You guys have a confy relationship. You like the

          6  status quo. And without embarrassing you, Mr.

          7  Keener, from these documents, you personally have a

          8  very comfortable status quo from Little League

          9  Baseball.

         10                 I wouldn't rock the boat if I were

         11  you either. So, when you come here and you say that

         12  there aren't injuries, or you repeat that 76

         13  percent, I have a great deal of skepticism because I

         14  see the money throughout this process.

         15                 No one is saying that you're

         16  pocketing money illegally or anything like that. But

         17  the organization benefits from the relationship with

         18  the gentleman to my right.

         19                 MR. KEENER: We do.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Exactly. And

         21  that was my point.

         22                 MR. KEENER: To a very small extent.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay.

         24                 MR. KEENER: And you're trying to make

         25  this --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: No, no, no. What

          3  I'm trying to do, frankly, you told me to go to the

          4  990 form. I went to it. You know what? It was

          5  incomplete for a few years. So, now I'm asking you

          6  to make all of that information available to the

          7  Chairman.

          8                 MR. KEENER: Our 990 is reviewed by

          9  the United States Congress of which we're chartered.

         10  Federal Congress of the United States. We send a

         11  complete report to them.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Right. Because

         13  the IRS.

         14                 MR. KEENER: It does.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I know that.

         16                 MR. KEENER: Our finances are

         17  inspected more than yours.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: More than my

         19  what? My meaning?

         20                 MR. KEENER: The City.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The City of New

         22  York?

         23                 MR. KEENER: I'm just saying --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Stupid comment.

         25  Stupid comment.

                                                            281

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2                 MR. KEENER: I'm not going to argue.

          3  Every time you say it's a stupid comment, I'm saying

          4  we are under a microscope of scrutiny. And I

          5  understand that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You told me to

          7  go to the 990 form. I went to the 990. It's

          8  incomplete. Make all of the information available to

          9  the Chairman or don't. That's your choice.

         10                 MR. KEENER: The 990 form is there. In

         11  2002 when we had the hearing and I suggested you go

         12  to the 990 form, the relationship we had with ESPN

         13  and television perhaps did not rise to the level of

         14  where it was required to be filed on the 990 form.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You've got

         16  Statement 18 and all the information that's supposed

         17  to be in the 990 form. That's all I'm asking for.

         18                 MR. KEENER: I would comply with any

         19  aspect of the law that we are required to comply

         20  with. If there is something missing, I can't explain

         21  it.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Fair enough.

         23                 MR. KEENER: And I will tell you, you

         24  mention about our coziness with the manufacturers,

         25  when you said you were asking the comment of Mr.
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          2  Ettinger and you didn't want me to answer, what I

          3  wanted to tell you is that the manufacturers raise

          4  some objection. Little League Baseball, as well as

          5  some of the other organizations are going to the

          6  BESR standard in our teenage programs effective next

          7  year. Some didn't think that was necessary. We do,

          8  even though the injury data didn't suggest that it

          9  did.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: One last

         11  question. You know, you point to statistics

         12  decreasing, the information defines injuries as

         13  where a payment is made. Does this refer to medical

         14  payment, to a health care provider or compensation

         15  to a parent or guardian on behalf of an injured

         16  child in a tort or negligence claim? If the latter,

         17  aren't those statistics at least in part reflective

         18  of tort reform throughout the US, and the

         19  sophistication of the waivers that parents must sign

         20  upon enrolling their children in the league, not an

         21  actual decrease in injury.

         22                 MR. KEENER: It's a long question.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Do you want me

         24  to --

         25                 MR. KEENER: No, I believe I
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          2  understand it. The question is the injury data that

          3  we're referring to is reflective of claims payments,

          4  not as a result of litigation. They're claims paid

          5  probably to a health care provider or a

          6  reimbursement to a parent for eligible expenses.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Okay, I think

          8  we've battered you guys enough. Thank you for

          9  coming.

         10                 We have one final panel. And

         11  certainly, as I always do to the last panel, I

         12  apologize for the late hour and I thank you, for

         13  those of you who remained.

         14                 Nick Defendis from Richmond County

         15  Baseball Club, Joseph Calabrese, our local coach.

         16  Jim Sovel from Metalwood Bats. Jimmy Tribble from

         17  Metalwood Bats, and Frank Amato from Youth Baseball.

         18                 You guys can assemble up there and

         19  Mr. Calabrese would start.

         20                 MR. CALABRESE: I didn't really know

         21  what to expect coming down here tonight, this

         22  morning I should say. I went in Jimmy's office,

         23  grabbed a pen and just wrote some notes down on what

         24  I've been hearing what's been going on here all

         25  afternoon.
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          2                 For the record, I want to say that I

          3  didn't get paid for many companies to come here,

          4  paying my own parking and my own tolls. I've been

          5  coaching for the past 20 years. I've coached four

          6  years of high school, baseball from '86 to '90. I've

          7  coached in little league for the last 14 years, 13

          8  years. I coached the Men's Baseball Team over the

          9  last 17 years. My father was involved in little

         10  league baseball for 32 years, and a lot of what I

         11  hear what's going on here, and all the scientists

         12  and the engineers coming in and the reality is that

         13  there is a danger with aluminum bats.

         14                 My son this year, he had the

         15  opportunity to play in the Little League World

         16  Series. It was the greatest experience I've ever

         17  had. As a grown man, I can't tell you, that was my

         18  greatest summer ever, watching my son play.

         19                 For them to come up in little league

         20  baseball and say there's no dangers involved and

         21  they have nothing to do with this, Jimmy, you kind

         22  of hit it on the head, you were 1,000 percent right.

         23  They do have an involvement in this. They could talk

         24  about all their safety issues, regarding the helmets

         25  they have and limiting the pitch counts, the
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          2  breakaway bases, whatever they want to talk about.

          3  There is no financial losses for them there with

          4  those safety issues. I mean, anything that's not

          5  going to have a bearing on their finances, they have

          6  no problem doing, which they're doing the right

          7  thing. And I love little league baseball. To me, it

          8  is the greatest tournament in the world, and for

          9  them to say that, again, that there's no involvement

         10  with the bat companies, they got that contract from

         11  ESPN, I don't know too deep about this. I just got

         12  involved in this lately, and it's common sense

         13  dictates. I mean, ESPN, they got a contract with

         14  them, the commercials, sponsoring, all goes to ESPN.

         15  I mean common sense dictates and there is

         16  involvement there.

         17                 As far as the bats being more

         18  dangerous, I've been in little league for 13, 14

         19  years now, ten years ago, there would be maybe ten,

         20  12, 13 home runs hit. Last year we had over 16 home

         21  runs hit last year. Home runs going from ten years

         22  ago, 200 feet, 210, 220, balls are hitting now 270,

         23  280. I can't even tell you how far baseballs are

         24  hit. And for them to say that there is no difference

         25  between wood and aluminum, it makes no sense to me.
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          2  I mean, I'm doing this, coaching a long time, and

          3  I'm out there. You can get scientists, you can get

          4  engineers. I throw batting practice to my son, he's

          5  12 years old. I will not throw to him without a cage

          6  in front of me. And I've been around when people

          7  have been hit, and claims have not been made.

          8                 I have a friend of mine, took a one

          9  hop line drive off an aluminum bat right in his

         10  face. Lost four teeth, 32 stitches. I'm sure that

         11  wasn't in their tallies of all the reports that they

         12  had.

         13                 Earlier, the man from the Board of

         14  Ed, Marty, he said some things about losing, the

         15  lack of interest in a sport. As far as batter and

         16  the Men's League I belong to, we went to wood about

         17  five years ago, and from the time we left aluminum

         18  bats to wood now, the number of teams have

         19  increased. The game is a much more beautiful game

         20  played with wood. You don't have scores 13, 12. It's

         21  a real game, games are 3, 2; 4, 3. You got to learn

         22  the fundamentals of the name better, you've got to

         23  complump (phonetic) more. You've got to play better

         24  defense. You've got to, fundamentals you swing, the

         25  mechanics you swing have to be that much better to
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          2  become a better player, as my brother-in-law Frankie

          3  spoke about earlier.

          4                 I just feel that aluminum bats are a

          5  danger. I mean, I'm here today because my passion is

          6  my sports. My passion is kids. And all the kids that

          7  I coach. And I love doing what I do. I coach little

          8  league baseball, I coach two football teams, I'm

          9  going on right now. You know, when I hear things

         10  like the tragedy the Patch's suffered, and the Baggs

         11  and all these families where children have been

         12  hurt, it bothers me. And it's hard to swallow.

         13                 And there's another point that nobody

         14  really has discussed today. As far as the Patch's,

         15  they lost their son. There is nothing more horrible

         16  I could ever think of than losing a child. But on

         17  the other side, the kid that hit that ball, how is

         18  he doing today? How is that kid getting up everyday

         19  knowing he had a line drive with some other child's

         20  head, and that kid is no longer with us now. I mean,

         21  I'm sure he's got repercussions and suffering as far

         22  as he goes also.

         23                 Again, you know, I'm here because I

         24  feel it is a danger and I want to support this bill,

         25  and that's all I really have to say at this time.
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          2                 MR. DEFENDIS: How you doing? Nick

          3  Defendis, Richmond County Baseball Club. We're a new

          4  organization in Staten Island and we pretty much

          5  cater to the age right now from 18 years old down.

          6  We primarily try and focus on helping high school

          7  players get college scholarships. We travel all over

          8  the country, and I think we're doing a pretty good

          9  job.

         10                 Some of the coaches that were up here

         11  earlier from the universities, I recognize them.

         12  We're in constant contact with them, because they're

         13  always trying to recruit our players.

         14                 I, too, came here today, paid my own

         15  toll and paid for my own gas and I have a friend

         16  sitting in the back, who I promised him that we

         17  would be out of here by 2:00, George Quinn, very

         18  involved over at South Shore Babe Ruth, South Shore

         19  Little League, and found that sitting here all day,

         20  very, very interesting. Very interesting testimony.

         21  To me, I think this is a black and white issue. I

         22  give instruction and have been given instruction to

         23  kids from the ages of nine years old, right up to

         24  college players and some players that play minor

         25  league baseball.
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          2                 If some of these people who were up

          3  here earlier got out of their offices, you know,

          4  stepped away from the pencil, pushed the desk away,

          5  and came to a batting cage, just watched me hit a

          6  ball, give me a wooden bat, give me a metal bat,

          7  you'd see the difference, and I'm 50 years old. I

          8  watch it all day long. I see it. I see a kid go in

          9  the cage, who is possibly, you know, 15, 16 years

         10  old, and he'll hit a ball with a metal bat and when

         11  it hits the back portion of the net, you say my God,

         12  the time that it takes to get from point A to point

         13  B, there is no reaction time.

         14                 And then you take a wooden bat,

         15  because these kids do want to use wood, like most

         16  people testified here today, that using a wooden

         17  bat, you're going to be able to shorten your swing.

         18  You want to be short to the ball. You want to be

         19  short to the ball with a long finish, like one of

         20  the other gentleman from I believe Arizona was

         21  trying to make an analogy.

         22                 The bottom line is, is that a metal

         23  bat, with all the data and all the studies that

         24  everyone is doing, there is no question in my mind,

         25  from my experience from playing this game from the
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          2  age of six years old, I stopped playing

          3  competitively at the age of 30, went on to play ASA

          4  Softball, traveled all over the United States,

          5  played with the CBS All Stars, and a very, very

          6  great team on Staten Island called "The Sylvestries

          7  Club," okay? And at that time titanium bats were

          8  introduced. The third baseman, while we were playing

          9  ASA Sanction Softball with a Dudley Baseball, when

         10  you hit the ball with a titanium bat, you heard it

         11  from a block away. It sounded like a tuning fork.

         12  The third baseman literally was on the grass edge of

         13  the outfield, because he wouldn't play in. He would

         14  get killed. Now that was back then they banned

         15  titanium. I guess with all the different studies and

         16  showing the propelling of the trampoline effect,

         17  they banned it. So, you never heard from the

         18  titanium. And I haven't been in the softball world

         19  for maybe ten years now, I've been concentrating on

         20  baseball, but we promote, and I just want to say

         21  that I am in favor of the ban totally, totally in

         22  favor of the ban of the use of a metal bat.

         23                 We are now in construction of

         24  building a complex in Staten Island, which we're

         25  revitalizing, and no metal bats are going to be used
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          2  there. We are going to strictly ban the use of a

          3  metal bat in that complex.

          4                 We are going to promote the use of

          5  men's leagues, no matter what. We are going to

          6  promote the use of high school baseball there,

          7  playing a championships game there, and also having

          8  whatever high schools don't have a home field, we'll

          9  let them use our field. But obviously, with high

         10  school, although we will -- that's what we're there

         11  for, we're there to serve the community, they have

         12  to use a metal bat there.

         13                 So, that's going to be a conflict

         14  that I'm going to have to deal with, as to whether

         15  or not we can have our high school teams play on the

         16  beautiful field that we just finished construction

         17  of.

         18                 I have a son who played two years in

         19  the Chicago Cub organization. So, I've seen him play

         20  from the age of six-years-old, all the way through

         21  to the Cape Cod League, through the Atlantic

         22  Collegiate Baseball League, through the Northeast,

         23  the Northeast -- it's a league up in Connecticut,

         24  it's eluding my memory right now, but when my son

         25  was like Joe's son playing in the little league, I
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          2  saw in my son that he was going to be somewhat of a

          3  baseball player. He hit a ball off of a metal bat

          4  and struck a kid in the knee in an 11 nothing ball

          5  game. The kid that came in to pitch was "mopping up"

          6  the game, if you know the terminology of baseball,

          7  he was mopping up the game. He threw one pitch to my

          8  son, my kid hit a line drive back at the kneecap,

          9  smashed his kneecap, 45 minutes we had to wait for

         10  the ambulance. The game was cancelled because it was

         11  out of control at that point. My son couldn't play

         12  ball for about two weeks. That's how bad he felt

         13  that he hit that kid. And the kid had no reason to

         14  be out there. He wasn't good enough to be out there.

         15  He was playing above his head.

         16                 Now, you want to make that a coach's

         17  decision, but that's the problem with using a metal

         18  bat. You have a kid out there who is training day-in

         19  and day-out, strictly training, because his focus is

         20  to become a professional ball player. And then you

         21  have kids in the same realm playing and they're

         22  never going to become a professional ball player,

         23  they like to go to the mall, they like to hang out

         24  on the computer, but once a week they want to go and

         25  play with their friends. So, they step on a mound,
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          2  and they're going to throw a ball to a kid who is

          3  much more advanced than them without protection.

          4                 Someone else made a comment from

          5  Easton. I believe they said they made a study. I'm

          6  sorry, I grabbed a pen from the police officer back

          7  there, and I grabbed a piece of paper, because these

          8  thoughts were running through my head. They made a

          9  study and they compared the metal bat to the

         10  professional wood. Now, the metal bat is not

         11  changing. They make one type of metal bat that

         12  gives, use that trampoline effect. But there is a

         13  lot of different types of wood that you can use, and

         14  the wood that the kids use today is dried out wood

         15  that's in the back of a warehouse, it's not used for

         16  seven years, and when they go to make the bat,

         17  that's the reason why the bat breaks. They're making

         18  a comparison of a wooden bat that's rich wood,

         19  compared to a metal bat that they're doing the study

         20  with.

         21                 Why don't they do the same comparison

         22  with that dried out piece of wood, and then they'll

         23  see the difference that our kids are hitting with. A

         24  wooden bat dried out is not going to propel a

         25  baseball off of the bat as fast as a fresh piece of
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          2  maple or ash or whatever you want to call it. So, I

          3  just found that, I found that to be interesting.

          4                 And just one more comment, because I

          5  know it's late. We played three games at our complex

          6  over the weekend, and I encourage a lot of people to

          7  come and see what we're doing down there and to get

          8  involved. But the point I'm going to make right here

          9  is real simple. We played three games with wood. It

         10  was a 3, 2 ball game, it was a 4, 2 ball game, and

         11  it was a 5, 4 ball game. I won two of those three

         12  games with a squeeze bunt. That's how you play

         13  baseball. You don't sit back and launch the ball

         14  every single time. You teach the kids how to play

         15  the game. If you teach everyone, if we spent the

         16  kind of money in the technology of all of these here

         17  bats, as opposed to guys like me, I'm retired, I'm

         18  here today, I lost a day's pay, I work part-time. My

         19  boss is ringing me like crazy on the phone, but I

         20  told him, you gotta just leave me alone now because

         21  I'm here, it's 4:00, I can't leave.

         22                 But the bottom line is that if they

         23  put that money into the same research on qualifying

         24  coaches on how to teach the kids to play the game of

         25  baseball better, it would be fun. Bottom line.
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          2                 MR. CALABRESE: I got one more thing I

          3  want to say to Jim.

          4                 You know, this year we had five

          5  ten-year-old kids in the league hit home runs. Five

          6  ten-year-olds. That was never the case ever. Five

          7  ten-year-old kids hit home runs in little league on

          8  our little league this year.

          9                 My son Robert, in an exhibition game

         10  earlier in the year, he's ten-years-old, he hit a

         11  line drive up the middle off the Umpire's knee. He

         12  was standing behind the home plate, the umpire. He's

         13  ten. What happens in two years from now? You know,

         14  my son Joey played this year. He had the good

         15  birthday. I left him down because to me little

         16  league is the best time of your life. And every time

         17  he got up, I had that gulp in my stomach that this

         18  may be the one that he hits a line drive up the

         19  middle and hits some kid and ruins that kid's life

         20  and his own. And my fear is two years from now my

         21  little guy is going to be in that same position, and

         22  I don't want to be part of a tragedy.

         23                 What does it take? You know, how much

         24  money is it going to cost? It's going to take one

         25  time it's going to happen where there's going to be
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          2  a depth, and it's going to be on national, maybe it

          3  will be in a Little League World Series game. It

          4  always has to wait for something tragically happens

          5  before a move is made.  And you're on the right path

          6  here trying to get it done before something

          7  tragically happens.

          8                 MR. DEFENDIS: And have your little

          9  guy playing down with us, so we'll be playing wood

         10  over there.

         11                 MR. AMATO: Yes, my name is Frank

         12  Amato. I'm from Staten Island. I'm here. I'm out of

         13  work for two hours on my own time. I think it's very

         14  important for me to be here.

         15                 I've played baseball since I'm nine

         16  years old on Staten Island. I went to high school,

         17  played baseball. I made it to Division 1 College

         18  Baseball, and there is a difference. I don't care

         19  what they say, science, numbers, math. The only math

         20  number that I look at is what the money they're

         21  putting in their pocket at the kids' expense.

         22                 There is no way that metal bats are

         23  safer than wood. I mean, this is a perfect time for

         24  me to be here. I just came back from my alumni game

         25  Saturday. I've played with players minor league
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          2  ball, major league ball, and we all got together,

          3  and I've played in the wood bat league, in the Men's

          4  League with Joe, four years now, wood bat. I know my

          5  own power. I don't need a scientist to tell me what

          6  my power is. Four years away from aluminum bats I

          7  went down Saturday, I was hitting bombs. I looked

          8  like Albert Bruhose. Players were looking at me

          9  like, what have you been doing? It's not me, it's

         10  the bat. It's 100 percent the bat. I think we owe it

         11  to the kids all over the country, even

         12  internationally, there should be no aluminum bats.

         13                 There were a few points that were

         14  made earlier. Also, the gentleman on the left of me

         15  testified on it. You're not using the same exact

         16  wood that the kids use. They're using wood bats that

         17  the professional baseball players us, yes, there is

         18  a difference. Use the bat that the kids will use and

         19  you'll see that it's much safer.

         20                 I don't want to take up too much

         21  time. Like I said, I played with minor league ball

         22  players. I saw actually one of them on Saturday. He

         23  ended his career. He had an operation on his arm.

         24  But before that, got hit in the head. Thirty

         25  stitches to his head.
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          2                 Before I even said anything that I

          3  was coming here, his first reaction was, if I was in

          4  college, I'd be dead right now. And that clearly

          5  made me want to come here to make my point, because

          6  if a minor league ball player is saying that, then a

          7  12-year-old kid and 11-year-old kid is probably

          8  saying much more than that. But as we all know,

          9  there is money involved, and the coaches have no

         10  choice but to put the kids out there. If you're not

         11  talented, the rule is you've got to get three

         12  innings of play. They gotta put you in. They can't

         13  sit you. If you're defenseless, you're going to get

         14  hit, and it's not the kids fault. It's just the

         15  adults that are going to all this point that we need

         16  to get there quickly.

         17                 I just want to read some things, some

         18  bullets that I put together, and this is directed to

         19  the bat manufacturers. And going back to what Jim

         20  said also, before I save these bullets, the NCAA

         21  does have a hand in the aluminum bats. Four years at

         22  IONA, every single day we got a magazine with bats.

         23  Best bats. We got bats in the mail for free. Use

         24  this bat, if you like it, purchase these. They were

         25  always sending advertisements, and it's all about

                                                            299

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  the money.

          3                 Basically I made some bullet points,

          4  it's basically metal bats are an issue of life and

          5  death.

          6                 On July 9th three years ago, a line

          7  drive rocketed off a metal bat and smashed into the

          8  temple of Brandon Patch, an 18-year-old American

          9  Legion pitcher in Montana. Within hours he was dead.

         10                 In April 2005, a line drive off a

         11  metal bat slammed into the temple of Bill Gallant, a

         12  16-year-old high school pitcher in Chicago. The ball

         13  traveled with laser-like speed, said the coach.

         14                 Gallant was rushed to the hospital

         15  where an emergency doctor told his parents he is on

         16  the cliff of death.

         17                 He made it through after being in a

         18  coma for two weeks and having brain surgery. He has

         19  had to learn how to brush his teeth again, how to

         20  tie his shoes and how to walk, and he was 16 years

         21  old.

         22                 At a Police Athletic League game in

         23  Wayne, New Jersey, a line drive with a metal bat

         24  struck the chest of Steven Domelski, 12 years old,

         25  knocking him down and stopping his heart for a few
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          2  minutes. He was revived on the field and taken to a

          3  hospital where he was put in a medical-induced coma,

          4  placed on a feeding tube and hooked to electrodes to

          5  stimulate his brain. He is still in a coma.

          6                 Anthony Ricci, a Staten Island

          7  resident who is 14 years old, teeth were knocked out

          8  by a line drive in 2001.

          9                 John Baggs, a 12-year-old Staten

         10  Island boy was smashed in the face by a line drive

         11  off an aluminum bat of a 13-year-old in all All Star

         12  Tournament, and as we know, John has a metal plate.

         13                 Corey Franklin, a coach, and

         14  intensive care doctor in Chicago has stated:

         15  "studies show that a metal bat, the exit speed is

         16  ten percent faster than wood."

         17                 When do we as parents, legislators,

         18  say enough is enough? I mean, it's time to make the

         19  change. I mean, baseball is America's past time.

         20  We're the only sport that we have to use aluminum

         21  bats, which is not used in the pros. Hockey, you

         22  don't use an aluminum puck. You use the real puck

         23  that they use. Football, you use a pig skin

         24  football. You don't use a metal football. Hockey,

         25  you use the same stick. The goalie doesn't use metal
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          2  gear. He uses the same gear. What are we waiting

          3  for? It's time to switch.

          4                 In going back to close, how they sit

          5  here and say it's all the science and math, it's all

          6  bottom line what's in your pocket and how much

          7  you're taking home at the end of the year.

          8                 MR. CALABRESE: Jimmy, I want to make

          9  one more point. We discussed my son Joey earlier, he

         10  was in the League World Series. He came home, he

         11  went there with two bats, he came home with 12, all

         12  right? Every company, Easton, I can't even go down

         13  the list, he came home with 12 bats and helmets, and

         14  it's great, they took care of kids great and

         15  everything like that, but, again, you know, it's all

         16  about the dollar.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: But Mr. Keener

         18  wanted to sit farther away from Mr. Ettinger and

         19  Dewey, because he found it unusual why he was at the

         20  same table.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Can we have our

         22  last two witnesses come up?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Guys, I just

         24  want to thank you for your testimony. I appreciate

         25  you at this late hour. If you'll allow these two
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          2  gentleman to sit at the -- or this one gentleman. I

          3  know you missed football practice and football game,

          4  and this is six hours ago in our opening statement

          5  we said that people who could best explain this

          6  issue were the practitioners, the people who coach

          7  and played, and that was you guys, and I thank you

          8  for that testimony.

          9                 Sir.

         10                 MR. TRIBBLE: My name is Jimmy

         11  Tribble. This is Jim Sovel, and we represent

         12  Metalwood Bats, a small company. Although we are a

         13  bat company, we are very much in favor of what

         14  you're doing. I'm not an engineer and I'm not a

         15  lawyer, so I hope I can add something to this, and I

         16  know it's late so I'll be quick.

         17                 First of all, Easton is a very good

         18  company. It's made a lot of great sports products.

         19  I'm a high school baseball coach, as well as a bat

         20  manufacturer, and, you know, I use a lot of the

         21  Easton equipment, the bags, the catcher's equipment,

         22  the gloves, they've got a lot of first class stuff,

         23  and I know they're taking some of a beating here

         24  today, but I think what we're all about here is wood

         25  versus aluminum, and I want to applaud the New York
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          2  City Council on what you're doing here, because it

          3  is the right thing to do. And we make the bat that

          4  kind of solves the problem. The reason we're here is

          5  simply to tell you, do not let cost be a factor in

          6  whether you go back to wood or do not.

          7                 Our product has an aluminum handle.

          8  We put aluminum in a baseball bat where it should

          9  be, where it's safe, and we have a wooden barrel.

         10  And they lock together, it's BESR certified. We've

         11  done all the testing on. I'm not here to say, I'm

         12  just saying we have high schools back home and in

         13  Texas, around the country, who use our products all

         14  spring. The high school will buy three bats, total

         15  of $200, $250 in their bats and go all season.

         16                 So, with that, I just wanted to come

         17  here and go on record that I've coached high school

         18  ball for about 15 years, we're going to State

         19  championship this year. Our school hits wood every

         20  day. If I had my druthers we'd all be wood.

         21                 But I think something we need to take

         22  consideration in when you're thinking about this, is

         23  not only is it about a safety issue, but when you

         24  play a wood baseball bat game that brings all your

         25  kids in to play. And I've heard several comments
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          2  here today about, oh, you know, it's tough, you may

          3  not get a hit. That's life. That's the way it is.

          4  What you got to do is go get a little better. And,

          5  you know, I always heard it's not supposed to be

          6  easy. And what a wood bat does is it teaches the

          7  kids the proper mechanics of hitting, I think called

          8  bat hit accuracy. And if you guys get a chance, you

          9  should probably bring Jim Lafever in here, the

         10  National Hitting Association, bring an expert in

         11  here that can tell you about why between the ages of

         12  five and ten bat hit accuracy has got to occur in a

         13  young child, because once he gets to 13, 14, 15,

         14  it's too late. It's going. An aluminum bat cannot

         15  teach that. Only a wood bat can teach that because

         16  of the sweet spot and been able to define that area

         17  and be able to bring your hands and eyes together to

         18  get that done.

         19                 I was an All American catcher, led

         20  the nation in hitting 1982, and been around some

         21  great hitting people and still hang around them. I

         22  listen and learn from them. But the reason America I

         23  feel right now is losing the game, is I watched the

         24  World Series the other night and I think McCartle

         25  (phonetic) started seven guys from another country
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          2  and Detroit had six or maybe seven. What happened to

          3  the Ruths and Demaggios and Gherigs and the guys

          4  growing up in the cities and using sticks to hit a

          5  ball with, and the problem is our kids in America

          6  are starting out at five years of age with an

          7  aluminum bat that's 12 to 13 ounces or lighter than

          8  its length, and let's give credit to the aluminum

          9  companies, not just Easton, but Wilson and Demarini

         10  and Mikey have all spent millions and millions of

         11  dollars and done a very sleek job of marketing to

         12  you moms and dads and us parents that little Johnny

         13  will never be able to hit if he doesn't have a bat

         14  that's 15 ounces lighter than its length, or it

         15  doesn't have this tremendous sweet spot and this

         16  double wall. And I'm telling you these injuries, and

         17  I'm trying to hit some of these thoughts here, so

         18  please bear with me, so these injuries are not being

         19  reported, and they're also not being reported in

         20  girls' softball and little girls' fast pitch. That's

         21  even more lethal down there because they're another

         22  15 foot closer when they end up -- two of them, in

         23  West Virginia two girls got their faces caved in and

         24  were out the whole season because they're using

         25  these double-wall bats, aluminum bats.
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          2                 So, I'm not against Easton or

          3  Louisville or any company out there. Everybody has a

          4  right to make a living, they have great products.

          5  What I'm against is what we're doing to the game of

          6  baseball in this country. We've taken the little guy

          7  out of it. The guy that can bunt a runner over and

          8  win a ball game for you. The guy that could put the

          9  bat on the ball and hit behind somebody and move him

         10  from first to third. Why? In high school baseball,

         11  why bunt? Why steal? Why worry about it, when you

         12  got three guys who come up there with

         13  high-performance weapons and hit at 450 feet. You go

         14  to a wood bat game and watch what will happen to

         15  your city school districts. Your baseball games will

         16  become two hours long. Probably on the average an

         17  hour 45 minutes. Everybody will be involved in the

         18  outcome, and you will see your kids have more time

         19  to study. The games will be more exciting because it

         20  will take a play at the end of the game to win it.

         21  Somebody will have to hit a cut off and throw a guy

         22  at the plate, somebody will have to turn a double

         23  play, or somebody will have to bunt a guy over or

         24  squeeze him in. And it won't be over in the second

         25  inning, like a lot of high school baseball games are
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          2  in this country.

          3                 You go check the facts, and the

          4  research has proven this, most high school baseball

          5  games are over in the third and fourth inning,

          6  they're decided. But when you go back to wood, you

          7  bring the pitching back into it. You bring the kids

          8  out here, that even if they're not throwing real

          9  hard, but have good breaking stuff for all speed,

         10  they've got a chance to contribute. And we have

         11  de-emphasized pitching in this country.

         12                 I'm going to finish up by saying this

         13  from our company: Do not let expenses be a reason

         14  you do not go back to wood bats. There are other

         15  companies out here that make composites that are

         16  very good. We make a very durable product that's

         17  also reconditionable. We guarantee our bat for a

         18  year, but then if it breaks, you can send it back in

         19  and we can recondition it, put a new barrel in it

         20  and save you a lot of money. So, we do something

         21  nobody else does.

         22                 This trend has got to happen around

         23  this country, and, please, do not let any company or

         24  anybody come in and intimidate you and tell you what

         25  you can or cannot do and where you live.
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          2                 And I feel for Massachusetts, because

          3  that's what happened. And the next time a kid gets

          4  hit in the head with a line drive off an aluminum

          5  bat, and trust me, I hate to say this, it will

          6  happen. There will be massive lawsuits in that state

          7  because they went back to wood and it worked, and

          8  now they've opened the door up to do something

          9  stupid, get somebody else hurt. And I think that's

         10  pretty much it for me.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Thank you,

         12  gentlemen. Council Member Oddo needs to put some

         13  matters on the record, as well.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you. Thank

         15  you, gentlemen.

         16                 I just want to put on the record that

         17  there are some witnesses that are from across the

         18  country that couldn't make it. I just want to put on

         19  the record a statement, a position statement by the

         20  Nicholas Institute of Sports Medicine in Athletic

         21  Trauma, Steven J. Nicholas, MD, who appeared in the

         22  CBS Early Morning Show, who was quoted as saying

         23   "... Particularly in dealing with a high school or

         24  junior high school athlete, when they haven't

         25  developed quite a coordination of an 18, 19, 20 year
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          2  old, they don't have the time to get out of the way

          3  of the ball. Because of that we see facial injuries,

          4  head injuries, we've seen cardiac arrest from

          5  getting hit at the chest with a ball," explained Dr.

          6  Steven Nicholas, a sports medicine expert at Lenox

          7  Hill Hospital. He also attached testimony.

          8                 We have a letter I want to put on the

          9  record from Richard J. Yeuter (phonetic), from

         10  Wesley, Massachsetts. His son Billy was playing and

         11  was hit and is featured prominently in the HBO tape

         12  that we made part of the record.

         13                 I also want to put on the record the

         14  statement of Dr. Timothy E. Kremchek, MD (phonetic).

         15  Dr. Kremchek is the Cincinnati Reds Medical Director

         16  and Chief Orthopedic Surgeon, has done Tommy John's

         17  surgery, and a bunch of players. He has comments on

         18  the record in favor of the legislation.

         19                 And just also we want to put on the

         20  record an article from Collegiate Baseball from

         21  February of 1990 something or other, I'll get the

         22  accurate, comments of Jeff Hilde (phonetic), who at

         23  that time when Worth was on the outside looking in

         24  in the industry, warned about a super bat. He

         25  subsequently had an epiphany, and now supports metal
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          2  bats because his company now makes metal bats and is

          3  a player in the market.

          4                 And the last thing I want to submit

          5  on the record is from the League of Fans. It is off

          6  their website, www.Leagueoffans.org. Ralph Nader's

          7  group who it is a copy of a letter that Mr. Nader

          8  sent to various folks on the federal level which

          9  talks about this industry and his concerns. I would

         10  like that to be part of the record.

         11                 I will make copies of each of these

         12  and give it to the counsel, as well as the other

         13  documents that we made part of the record earlier.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FIDLER: Well, I guess the

         15  only fitting way to end a hearing like this is with

         16  Jimmy Oddo and Ralph Nader together.

         17                 Before we do conclude, I want to

         18  thank our Committee staff, Laura Popa, Jennifer

         19  Culp, Mike Benjamin, for an exhaustive job, and as

         20  well as Councilman Oddo and his staff, Steven Mattio

         21  and Christopher Dechico, and of course, Councilman

         22  Oddo, who has brought incredible energy and passion

         23  to this issue, in bringing this forward.

         24                 For those of you who aren't familiar

         25  with Council procedure, we must have two hearings
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          2  before we can vote on any piece of legislation. I

          3  think we've gone to great pains today in having this

          4  hearing, which has certainly exhausted the patience

          5  of everyone who was here at 10:00 a.m. to be fair

          6  and to present both sides of this question.

          7                 I know that I'm as convinced now as I

          8  was when we started, that this is legislation that

          9  we have to pass, not because we love baseball, which

         10  we do, but because we love our kids.

         11                 And that if there is any doubt in the

         12  mind of anybody who has been here, that these bats

         13  provide an unnecessary danger during the course of a

         14  baseball game, that doubt should be decided in favor

         15  of the safety of our children.

         16                 Someone said the issue is black and

         17  white. I'm afraid that for some people, the issue is

         18  green. And it can't be, when it comes to our kids,

         19  that just can't be.

         20                 So, I want to say that as Chairman of

         21  this Committee, it is my expectation and my hope

         22  that we will come back to a second hearing on this

         23  bill shortly and that we will have a vote on it and

         24  it will pass this Committee and pass this Council in

         25  time to be for all of the City of New York before
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          2  the next baseball season. Because if you do not do

          3  that, and we have our own Brandon Patch next year,

          4  it will be on us, and it will be a shame on all of

          5  us and a shame on this City.

          6                 With that, I conclude this hearing,

          7  and we are adjourned.

          8                 (Hearing concluded at 3:58 p.m.)
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